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About the illustration concept  
of this Annual Report

The culture of the mobilezone Group is shaped by the diversity of 
our employees. We would like to make this visible in this Annual 
Report. Consequently, we have looked for people within the com-
pany who represent this diversity. Within the 2021 Annual Report, 
we illustrate two people per location, one who has been in the com-
pany longer and another who has not worked for the company as 
long. We learn from them why they work for mobilezone and what 
mobilezone means to them.

In this picture, you see Christoph Achterholt, Meina Batke, Fabian 
Goldhausen and Tim Klütz (from left to right) from powwow and 
mobilezone handel in Germany. 
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Record result in 2021 – strong EBIT growth  
and increase in margins

REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

mobilezone closed the reporting year of 2021 with record results. This was achieved both in Germany and Switzerland. Sales amounted 
to CHF 982 million; 67 percent of this was achieved in Germany and 33 percent in Switzerland. CHF 374 million (previous year: CHF 308 
million) or 38.1 percent of sales were achieved "online" with its own platforms. Organic growth amounted to 7.3 percent. The good result 
with an operational EBIT of CHF 72.7 million and an EBIT margin of 7.4 percent is confirmation of the consistently pursued strategic course 
and the agile organisation. Restructuring of the German companies was completed in the first half of the year. The positive synergy effects 
of more than EUR 5 million per year are working as planned.

Financial guidance exceeded

The operating profit (EBIT) amounts to CHF 72.7 million (2020: CHF 44.0 million / 2019: CHF 59.6 million) and is thus 22.0 percent higher 
than in the pre-pandemic year 2019, which at that time was equivalent to the best result in the company's history. The EBIT guidance of CHF 
67 to 72 million, which was increased by CHF 6 million in August 2021, and the sales expectation of CHF 950 million with an EBIT margin 
of around 7 percent communicated in the previous year were exceeded.

The EBIT including the non-cash special effect of CHF 6 million from the sale of the wholesale business in Germany in January 2021 
amounts to CHF 66.7 million.

Key figures at a glance

The following key figures exclude the non-cash negative special effect of CHF 6 million from the sale of the wholesale business in  
January 2021.

   Organic sales growth of plus 7.3 percent from CHF 916 to CHF 
982 million. The currency effect amounts to minus 0.1 percent. In 
2020, the wholesale business sold in January 2021 contri buted 
CHF 303 million, and mobiletouch austria gmbH, which was 
sold in December 2020, contributed CHF 18.7 million to the pre-
vious year's revenue of CHF 1,238 million.

   Operating profit (EBIT) of CHF 72.7 million (previous year: CHF 
44.0 million) with an EBIT margin of 7.4 percent (previous year: 
3.6 percent), with Switzerland and Germany each contributing 
50 percent.

   Financial expenses decreased by CHF 0.2 million to CHF 3.0 
million (previous year: CHF 3.2 million).

   Tax expenses were CHF 13.8 million, an increase of CHF 7.3 
million compared to the previous year.

   Net profit was CHF 56.7 million (previous year: CHF 34.5 million) 
and thus significantly above the record year 2019 with CHF 44.4 
million.

   Free cash flow was CHF 67.6 million (previous year: CHF 46.5 
million).

   Earnings per share amounted to CHF 1.27 (previous year: CHF 
0.77).

   As of 31 December 2021, the share price was CHF 13.62 compa-
red to CHF 10.08 at the end of December 2020.

   Financial liabilities totalled CHF 134 million compared to CHF 
183 million at the end of December 2020.

   At the end of the year, net current assets amounted to CHF 85 
million (previous year: CHF 114 million).

   The net debt amounted to CHF 76 million (previous year: CHF 
120 million).

   The ratio of net debt to EBITDA was 0.92 (previous year: 2.22). 

   Shareholders' equity in the individual financial statements of 
mobilezone holding ag amounted to CHF 175 million (previous 
year: CHF 177 million).

   The share buyback of 781,213 shares (1.7 percent of outstanding 
shares) was completed shortly after the end of the reporting pe-
riod on 3 February 2022 at an average price of 13.70 per share or 
a total of CHF 10.7 million.
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Olaf Swantee, Chairman of the Board of DirectorsMarkus Bernhard, CEO

Market area Switzerland

Business development in all sectors in Switzerland was highly gratifying. 

   The retail and B2B business achieved the best results at the EBIT 
level in the company's history.

   Sales in Switzerland grew from CHF 307 million to CHF 323 
million, an increase of 4.9 percent. The sales of CHF 18.7 million 
generated in Austria in the previous year were eliminated.

   The EBIT increased by CHF 31.2 million to CHF 36.3 million cor-
responding to sales profitability of 11.2 percent (previous year: 
10.2 percent).

   The number of shops was 124 (previous year: 123).

   The number of negotiated contracts (postpaid, internet and TV) 
increased by 4.7 percent to 398,000 (previous year: 380,000). 

   Service sales (fleet management, data transfer, setting up smart-
phones and other services) were CHF 7.2 million (previous year: 
CHF 6.6 million).

   Accessories sales increased by 11.1 percent to CHF 23.9 million 
(previous year CHF 21.5 million) and account for 7.4 percent of 
sales in Switzerland.

   Sales at the MVNO TalkTalk amounted to CHF 17.1 million (pre-
vious year: CHF 15.9 million). The sales share of mobile custo-
mers increased to 79 percent (previous year: 75 percent). In the 
postpaid SIM cards segment, the number of customers grew to 
45,700 (previous year: 31,300) or 46 percent.

   The Board of Directors will propose to the General Meeting on 
6 April 2022 the distribution of a dividend increased by 50 per-
cent to CHF 0.84 (previous year: CHF 0.56) per share or a total 
of CHF 37.6 million.

   The EBIT expectation for fiscal year 2022 is CHF 70 to 80 million.
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REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

Market area Germany

German business was extremely positive despite the coronavirus-related lockdown. Restructuring in the German companies has been 
completed. The synergies are taking effect on both the sales and the cost side.

   Sales grew from CHF 613 million to CHF 659 million, an incre-
ase of 7.5 percent. The CHF 303 million revenue share of the 
wholesale business sold in January 2021 was eliminated in the 
previous year.

   The EBIT increased from CHF 11.9 million to CHF 36.2 million, 
which corresponds to sales profitability of 5.5 percent. The pre-
vious year includes restructuring costs of CHF 4.8 million.

   Volume in the online business increased by 5.8 percent to 
600,000 (previous year: 567,000) mobile phone contracts. Of 
these, 522,000 (previous year: 492,000) — or an unchanged 87 
percent — were handled via our own platforms.

   The focus in online business to an increased extent is on mobile 
phone contracts with higher margins. This resulted in an overall 
increase in the contribution margin and per contract by more 
than 14 percent in 2021.

   In "B2B trade", 419,000 (previous year: 452,000) mobile phone 
contracts were concluded; this corresponds to a decline of 7.3 
percent.

   In total, an unchanged 1,019,000 mobile phone contracts were 
concluded "online" and in "B2B trade".

   Sales at the MVNO High were CHF 17 million (previous year: 
CHF 13 million) The customer base was 69,000 (previous year: 
54,000), representing an increase of 28 percent. 

In November 2020, mobilezone launched a new e-commerce platform called Pricezilla that uses the new Shoptech architecture to market 
smartphones, tablets and accessories without a subscription. The focus in the first year was, among other things, on building customer 
trust — with a rating of 4.9 out of 5 on the customer rating platform, Trust Pilot and Trusted Shops (4.8 out of 5) got off to a very good start. 
With still limited functionalities on pricezilla.de, 38,400 orders with sales of CHF 16.3 million were achieved in the second half of the year 
despite delivery bottlenecks.

Second Life and refurbishing of smartphones continues to grow

As part of the ESG measures, the Second Life area — that is the repair and refurbishing of smartphones — is becoming increasingly impor-
tant in mobilezone's business, especially in Switzerland. Accordingly, measures were intensified last year to increase sales of used smart-
phones and grow in the area of returns. In the reporting year 2021, 1.5 percent of the total smartphones sold by mobilezone Switzerland 
were used smartphones (previous year: 0.4 percent). The aim is to increase this figure to close to 2 percent in 2022. Likewise, mobilezone 
was able to take back 6.4 percent of its total smartphones sold (previous year: 3.6 percent).

Change in the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors proposes Dr Lea Sonderegger, Chief Digital Officer / Chief Information Officer and member of the Executive 
Board of Swarovski, a proven expert in e-commerce, for election to the Board of Directors at the General Meeting on 6 April 2022  
(https://www.mobilezoneholding.ch/en/about-us/organization/board-of-directors.html).

Changes in Group Management 

Jens Barth, Chief Digital Officer (CDO), will leave Group Management as of 30 April 2022, as already communicated.
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Rotkreuz, 7 March 2022

Olaf Swantee  
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Markus Bernhard  
Chief Executive Officer

General Meeting of 6 April 2022

The General Meeting 2022 will once again take place without the physical presence of the shareholders. Based on the ordinance issued by 
the Swiss Federal Council on measures to combat the coronavirus, they may only cast their votes via an independent proxy.

The Board of Directors will propose a dividend of CHF 0.84 per registered share to the General Meeting. Half of the distribution will  
come out of available earnings, and half will come out of reserves from capital contributions, which corresponds to a distribution ratio 
of 74 percent. If this proposal is approved, the dividend will be paid out on 19 April 2022. The share will be traded ex-dividend from  
13 April 2022.

Confident outlook 2022

The very good financial year 2021 confirmed the mobilezone Group's resilient business model. There is a great demand for telecommu-
nications products among the public. The times when personal contacts were limited have confirmed this. mobilezone is correspondingly 
confident for the coming years looking ahead for all business segments in Germany and Switzerland. Expected EBIT for the financial year 
2022 is CHF 70 to 80 million, Furthermore, we aspire to achieve a further steady increase in the EBIT margin of currently 7.4 percent. We 
expect growth above all from our online and MVNO businesses. We expect an increase in investments of CHF 1 million to CHF 15 million. 
The investments are connected to the conclusion of the modernisation and renovation of all shops in Switzerland by the end of 2022, 
investments in our online platforms in Germany and Switzerland and customer acquisition costs of both MVNO TalkTalk and High. The 
Group is in a very good position today and is confidently looking forward to further positive development.

Thanks go to our employees and shareholders

Special thanks are due to our over 1,000 employees, who outdid themselves in the last two years with their enormous agility and great 
devotion in the pandemic situation. We are very satisfied with the results and proud of the team spirit that was clearly visible and palpable 
in this very difficult time. And, last but not least, we want to thank you, our valued shareholders. With your support and confidence, you 
have made it possible for us to advance the development of mobilezone.
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¹  In percent of net sales
²  In percent of total assets
³  Shareholders' equity and total assets without offsetting of goodwill / with amortisation (refer to page 94, Note 22)
⁴  A non-cash special effect of CHF 6 million resulted in the reporting period due to the sale of 75 percent of the shares in einsAmobile GmbH.
⁵ EBIT of the last 12 months adjusted for special effects / (Ø shareholders' equity + Ø financial liabilities – Ø cash and cash equivalents – Ø real estate)

Key figures

Group

(CHF 000 or as indicated) 2021 % 2020 % 2019 % 2018 % 2017 %

Net sales 981 537 1 237 662 1 324 022 1 195 599 1 171 578

Gross profit 199 657 20.3¹ 177 336 14.3¹ 180 073 13.6¹ 156 838 13.1¹ 149 826 12.8¹

Operating profit before depreciation 
(EBITDA) 76 325 7.8¹ 53 776 4.3¹ 67 812 5.1¹ 58 296 4.9¹ 55 954 4.8¹

Operating profit (EBIT) 66 675 6.8¹ 43 958 3.6¹ 59 648 4.5¹ 52 535 4.4¹ 50 123 4.3¹

Net profit 50 663 5.2¹ 34 514 2.8¹ 44 405 3.4¹ 39 531 3.3¹ 35 226 3.0¹

Operating profit (EBIT) adjusted for
special effect⁴ 72 691 7.4¹

Net profit adjusted for
special effect⁴ 56 679 5.8¹

Earnings per share adjusted 
for special effect⁴ 1.27 0.77 1.04 1.02 1.10

Net cash flow from operating activities 81 564 59 750 52 778 5 385 45 911

Investments in property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets 13 938 13 298 10 036 10 420 10 947

Free cash flow before acquisitions/ 
divestments 67 626 46 452 42 742 –5 035 34 964

Total assets 326 800 353 789 390 541 367 070 302 640

Shareholders' equity 44 342 13.6² 23 182 6.6² 15 051 3.9² 34 382 9.4² 8 977 3.0²

Shareholders' equity without offsetting  
of goodwill  95 484 25.3³ 102 286 23.6³ 132 530 26.1³ 111 192 25.1³ 46 776 13.7³

ROCE (%)⁴,⁵ 57.7 31.7 47.6 55.4 70.6

Net debt 75 892 119 578 130 876 76 161 70 200

Net-debt-to-EBITDA ratio 0.99 2.22 1.93 1.31 1.25

Net-debt-to-EBITDA ratio adjusted
for special effect ⁴ 0.92

Number of staff on 31.12.  
(on full-time basis) 1 018 1 127 1 217 930 867

Number of staff (full-time positions) 
during the reported period 1 038 1 249 1 245 942 898

Number of shops as of 31 December  
in Switzerland 124 123 117 119 124

KEY FIGURES
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  Swiss GAAP FER

  Pro forma without divested business wholesale DE

¹  Adjusted for a non-cash special effect of CHF 6 million due to the sale of 75 percent 
of the shares in einsAmobile GmbH.
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SHARE

¹  50 percent distribution free of withholding tax from reserves from capital contribution and  
50 percent dividend as proposed by the Board of Directors to the General Meeting on 6 April 2022.

Share

Share

(CHF or as indicated) 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Shares issued at year end (number)  44 781 213  44 781 213  44 781 213  40 781 213  32 195 697 

Treasury shares at year end (number)  583 442  70 000  63 624  100 000  60 000 

thereof own shares from
share buyback program  444 570 

Weighted average number
of shares outstanding (number)  44 639 429  44 709 172  42 792 890  38 664 992  32 163 959 

Year-end price 13.62 10.08 10.86 10.94 12.85

Stock market capitalisation and shareholders' equity

(CHF million or as indicated) 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Stock market capitalisation 609.9 451.4 486.3 446.1 413.7

Shareholders' equity 44.3 23.2 15.1 34.4 9.0

Shareholders' equity without offsetting of 
goodwill 95.5 102.3 132.5 111.2 46.8

Equity per share without offsetting of goodwill 2.13 2.28 2.96 2.73 1.45

Distribution to shareholders and share buyback

(CHF million or as indicated) 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Dividend per share in CHF 0.84¹ 0.56 0.60 0.60 0.60

Dividend – payout 37.6 25.1 26.9 24.4 24.4

Dividend payout ratio 74.2% 72.7% 60.6 % 61.7 % 69.2%

Share buyback 5.8

Total payout 43.4 25.1 26.9 24.4 24.4
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Share development
2021 (in CHF)

14.00

13.00

12.00

11.00

10.00

9.00

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Share development
in CHF or as indicated

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Highest price 13.90 11.64 11.94 12.48 15.95

Lowest price 9.14 7.21 8.78 9.51 11.45

Year-end price 13.62 10.08 10.86 10.94 12.85

Average price  
(end-of-day rate) 11.57 9.14 10.09 11.18 13.21

Average dividend yield¹ 7.3 % 6.1 % 5.9 % 5.4 % 4.5 %

Price-earnings ratio –  
P/E ratio² 10.73 13.06 10.47 10.70 11.73 

Average daily trading  
volume (units) 88 885 132 955 126 382 140 152 263 560 

Registered shareholders
Geographical location 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Switzerland 5 243 5 781 5 388 4 585 3 841

Europe 103 112 111 97 130

Overseas 33 34 31 19 24

Total shareholders 5 379 5 927 5 530 4 701 3 995

Shareholder structure
Number of shares

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Top 20  
shareholders 14 576 364 15 110 408 15 583 535 12 810 225 9 972 419

in % 33 % 34 % 35 % 31 % 31 %

Other registered  
shareholders 16 280 941 17 804 485 16 635 574 15 009 163 10 898 327

in % 36 % 40 % 37 % 37 % 34 %

Total number of 
non-registered 
shares

13 923 208 11 866 320 12 562 104 12 961 825 11 324 951

in % 31 % 26 % 28 % 32 % 35 %

Total shares 
issued 44 781 213 44 781 213 44 781 213 40 781 213 32 195 697

in % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %

 mobilezone share         SPI indexed

2003 2012 2021

Share development
2003 – 2021 (in CHF)
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¹  Dividend in relation to the annual average price (end-of-day prices)

²  Year-end price / earnings per share
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You have already drawn a very positive balance for the first 
half of 2021. How satisfied are you generally with fiscal year 
2021?

We are very satisfied with both the financial results and the strategic 
development of our business. In August, we raised our 2021 finan-
cial guidance for the operating result by CHF 6 million to a range 
of CHF 67 to 72 million. The fact that we were even able to close 
the 2021 fiscal year with an EBIT of almost CHF 73 million is very 
satisfying and we are proud of that.

What were the challenges in the 2021 fiscal year?

We had the opportunity to successfully "practice" dealing with the 
pandemic and the related measures, especially in the retail busi-
ness, in 2020. Nevertheless, we were challenged in this regard, 
especially at the beginning and in the final weeks of the 2021 fiscal 
year. In recent months, we were able to substantially strengthen lo-
cal management in Germany and Switzerland. This in turn enabled 
us to support the further development of our business in various 
areas, such as online and services.

The Covid-19 pandemic and the associated chip shortage have pre-
sented us with the challenge of supply bottlenecks for Apple and 
Samsung devices in particular. Nevertheless, we can say that we 
have coped very well with the challenges of the pandemic since 
March 2020. Our employees have always reacted very flexibly to 
new situations and have shown enormous commitment throughout 
the past fiscal year.

As you mentioned, the EBIT guidance was newly raised in  
August by 10 percent to a range of CHF 67 to 72 million. 
What is the forecast for the new 2022 fiscal year?

We are continuing to develop our business organically in the cur-
rent fiscal year. We are convinced that we can build on last year's 
performance in both Germany and Switzerland. The start into the 
new year has definitely been successful. We still have a special fo-
cus on increasing the EBIT margin; its development in recent years 
from 4 percent to 7.4 percent makes us confident. Our business 
model has more than proven itself during the pandemic. We are 
convinced that we can achieve an EBIT of CHF 70 to 80 million in 

  The fact that we have now even managed  
to complete the financial year 2021 with an EBIT  
of just under CHF 73 million leaves us proud  
and satisfied.

the current year. In addition, the share buyback is having a positive 
impact on earnings per share.

The pandemic has caused a massive acceleration of  
digitalisation in many areas (video calls, home office, etc.). 
How has this affected mobilezone in terms of customer  
business? What effects have been felt internally?

We already demonstrated in the previous year that we have a resili-
ent business model. In 2021, we were able to achieve record results 
in all business segments. In the online business, this is certainly no 
surprise in the current environment; we were able to more than 
compensate for the results in Swiss retail with better closing rates 
despite lower customer frequencies of 15 percent compared to 
2019. The B2B business in Germany and Switzerland also develo-
ped very well, so we are in an excellent position. The exchange with 
partners as well as internally via video calls is now commonplace 
and it is no longer possible to imagine working without it. The re-
sulting increase in efficiency is remarkable. Admittedly, the concept 
of home office is not relevant to our employees in sales in the shops 
and in parts of logistics. In various central functions, however, it has 
been tried and tested for two years now and has become normal.

What lessons do you draw from the pandemic after a good 
two years, on the one hand for mobilezone, but also for 
yourself personally?

mobilezone has adapted to the changed and partly new requirements 
of our customers and suppliers in a very short time. At the same time, 
we have mastered the financial and operational challenges well. On a 
personal level, virtual meetings have shaped my daily work. The grea-
tly reduced travel times have given me a little more personal free time.

You previously gave a positive assessment of the Swiss B2B 
business for the first half of the year. How has this developed 
overall in the 2021 fiscal year? And what can we expect here? 

We were able to carry the positive momentum of the first six months 
into the second half of the year. Our customised client platforms are 
used by a large proportion of our B2B clients and their employees. 
We were able to increase recurring revenue in the B2B service busi-
ness to CHF 4.5 million by the end of December 2021. "Device as 
a Service" for business customers will definitely have established 
itself in the current year.

In the meantime, you have been selling used and refurbished 
devices of the "jusit" brand for over a year. Can you tell us 
how you are doing?

Interview with Markus Bernhard  

INTERVIEWS

CEO of the mobilezone group
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We are successfully selling the used and refurbished smartphones 
in Switzerland. The demand for these sustainable products is hig-
her than we expected. The biggest challenge is buying back used 
devices from our end customers so that we can give enough smart-
phones a second life. First and foremost, we sell the smartphones 
— which have been checked and refurbished by our certified ser-
vice technicians — online at www.get-jusit.ch and in eleven selected 
mobilezone shops throughout Switzerland.

Where is jusit heading in 2022?

The topic of a circular economy is more relevant than ever and it 
has quickly become an increasingly important issue in society at 
large. We have combined our activities around the repair and re-

furbishing of smartphones with a focus on the "smartphone circular 
economy". We want to increase the share of "second life smart-
phones" to around 2 percent of the total number of smartphones 
sold at mobilezone in Switzerland.

mobilezone is a financially sound company that continues to 
impress, even in times of crisis. How do you manage that?

We have subjected our business model to robust development in 
recent years. Today, we generate more than 38 percent of our sa-
les with our online platforms. Our cash flows from Germany and  
Switzerland are balanced with the online, retail, B2B and MVNO fo-
cus. We are steadily expanding services and recurring revenue year 
on year. The ongoing investments in all our business segments are 
the basis for the increasing EBIT margins in recent years. Further-
more, with the sale of the wholesale business in Germany at the be-
ginning of 2021, we were able to complete our announced focusing.

We were able to reduce net debt/EBITDA from 2.22 at the begin-
ning of the year to 0.92 at the end of December. In April 2021, we 
were able to pay out a dividend of CHF 25.1 million to our share-
holders; the healthy financial situation prompted us to start a share 
buyback in November, which was completed on 3 February 2022 
with a volume of CHF 10.7 million.

Over the last few years, mobilezone has been able to improve its 
results very reliably and steadily. To achieve this, we need motiva-
ted employees and satisfied customers. Our regularly conducted 
customer and employee surveys give us very valuable feedback on 
this, which we take seriously and which motivates us to continue to 
improve.

Let's take a look into the future. What can we expect from 
the mobilezone Group in 2022?

In 2021, we strengthened our teams in Germany and Switzerland 
with targeted additions. We are convinced that we are ideally po-
sitioned to maintain or even improve upon our good results. The 
further organic growth of the contract business with the network 
providers, our MVNO business with TalkTalk and High, and our on-
line business, will all make an important contribution.

mobilezone's dividend policy was redefined in November. 
What were the reasons for this?

When we announced the share buyback in November 2021, we took 
the opportunity to clarify our dividend policy. mobilezone intends 
to distribute 60 to 75 percent of net profit to shareholders in the 
form of dividends in the future. In addition, mobilezone intends 
to return excess capital below a net-debt-to-EBITDA ratio of 1 to 

We are very satisfied both with the financial results as well as with the strategic 
further development: Markus Bernhard, CEO in conversation with Martina Högger, 
Senior Manager Corporate Communications about the course of business for the  
mobilezone Group.

  We're convinced we will reach an EBIT of  
CHF 70 to 80 million in the current year. 
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INTERVIEWS

shareholders via special dividends or share buybacks. This applies 
as long as no more-efficient uses are seen for the surplus capital. 
We previously carried out a share buyback of CHF 10.7 million from 
the end of 2021 until February 2022.

You have enjoyed very strong growth in Germany compared 
to the previous year. What can you attribute this to?

Restructuring of the German companies was completed in the first 
half of 2021. We are now in the best possible position, so the syn-
ergies are taking effect on both the sales and cost side. The result 
is an EBIT of CHF 36.2 million compared to CHF 11.9 million in the 
previous year.

The German B2B business under mobilezone handel  
was affected by the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic  
but recovered in the first half of 2021. What are your  
conclusions here?

Our retail business in Germany is very diverse, ranging from small 
owner-operated shop formats to large-scale retail chains. Accor-
dingly, regulation in Germany in 2021 was not only dependent on 
the federal state and incidence, but also on shop format and size. 
The different formats had varying degrees of success. Most retailers 
have come through the crisis well. Already in Q4 2021, some of our 
sales were above the level of 2019. There were individual insolven-
cies among our partners, but the big wave of insolvencies in brick-
and-mortar business fortunately failed to materialise. This makes us 
optimistic about the future.

mobilezone wants to push its online strategy further with the 
Pricezilla brand. You see great growth potential in this. What 
are your conclusions here?

In wearables, for example, smartwatches or fitness trackers, we used 
the scarce goods available in favour of higher-margin contract busi-
ness on Sparhandy and Deinhandy. As a result, with sales of CHF 16 
million, we fell slightly short of our expectations of CHF 20 million — 
but we did so very consciously. Pricezilla is well received, the proces-
ses work, we have a very high level of customer satisfaction, and even 
on the peak days during Black Week, everything worked smoothly. 
For example, we sold 1,100 Apple AirPods Pro and 1,000 Apple Air 
Tags in 24 hours. In just 6 hours, we sold our stock of Samsung Ga-
laxy Tabs A7 amounting to 900 units.

Where is Pricezilla heading in 2022?

We want to continue on the path we have started, hoping for better 
availability of smartphones so that we can achieve greater sales in 
this category. Otherwise, we want to grow in the area of the "Inter-
net of Things". There are various opportunities in the market that we 
want to seize upon. So, things remain exciting, and it will certainly 
be an exciting year in 2022.

With Sparhandy and Deinhandy as well as the teleshopping 
channel Handystar, mobilezone is the number 1 in online 
business in Germany. What strategic steps are you planning 
here to remain number 1?

First of all, in 2022, we will complete the largest part of our most 
important strategic investment in recent years — the changeover 
from our old shop technology to state-of-the-art new systems. 
These total investments of around CHF 10 million will give us the 
opportunity to defend our position as number one in the future, 
because we will become technical and technological leaders and 
will be able to quickly accommodate new requirements from the 
market and customers.

As already mentioned, you operate your own teleshopping 
channel with Handystar. Isn't this outdated in times of  
webshops, apps, etc.? Or in other words: Why do you  
operate a teleshopping channel?

Handystar addresses the growing market of the golden-agers. They 
want and need to be addressed differently than the rather young cus-
tomers at Sparhandy and Deinhandy. The teleshopping platform is 
an important gateway for this customer group. We also modernised 
the webshop for Handystar in 2021 and are receiving an increasing 
number of orders through this channel. Two years ago, only 10 percent 
of Handystar customers ordered their new bundle, the combination of 
device and mobile phone subscription, online; now it is already one in 
three. Two thirds of orders are still taken by telephone.

  We have done a lot to further develop our 
business model in recent years. Today, we achieve 
more than 38 percent of our sales with our online 
platforms. 

 We are now ideally positioned with the result 
that the synergies are taking effect both on the  
sales as well as on the cost side. This has resulted in 
an EBIT of CHF 36.2 compared to CHF 11.9 million 
last year.
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Fritz Hauser
Director IT & Logistics,  
has been with mobilezone Switzerland for 23 years

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

At mobilezone, you don't just do a job, rather, you have a task. 
Even if it's sometimes intensive: it's a lot of fun and inspires me.

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

At mobilezone, everyone can achieve something and in this way 
contribute to changing and further developing the company.

Livia Aschwanden
Product Manager,  
has been with mobilezone Switzerland for 1.5 years

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

My field of responsibility is fascinating and I can constantly learn 
more, through which I can advance personally. 

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

I feel myself professionally challenged everyday in a positive way. 
In addition, what definitely makes mobilezone special are my 
team colleagues.
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How would you take stock for mobilezone Switzerland for the 
past fiscal year 2021? 

The fiscal year 2021 was shaped by many positive aspects. For 
example, we succeeded in achieving very good financial results 
for all of the Swiss companies. This was underlined by the EBIT 
achieved of CHF 36.3 million with an increase of 16.2 percent 
in Switzerland. We are especially pleased we succeeded in 
clearly exceeding our customer growth target of 30 percent for 
our MVNO TalkTalk with over 46 percent. The development of 
customer satisfaction also deserves positive mention. We ma-
naged to advance many strategic projects, such as the mobile-
zone Club or our brand for used smartphones "jusit". We were 
able to further develop the segment "Device as a Service" in 
our business customer segment, our offer for companies to rent 
entire device fleets instead of buying them. The individual on-
line customer portals for our business customers continue to be 
very popular. 

Our project "Digital Growth", which includes the digital growth 
and process optimisation of our online channels, also made great 
strides. 

mobilezone already had positive things to say about its  
MVNO TalkTalk in the first half-year 2021. What is the way 
forward here?

We will continue to grow fast in a strongly contested market. We 
already managed to increase the number of customers in the 
postpaid SIM card segment in the first half-year of 2021 from 
31,300 to 36,100. In the second half-year, we even succeeded in 
accelerating the growth further so that we were able to chalk up 
about 45,000 postpaid customers as of 31 December 2021. The 
online channel made an above-average contribution to net custo-
mer acquisition of 13,700 in 2021. In the 2020 fiscal year we gai-
ned net 4,500 customers. We thus managed to triple net customer 
acquisition. By the end of 2022, we want to have 66,000 postpaid 
customers. 

mobilezone operates over 120 shops throughout Switzerland. 
How would you sum up the shop business?

  We succeeded in achieving very good  
financial results for all of the Swiss companies.  
The EBIT of CHF 36.3 million achieved in  
Switzerland underlined this.

In Switzerland, we rely on the omnichannel strategy: This means 
we provide our customers with tailor-made and needs-appropriate 
information as well as the offer desired across all sales channels 
so that advice and sales deals can occur at the POS (offline) or on-
line. Accordingly, we continue to rely heavily on physical shops at 
attractive locations. In order to be able to offer our customers a 
positive shopping experience, we renovated 37 shops in the fiscal 
year 2021 and gave them the latest shop layout. The number of 
our shops grew from 123 to 124 in the fiscal year 2021. A shop was 
added in the "Fressbalken", the motorway service station Würenlos, 
including repair shop – of which we operate a total of nine through-
out Switzerland. Our customers can also buy used and refurbished 
devices of the "jusit" brand in a total of eleven shops – here too the 
outcome was positive.

Due to the pandemic, the frequency in the shops in the fiscal 
year 2021 was at about the same level as 2020 and about 15 per-
cent below that of the pre-pandemic year 2019. Our sales staff 
on the front line did a great job day by day and advised our 
customers so successfully that we even managed to surpass the 
performance in retail of 2019.

By the end of 2022, all of the shops in Switzerland will have 
been give a great new look. What else is planned for the 
shops?

As already mentioned, at the end of the fiscal year 2021, the num-
ber of our shops was 124. As a result, we have expanded to the 
maximum extent. Each of our shops is financially successful, which 
is very positive and confirms that we continue to have a good ins-
tinct in picking our locations. Consequently, our main focus in the 
fiscal year 2022 will be primarily on finalising the conversion and 
renovation program of our shops. For example, the last 30 shops 
will be renovated and adjusted to the latest shop layout.

In addition, in the second quarter we will open a shop at the Zurich 
airport. We will not extend the pilot experiment of a shop-in-shop 
concept in the post offices Mont Blanc in Geneva and Aarau, which 
we launched in October 2020. 

We will also continue to reinforce the interplay mentioned between 
physical sales and our online presence in the new fiscal year. 

  Our sales staff on the front line did a great  
job day by day and advised our customers so 
successfully that we even managed to surpass the 
performance in retail of 2019.

INTERVIEWS

Interview with Roger Wassmer
CEO mobilezone Switzerland
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The further development of the accessory product range is 
an important goal for mobilezone Switzerland. Could you 
explain the importance of accessories and tell us what the 
road map is?

In the fiscal year 2021, mobilezone increased accessories sales in 
Switzerland to CHF 23.9 million (2020: CHF 21.5 million) The sale 
of accessories plays a very significant role for mobilezone. We rein-
forced the team in Product Management here in order to be able to 
continue to grow. We intend to further expand our product range in 
the fiscal year 2022 and also focus on online business. 

In the past, you often stressed the importance of the  
repair and second life business of mobilezone –  

in February 2022, you brought the former mobiletouch and 
central warehouse to Rotkreuz. What do you hope to achieve 
with this reorganisation?

We moved the headquarters of mobilezone to Rotkreuz at the 
end of 2018. In line with the "one-company idea", it makes sen-
se to also move the repair and second life business, the former  
mobiletouch and current mobilezone reload from Zweidlen 
and our warehouse from Regensdorf to Rotkreuz. As a result, 
one service hub was created for the maintenance, repair and 
refurbishing of mobile devices close to the headquarters. This 
reorganisation is a logical step to improve the processes. Syn-
ergies can be more efficiently exploited due to the spatial con-
centration and the two segments can be even better supported 
by the headquarters. We reinforced the strategic focus on the 
repair and refurbishing business with the move and renaming 
from mobiletouch to mobilezone reload. Furthermore, we are 
glad that the employees are now even closer. This not only saves 
travel, but also allows us to move even closer together as a team. 
We would like to exploit the momentum of the move to position 
ourselves even more strongly in the segment repair and second 
life of mobile devices. 

Roger Wassmer, CEO mobilezone Switzerland, in conversation with Martina Högger, Senior Manager 
Corporate Communications, gives his verdict on the fiscal year 2021.

We reinforced our strategic focus on the repair and 
refurbishing business with the move and renaming 
from mobiletouch to mobilezone reload.
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What is the significance of the repair and second life  
management segment within mobilezone Switzerland?

It plays an important strategic role with the Swiss organisation. 
Thanks to mobilezone reload, mobilezone can cover the entire va-
lue chain of a smartphone. We sell mobile devices in our 124 shops 
throughout Switzerland, buy back used devices in the shops and 
online, have them checked and repaired by our manufacturer-certi-
fied technicians and then return them as second life devices online 
and in selected shop under the brand "jusit" to the device life cycle. 
Moreover, thanks to this business line, we can support our business 
customer segment.

In addition, we operate service points and repair centres for custo-
mers in our own shops and also for mobile communications provi-
ders, who prefer to rely on a partner for running a workshop and 
supply the Swiss repair sector with original spare parts from selec-
ted manufacturers.

mobilezone launched a customer benefit program  
in 2020 in the form of the mobilezone Club. What is your 
assessment here?

The mobilezone Club, launched in autumn 2020, is a classic cus-
tomer benefit program, which offers our customers the option of 
benefiting from many advantages as club members. Club mem-
bers can collect points with every purchase and then use these for 
payment. They benefit from exclusive offers and are treated with 
priority when devices are launched. To make the membership even 
more attractive, we have made assignment of the club points more 
transparent and created the option of not only redeeming points in 
our shops as payment, but also soon online. Furthermore, there will 
in future be personalised offers for Club members, such as birthday 
and loyalty gifts and other advantages.

What are your expectations for mobilezone Switzerland for 
the current year?

We will continue to grow organically. In our core business, mobile 
communications contracts and fixed network contracts (Internet and 
TV), we also expect intensive competition in 2022 and are confident 
that we will be able to exploit this for us. In the accessories business, 
we want to achieve growth in the upper single figure percent range. 
We aim to achieve further growth in our shops and online – for 
example, with TalkTalk, where we want to increase online deals. 
Moreover, we want to reinforce the e-commerce segment and make 
it even better across all sales channels for our customers in line with 
the omnichannel strategy. We would like to further develop the se-
cond life segment of products with "jusit" – in commercial terms as 
well as in line with the sustainability idea. We will also do everything 
in the business customer segment to be able to more than confirm 
the successful year 2021. 

In our core business, mobile communications  
contracts and fixed network contracts (Internet  
and TV), we also expect intensive competition  
in 2022 and are confident that we will be able  
to exploit this for us.

INTERVIEWS
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Patrik Troccoli
Head of B2B Backoffice,  
working for mobilezone business Switzerland for 13 years

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

Our stability within the team, the collegiality and trust shown as 
well as the success in recent years are the reason I remain loyal to 
the mobilezone family. 

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

We have a sustainable business model, which positions us on the 
market as a neutral contact for our sector. 

Stephanie Niederer
Head of B2B Backoffice,  
working for mobilezone business Switzerland for 1 year

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

The varied tasks and familial  
style in the team make my position at mobilezone my dream job. 

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

I really appreciate how we treat each other and the great coopera-
tion with our customers and partners. 
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Strategy 

STRATEGY

The strategic goals of mobilezone are on the one hand the cor-
nerstones of its previous business development: independence, 
customer focus and cooperation as partners with mobile communi-
cations providers and device manufacturers. These are to undergo 
continuous further development. On the one hand, mobilezone 
intends to continue to grow organically through the expansion 
of the product range and sales channels and externally through 
more company takeovers. The multiplicity of tariff offers makes 
independent competent advice necessary. Through its technically 
trained employees, mobilezone offers its customers this support in 
purchase decisions for the optimal tariff plan of mobile communi-
cations providers and the matching device brand both in the shops 
and online. 

Growth and acquisition of market share 

mobilezone also intends to continue the existing growth course in 
future. This means growth in the existing business fields, especially 
in the areas online, Swiss retail, services and specialist retail (B2B). 
The mobilezone Group concludes over a million mobile communi-
cations contracts a year in Germany alone. Well over half of these 
are marketed via online platforms. Moreover, mobilezone operates 
its own television channel to sell mobile communications contracts 
in the form of handystar.de. mobilezone is continually expanding 
its repair and service offer in the service business. In online busi-
ness, growth is to be supported by the expansion of online shops. 
Currently, mobilezone generates sales of about CHF 24 million in 
Switzer land by selling accessories. No accessories are sold in Ger-
many via the online channels sparhandy.de and deinhandy.de. The 
market in Germany for accessories is about ten times bigger than the 
market in Switzerland. By launching the online brand pricezilla.de,  
mobilezone created a brand for products related to the subject 
mobile communications and connectivity. pricezilla.de offers pro-
ducts of various manufacturers at attractive prices with immediate 
purchase or flexible financing options.

With the new brand, mobilezone Deutschland intends to reach 
new customer groups in the accessory market as well. Growth in 
specialist trade (B2B) is sought via acquiring market share. Organic 
growth can be supported by additional company purchases. In the 
next one to two years, the expansion strategy will be restricted to 
Switzerland. 

Expansion of online presence 

mobilezone is in an attractive market position as number 1 in indi-
rect online business in Germany with the market leading portals 
sparhandy.de and deinhandy.de. By bundling these two brands 
as well as Handystar and High under the powwow brand, mobile-
zone plans to further expand its market leadership in the indirect 
telecommunications market. And with pricezilla.de, mobilezone 
Deutschland aims to further expedite its online strategy. In Switzer-
land, expanding the online presence and omnichannel approach 
are essential components of the online market strategy. 

Expansion of service provision offers and deve-
lopment of recurrent revenue 

Today, mobilezone already offers a wide range of services for 
business and private customers. Further expansion of the ser-
vices offered is an important strategic focus in order to achieve 
further growth in returns from services. Fleet management from 
the Swiss business customer segment includes the company-wide 
management of the entire device fleet and management of all 
interfaces to the mobile communications provider. An attractive 
offer has been developed for business customers in the form of 
"Device as a Service model". It provides companies with smart-
phones and tablets for a monthly flat rate and assumes all ser-
vices for the smooth operation of the device pool. Companies 
benefit from greatly reduced expenses in the procurement and 

GROWTH AND ACQUISITION  
OF MARKET SHARE

OMNICHANNEL PLATFORM

EXPANSION OF ONLINE PRESENCE

DIVIDEND AND DISTRIBUTION 
POLICY

EXPANSION OF SERVICE PROVISION 
OFFERS AND DEVELOPMENT  

OF RECURRENT REVENUE

SUSTAINABILITY
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setup of devices and lower total costs. mobilezone has crea-
ted an easily usable and attractive offer for companies with  
"Device as a Service". The further development of the service offer 
is an important issue for mobilezone, especially in Switzerland.  
mobilezone has continually expanded its recurrent revenue 
through service offers in fleet management, "Device as a Service" 
and the service subscription. By launching the product brand  
"jusit", mobilezone has created a product for used and refurbis-
hed smartphones in Switzerland and in this way offers the perfect 
product for everyone who sets value on a sustainable way of life or 
is looking for an affordable alternative for a second device. 

Dividend and distribution policy 

The investment program is to be continued and an attractive di-
vidend distributed to shareholders on the basis of a solid ba-
lance sheet, stable cash flows and secure, affordable financing.  
mobilezone intends to distribute 60 to 75 percent of the net profit 
as dividends to shareholders. In addition, mobilezone intends to 
return surplus capital below a net debt/EBITDA of 1 to shareholders 
via special dividends or share buybacks. This will apply as long as 
no more efficient use options are evident for the surplus capital.

Sustainability 

Keeping the economic activities of the company in harmony with 
sustainable and responsible business practice is a matter of course 
for mobilezone. It is important to mobilezone that the sustainabi-
lity strategy is coordinated with the core activities of the compa-
ny. Accordingly, mobilezone has developed a sustainability stra-
tegy based on the four central subjects employees, customers, 
smartphone cycle and environmental management. Well-trained 
and motivated employees make a decisive contribution to sustai-
nable economic success for mobilezone. Accordingly, we ensure 
that they have modern, contemporary and fair working conditions 
and encounter a lived and cultivated egalitarian feedback culture.  
mobilezone creates added value for its customers through fair, ho-
nest advice at the interface between customers, mobile communi-
cations providers and device manufacturers. To create and maintain 
a trust-based and sustainable customer relationship, mobilezone 
has come up with specific measures. Apart from its comprehensive 
product range of new devices, mobilezone has made a valuable 
contribution to sustainable recycling and conserving valuable re-
sources – especially with regard to the manufacture of new devices 
– in the form of "jusit", the brand for used and reprocessed smart-
phones and a comprehensive range of repairs. In this connection, 
mobilezone relies on sustainable packaging and accessories and 
has implemented measures to cut energy consumption.
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Wael Tolba
Head of Apple Repair,  
working for mobilezone reload Switzerland for 9.5 years

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

Due to my previous professional career and skills, I'm in the right 
place to get better. 

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

mobilezone offers further training, promotion opportunities and a 
secure job. 

Vinosiya Rajendran
Administration specialist,  
working for mobilezone reload Switzerland for 1 year

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

mobilezone provides a secure job. You can get  
further training and have great promotion opportunities. 

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

At mobilezone I'm supported. I can use my skills and demonstrate 
my abilities. 
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mobilezone at a glance

The mobilezone Group, based in Rotkreuz in Switzerland, was es-
tablished in 1999 and is the leading, independent telecommunica-
tions specialist in the field of mobile and fixed-line telephony. The 
mobilezone Group operates in Switzerland and Germany. It em-
ploys a good 1,000 staff at its sites in Rotkreuz, Urnäsch, Cologne, 
Bochum, Münster and Berlin.

mobilezone Switzerland operates a network of over 120 shops in all 
language regions of Switzerland. The shops are equipped with a 
complete smartphone range including accessories and wearables 
and offer subscriptions for mobile and fixed-line telephony, digital 
TV and internet from all providers. Independent specialist advice 
and other services supplement the product range. Under the jusit 
brand, mobilezone sells used and refurbished smartphones at at-
tractive prices. mobilezone business offers independent advice and 
individual customer solutions in the telecommunications sector for 
SMEs and large companies. TalkTalk, the in-house Mobile Virtual 
Network Operator (MVNO), is a provider in the mobile, fixed-line 
and Internet sectors whose products are available online at talk-
talk.ch and in the shops. mobilezone reload covers the repair and 
second life business in Switzerland, is responsible for the manage-
ment of the mobilezone workshops and operates repair centres for 
various partners.

In Germany, mobilezone operates all e-commerce end custo-
mer brands with the powwow companies. The Sparhandy and  
Deinhandy brands specialise primarily in bundle deals — attractive 
offers consisting of a subscription and a mobile device. Pricezilla of-
fers deals in hardware without subscription as well as other connec-
tivity products. The teleshopping channel Handystar offers deals on 
smartphones and mobile subscriptions making it a useful addition 
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Market area Switzerland 

MARKET AREAS

mobilezone has 124 shops of its own in Switzerland, which offer a 
complete smartphone product range, including accessories, wea-
rables and subscriptions for mobile and fixed-line telephony, digi-
tal TV and Internet from Swisscom, Sunrise, Salt, UPC, M-Budget,  
TalkTalk, Yallo and Wingo. The offer is supplemented by indepen-
dent specialist advice and numerous services, such as repairs in the 
mobilezone workshops, our own insurance product "Protect-Clever",  
the service subscription, the insurance products AppleCare+, data 
transfers and the repurchase program for used mobile telephones. 
TalkTalk is where mobilezone offers its own postpaid and prepaid 
subscriptions, fixed-line telephony and Internet. mobilezone sells 
used and refurbished smartphones under the brand jusit. For SMEs 
and big companies, mobilezone offers independent advice and 
individual customer solutions and acts as the interface here bet-
ween the mobile communications providers, device manufacturers 
and companies. In addition, mobilezone offers repair and second 
life services and the associated logistics services for mobile tele-
phones, tablets and other electronic devices. Apart from its nine  
mobilezone workshops, mobilezone operates repair centres for va-
rious partners.

Private customers

Shops

In Switzerland, mobilezone relies on the omnichannel strategy.  
mobilezone has set itself the aim of providing tailor-made and ap-
propriate information and the desired product and service port-
folio to its customers across all sales channels to ensure that advice 
and sales deals can be realised at the desired location online or off-
line. mobilezone continues accordingly to rely heavily on physical 
shops and is accordingly represented in the best locations in order 
always to be there for its customers. Last year, a new shop including 
workshop opened in the motorway service station Würenlos. As a 
result, the number of shops grew from 123 in 2020 to 124 in 2021. 
To continue facilitating an optimal purchasing experience for cus-
tomers, all mobilezone shops will be converted and renovated to 
the latest shop layout by the end of 2022. In the previous year 2021,  
37 shops were converted; the final 30 shops are to be converted in 
the fiscal year 2022.

Devices, brands and services

There were a series of important launches in 2021 in smartphones: 
in January, Samsung introduced the models Galaxy S21 Ultra 5G, 
the S21+ 5G and the S21 5G. The latest flagship, the Galaxy S21 
Ultra 5G in particular puts in a convincing performance with a high 
performance camera, high resolution display and S-pen functiona-
lity. Samsung then doubled down in August with the new Galaxy 
models Z Fold3 5G and Galaxy Z Flip3 5G. 
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Apple also presented new devices in 2021: In September, Apple 
launched the models iPhone 13, iPhone 13 mini, iPhone 13 Pro and 
iPhone 13 Pro Max. In March, OPPO introduced the latest models 
X3 Pro 5G, Find X3 Neo 5G and Find X3 Lite 5G.

mobilezone offers its customers a series of services related to smart-
phones, such as data transfers, technical support, mobile phone 
insurance and much more. mobilezone offers services such as free 
technical support, discounts on repairs and many more advantages 
with its service subscription, a carefree package for smartphone 
owners. 

mobilezone has been selling smartphone cases, charging cables, 
headphones and other accessories under its own brand "itStyle". 
The existing offer was supplemented with a basic and premium line 
last year. mobilezone wants to address the growing complexity of 
customer needs with the expansion of its product range – the basic 
line is intended to cater primarily to price-sensitive customers. A 
product was created for customers with a high quality awareness 
in the premium line. In the course of the product range expansion, 
mobilezone also rethought the packaging design and introduced 
plastic-free packaging in the basic line and sustainable packaging 
for the premium line.

jusit

After mobilezone had already refurbished used smartphones for 
many years and then resold them, the company created a brand for 
used and refurbished smartphones in September 2020 in the form 
of jusit. After a year of jusit, mobilezone's verdict is positive: jusit is 
an essential element in mobilezone's efforts in the field of sustai-
nability and has succeeded in achieving all externally communica-
ted goals. This shows that the demand for sustainable smartphone 
solutions is there and mobilezone is on the right path to further 
develop the product range.

The used devices are taken back by mobilezone in its shops and on-
line, checked and repaired by the manufacturers' own certified tech-
nicians and sold online and in eleven selected mobilezone shops in 
all language regions of Switzerland. Over two-thirds of the devices 
are sold online via www.get-jusit.ch. The devices are available in four 
quality classes. Devices in the quality class "original packaging" are 
unused. They are in their original packaging and display no signs 
of use. Devices in the quality class "like new" have absolutely no 
signs of usage and look like new devices. Devices designated "very 
good" may have minimal signs of usage. These are scarcely noti-
ceable and visible. Devices in the fourth quality level "Good" have 
slight signs of usage. All jusit devices can also be bought with a Talk-
Talk subscription. In future, the jusit product range is to be further 
expanded. Apart from additional smartphone models, matching 
subscriptions and entire service packages are planned. In addition,  
mobilezone is continuing to develop its online strategy for jusit.

TalkTalk

TalkTalk is the inhouse mobile virtual network operator (MVNO) of 
mobilezone Switzerland and as a mobile communications provider 
without its own network infrastructure offers its customer in Switzer-
land subscriptions for mobile communications, fixed-line telephony 
and Internet from the Sunrise network. TalkTalk also offers its cus-
tomers interest-free instalment payments for smartphones. TalkTalk 
succeeded in increasing the number of its customers in the post-
paid segment by over 46 percent in the fiscal year 2021. Moreover, 
the MVNO has greatly optimised its digital presentation with the 
aim of improving its presence and is striving to grow in the mobile 
subscription market. 

mobilezone Club

mobilezone introduced a customer benefit program in 2020 in the 
form of the mobilezone Club. As a result, customers of the company 
can collect points when making purchases, among other things, 
which they can use for payment. In addition, Club members are in-
formed first about new products and prioritised when new devices 
are launched. Furthermore, they can benefit from selected cam-
paigns. The mobilezone Club is undergoing constant further deve-
lopment. For example, the assignment of the club points has been 
made more transparent and the option created not only to redeem 
points in mobilezone shops as payment, but also soon online. In 
addition, personalised offers for Club members and birthday and 
loyalty gifts and other advantages are planned.

Second life and repair business

The repair business together with the subject of refurbishing is of 
great strategic importance for mobilezone. As a result, mobilezone 
can cover the entire value chain of a smartphone, from the sale of 
the new device and return to the shops and online to refurbishing 
or repair  and resale. To underline the strategic importance, the 
repair and refurbishing business of the former mobiletouch was 
relocated in February 2022 to Rotkreuz close to the headquarters 
and has since then been managed under the mobilezone brand as 
mobilezone reload. Apart from the refurbishing of used smartpho-
nes, mobilezone reload assumes the entire life cycle management 
of mobile devices and tablets. As authorised after-sales partner, 
mobilezone reload offers certified repairs and other services from 
one source. As a result, mobilezone reload supplements the offer 
of mobilezone business by assuming the repair share of the offer  
"Device as a Service". In addition, mobilezone reload also assumes 
the repair of device fleets that are in possession of companies, of-
fers individual solutions for repair management and the operation 
of their mobile fleets, such as solutions for efficient repair repairs 
or all-round carefree packages and special solutions for repair and 
maintenance in the absence of guarantee or after-sales regulations. 
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In addition, mobilezone reload operates service points and repair 
centres for customers, such as mobile communications providers 
who prefer to rely on partners to operate a workshop. During the 
fiscal year it opened another mobile phone repair workshop in the 
motorway service station Würenlos. In addition, mobilezone reload 
supplies the Swiss repair sector with original spare parts from se-
lected manufacturers. 

Business customers 

mobilezone B2B

Expanding services is an important cornerstone in mobilezone's 
strategy. The mobilezone specialists assume all work related to 
the management of mobile subscriptions and devices (tablet and 
smartphones) as general contractors. mobilezone responds to cus-
tomers' individual needs with tailor-made offers in order to find 
the best solution for them. This can range from managing mobile 
subscriptions and device maintenance to clarifying details with the 
insurer in the event of a claim. But it can also involve the complete 
outsourcing of services and processes in fleet management. The 
service spectrum ranges from standardised products to complex 
individual customer solutions. The smartphones and subscriptions 
available to the employees of a company are presented on an on-
line customer portal by mobilezone. The customer portal is indivi-
dually developed with the customer and is therefore tailored to its 
wishes. Apart from device procurement, the entire administration 
of the company contracts is mapped. The employees' complete 
joining and leaving process is individually configured, according 
to customer preferences. Thanks to the integration of customer-
specific authorisation processes, customer needs can in addition 
be addressed even better. Instead of buying mobile phones and 
tablets, companies can get their mobile device fleet as a managed 
service from mobilezone with the Device as a Service offer. 

MARKET AREAS
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mobilezone offers customers price 
contracts from all leading mobile 
communications providers. The 
number of mobile communications, 
digital TV and Internet contracts 
sold in the reporting year was 
398,000 (previous year: 380,000). 
Compared to the previous year, this 
was an increase of 4.7 percent.

TalkTalk increased the number of custo-
mers in the postpaid area by 46 percent 
to 45,700 customers (previous year: 
31,300).

mobilezone offers numerous services  
for mobile devices and contract manage-
ment. This includes fleet management  
in the B2B area, guarantee extensions, 
technical support, setting up smart-
phones, data transfer and more. In the 
reporting year, sales with services were 
CHF 7.2 million (previous year: CHF 6.6 
million). Compared to the previous year, 
this was an increase of 9.1 percent.

In our over 120 mobilezone shops in 
the B2B segment as well as online, we 
offer the biggest range in accessories 
for mobile devices in Switzerland. In 
the reporting period, sales amounted 
to CHF 23.9 million (previous year: 
CHF 21.5 million). Compared to the 
previous year, this was an increase of 
11.1 percent.

Swiss GAAP FER

Pro forma without sold business  
mobiletouch austria gmbH

EBIT in Switzerland increased from 
CHF 31.2 million to CHF 36.3 million, 
corresponding to sales profitability 
of 11.2 percent (previous year: 10.2 
percent).
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Sukinthan Sundaralingam
Logistics specialist,  
has been with mobilezone Switzerland for 6.5 years

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

After I completed my training as logistics specialist EFZ (Swiss 
Certificate of Competence), I knew that I could achieve something 
at mobilezone. I enjoy mastering new challenges daily.

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

mobilezone stands out due to its dynamic young corporate  
culture – I feel at home here. 

Brian Strebel
Head of Logistics,  
has been with mobilezone Switzerland for 18 years

Why do you work for mobilezone?  

In the first place, I can work with a great team. In addition,  
I have promotion opportunities, which I greatly appreciate. 

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

For me, the team always comes first. Together, we sometimes 
make the impossible possible and so achieve our goals. 
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Market area Germany

mobilezone operates two strategic business fields in Germany: the 
business field e-commerce for private customers with powwow 
and the indirect B2B commerce (stationary and e-commerce) with  
mobilezone handel. All of the e-commerce end customer brands are 
grouped in powwow. Indirect sales is centrally bundled under the 
umbrella brand mobilezone handel. The consolidation and focusing 
of the two business areas was initiated in fiscal year 2020 and conclu-
ded with the sale of wholesale business in January 2021. mobilezone  
Deutschland is partner of the network operators Vodafone, Deutsche  
Telekom and Telefónica Deutschland and the service providers 
freenet and 1&1/Drilisch. In addition, mobilezone Deutschland  
cooperates as partner with all relevant manufacturers of smart-
phones, tablets and wearables, such as Apple, Samsung, Google 
and Xiaomi.

Private customers

Sparhandy and Deinhandy

In online business, mobilezone Deutschland is number one with 
the brands Sparhandy and Deinhandy as well as the TV home 
shopping channel Handystar. This is by a very wide margin to its 
closest competitors in the marketing of mobile communications 
subscriptions focused on attractive bundle deals involving smart-
phones and the matching subscription. With the brands Sparhandy 
and Deinhandy, mobilezone has positioned itself in the market as 
the leading online retailer in Germany and can look back on a very 
positive development. Here, the investments made in past years in 
the development of the websites as well as in downstream customer 
processes are paying off. The pandemic-related chip shortage has 
contributed to us focusing to an increased extent on the established 
brands Sparhandy and Deinhandy. At Pricezilla, we concentrated 
on the technical further development of the platform and in this 
way laid the foundation for the transfer of Sparhandy and Deinhan-
dy to the new shop technology in the course of 2022.

Handystar

Handystar is a teleshopping channel which offers attractive products 
related to smartphones and mobile subscriptions and as a result sup-
plements the product range of Sparhandy and Deinhandy. Sales via 
the teleshopping channel for the previous fiscal year were gratify-
ing. In addition, the website of the channel underwent a relaunch. 
Thanks to the relaunch and associated improvements to the website, 
product sales were greatly boosted and customer service requests 
simultaneously reduced. The chip shortage resulted in various sales 
and marketing measures having to be adjusted at Handystar too. For 
example, the sale of contracts without device was boosted. More-
over, the focus in sales was increased on brands that are always easily 
available.

Management team Germany
Wilke Stroman
CEO Germany

Jens Barth (to 30 April 2022)
CDO Group

Daniel Blum
Director Legal & People

Feyzi Demirel
Director Product Management, CRM & CX

Thorsten Fluck (to 30 April 2022)
Managing Director

Dieter Kossmeier
Managing Director B2B

Jörg von der Halben
Managing Director Finance
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MARKET AREAS

Pricezilla

Pricezilla offers products from all kinds of manufacturers at attrac-
tive prices. With the launch of Pricezilla, powwow created an exten-
sion to the established brands Sparhandy and Deinhandy, as well 
as the TV channel Handystar. This means an attractive alternative 
can be offered to those customers who prefer to purchase their 
hardware without a mobile subscription and are looking for addi-
tional connectivity products such as tablets, wearables, bluetooth 
speakers, headphones, Galaxy Buds and AirPods, or accessories 
such as plugs and cables, docking stations, smartphone cases and 
protective films. 

In the previous fiscal year 2021, the focus was on converting the 
website to the new technology. Valuable experience was gathered 
here, which is essential for the next steps, converting Sparhandy 
and Deinhandy to the new shop technology. The difference bet-
ween Pricezilla and Sparhandy/Deinhandy is that Pricezilla is pri-
marily specialised in marketing individual devices while the other 
two brands offer bundle deals. The new shop technology was 
tested regarding the sale of individual devices with Pricezilla; in 
a second step, it will now be tested for the sale of bundle deals. 
Black Friday in November 2021 served as a stress test for the new 
technology. It proved that it was equal to very high order numbers. 
Consequently, the shop is set up to be future-proof. In the field 
of products, the chip shortage led to demand, apart from that for 
smartphones, shifting to wearables and tablets, with a positive de-
velopment regarding the range of the shops.

High

Under the brand name "High" as Mobile Virtual Network Opera-
tor (MVNO), favourable SIM-only rates are offered on the Deutsche 
Telekom network; these are above all attractive to young target 
groups. The growth of the brand was also continued successful-
ly in 2021. We managed to expand the number of customers by  
28 percent to 69,000. The European Electronic Communication 
Code (EECC) regulations entered into force from 1 December 2021. 
This allows customers to terminate their mobile contracts after ex-
piry of a term of 24 months with one month's notice instead of the 
contract term being automatically extended for another 12 months. 
This new regulation affected contracts management and adjust-
ments had to be made in communications and technology.

Business customers 

mobilezone handel 

mobilezone handel is an independent complete provider in the field 
of mobile communications, Internet and fixed-line communication 
and covers the B2B business of mobilezone Deutschland. It includes 
the sale, distribution and logistics for a large and heterogeneous 
partner landscape. Among other things, these are the end custo-
mer brands MEDIMAX, EP: and various e-commerce retail partners 
such as Logitel and Motion TM. In addition, retail and distribution 
partners such as Kessler and Talk-Point and a large number of other 
key account partners, independent specialist retailers, and Ashop 
concept operators are also part of the partner group. The trade 
partners are offered the entire product range from the segments 
mobile communications, Internet and landline. Trade partners find 
the offers of the large, well-known telecommunications brands un-
der one roof. For mobile communications, these are the brands of 
the German network operator Deutsche Telekom, Vodafone and 
Telefónica as well as 1&1/Drillisch-Online tariff offers of the MVNO 
brands yourfone and 1&1. In the landline and DSL field, all network 
operators, such as Deutsche Telekom, Vodafone and Telefónica can 
also be found. The company markets long-term contracts, primarily 
with a subsidised terminal in combination with original products of 
the network operator. The year 2021 was mainly characterised by 
the transformation and integration of the complete specialist retail 
business with the franchise chain Ashop and the expansion and 
reinforcement of distribution. For 2022, the further development of 
the specialist retail partners and concept partners (Ashops, network 
operator concepts), optimisation of existing partners and the creati-
on of additional services for partner retention are planned.
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EBIT
(CHF million)

Via its own platforms sparhandy.de, 
deinhandy.de, its own TV channel  
handystar.de and sales partners,  
mobilezone mediated over 1,019,000 
mobile communications and DSL /  
Internet contacts in 2021 (previous  
year: 1,019,000).

Mobile  
communications,  
digital TV and 
Internet contracts
(Number of contracts)

Swiss GAAP FER

Pro forma figures without sold wholesale 
business GER

Net sales
(CHF million)

EBIT in Germany increased from  
CHF 11.9 million to CHF 36.2 million, 
corresponding to sales profitability of 
5.5 percent. The previous year includes 
restructuring costs of CHF 4.8 million. 
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Dear Readers,

Since we submitted our third sustainability report – the second according to the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) – an eventful year has 
passed in which the subject of sustainability has increased in importance. In the second pandemic year, values such as trust, reliability and 
continuity became even more important: the trust of our employees in mobilezone as a secure employer, the trust of our customers in our 
products and advice services as well as reliability in purchasing decisions and the continuity of a young, healthy company.

The sustainability strategy of mobilezone is based on the four pillars "Employees", "Customers", "Smartphone cycle" and "Environmental 
management". Last year, we developed various measures to implement the strategy in the four subject areas.

For example, in a Group-wide, standardised employee survey, we looked at the satisfaction and commitment of our employees and crea-
ted a key figure in the form of the employee net promoter score (eNPS) to make the values surveyed comparable. The coming months will 
now serve the consolidation of the results and derivation of further measures. Furthermore, we celebrated an anniversary in the last fiscal 
year: mobilezone in Switzerland has been training adolescents and young adults in Switzerland for 20 years. Trainees were added in the 
fiscal year 2020. We already provide for the specialists of tomorrow with our training concept today and benefit from new perspectives 
and breaths of fresh air, which the young people bring into the company.

But not only the employees are close to our heart: without our customers, mobilezone would not be where it is today. Their satisfaction is 
accordingly our most important yardstick. Last year, measures were taken or had already been introduced for better customer care: from 
coaching and further development of managers, sales staff training in the Swiss shops and process optimisations to even better handling 
of customer feedback across the entire mobilezone Group.

The most important principle of our sustainability strategy is: It is in line with our core business. Only in this manner can we achieve so-
mething in a credible, efficient and effective manner. This principle is especially evident in the smartphone cycle area. The demand for 
refurbished smartphones is rising. Among other things, this is due to raw materials becoming more expensive and a worldwide shortage 
of chips as a result of the pandemic and not least simply to rethinking by certain customer groups regarding consumption. Accordingly, 
we have reinforced measures in the field of refurbishing and life cycle management in the reporting year, on the one hand to further in-
crease the sale of used smartphones and on the other hand also to grow in the field of taking back devices no longer needed and repairs.

In the new fiscal year, we plan to intensify the measures in all areas: The right conclusions should be drawn from the results of employee 
surveys in order to improve the satisfaction of employees. We will also continue the trainee program in 2022 and once again train the 
number of trainees set as goal. Moreover, we aspire to further improve our customer satisfaction and we would like to continue to grow 
in the field of second life and refurbishing. One important step in this direction was the move of the former mobiletouch and current 
mobilezone reload to Rotkreuz in February 2022 and the associated establishment of even more efficient services related to the life cycle 
management of mobile devices.

On the following pages, we report in detail about the measures and goals and objectives reached in the four focus areas of our sustaina-
bility strategy. 

Olaf Swantee
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Markus Bernhard
Chief Executive Officer

Martina Högger
Sustainability manager
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Materiality analysis

The materiality analysis of summer 2020 forms the basis for the sus-
tainability strategy of mobilezone. It shows how the sustainability 
strategy of mobilezone arose. It was realised in four steps: 

  Stakeholder interviews with selected analysts, decision makers 
at mobile communications providers and device manufacturers, 
members of the Board of Directors and management, emplo-
yees, associations, customers and journalists.

 Group-wide employee survey on the subject of sustainability 

  Impact analysis of the different business activities of the  
mobilezone Group

  Workshop with employees of the management and employees

The influence of our business activities on the environment and so-
ciety were considered in the impact analysis. A glance at the value-
added chain shows that the greatest influences arose through the ex-
traction of raw materials and the manufacturer of devices sold by the 
company. mobilezone can exercise influence here by making offers 
that extend the use duration of the devices, leading to lower demand 
for resources. Moreover, as part of the materiality analysis, over thirty 
interviews were conducted with stakeholders. These were selected 
based on how they were affected and their influence on mobilezone. 
The content of the interviews dealt with the effects along the entire 
value added chain. This revealed that high expectations exist regar-
ding the independence and transparency of our advice. The results 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

of the interviews and impact analysis were discussed in a workshop 
with the management and the company strategy perspective inte-
grated. Four subject areas were developed on this basis, which will 
hold the foreground in the context of the sustainability strategy: 

Particularly from the point of view of our employees as those direct-
ly affected, but also for the Board of Directors, the Group Manage-
ment, management and our partners, the working conditions and 
equal development opportunities at the workplace are important. 
Regular measurement of satisfaction and the measures derived 
from this enhance employee satisfaction and as a result motivation 
and loyalty to the company.

The satisfaction of our customers is at the heart of our action. Trans-
parent and fair advice as well as consolidated measurement of 
customer satisfaction across the entire mobilezone Group and their 
long-term optimisation is not just central from a sustainability point 
of view. 

By making offers that extend the service life of smartphone, we 
address the subject of the biggest ecological influence. We sum-
marise the associated activities in the field of the smartphone cycle. 

We optimise our energy and material consumption as part of the 
environmental management. It addresses our internal processes.

All subjects evaluated in the context of the development of the sustainability strategy of mobilezone and their weighting are summarised in a materiality matrix.
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Meina Batke
Technical Product Manager,  
1 year at powwow Deutschland

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

I really enjoy my work, because it's very technical and  
at the same time very varied – just what I had hoped for  
when I took the job. 

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

The open and friendly work climate at powwow is 
fantastic. You deal with all kinds of departments and  
people. 

Tim Klütz
Customer service specialist,  
10.5 years at powwow Deutschland

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

I have the opportunity here to develop in accordance with my in-
terests. My area of work has successively changed and expanded 
over time I've been here so that my everyday working life remains 
challenging and exciting. Sparhandy/powwow has become the 
market leader in the indirect German telecommunications market 
during the 10.5 years I've been at the company. I find it exciting 
that I was able to be part of this success story and that we have 
preserved our dynamism and flexibility. 

What is special about mobilezone for you? 
mobilezone is a fair, reliable employer, oriented to the well-being 
of its employees. This has proven its value in the last two pande-
mic years. 
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The four pillars of the sustainability strategy

The sustainability strategy of mobilezone applies to all companies 
of the mobilezone Group in Switzerland and Germany. mobilezone 
concentrates in its sustainability strategy on the core subjects "Em-
ployees", "Customers", "Smartphone cycle" and "Environmental 
management".

Organisation and responsibilities

The Board of Directors acts as the highest decision-making com-
mittee and approves the sustainability strategy. The CEO of the 
mobilezone Group acts as the most senior party responsible for 
the sustainability strategy. The sustainability team is responsible 
for the operational implementation of the subject in the company 
and brings in the corresponding bodies and companies if neces-
sary. Regular exchanges occur between the CEO as the most se-
nior sustainability executive and the sustainability team. The stra-
tegy is further developed in these and the implementation of the 
measures is checked. The aim for the frequency of this exchange 
is four times a year.

Sustainability monitoring and reporting

The sustainability monitoring is organised centrally and the corres-
ponding key figures are surveyed and evaluated annually. The moni-
toring occurs as part of the internal sustainability management sys-
tem in which all business segments and companies of mobilezone  
are integrated. The monitoring involves checking in which areas 
further measures have to be implemented to achieve the targets 
successfully. This is evaluated as part of regular exchanges in the 
sustainability team.

Communication

Internal and external communication occurs regarding the measu-
res and progress in the four central subjects. Internal target groups 
are served by employee information, info screens and internal  
e-mails. The information is provided to external target groups in 
this Annual Report and via media releases. In addition, bilateral 
discussions occur with analysts and other interested stakeholders 
on request.

Sustainability strategy

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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Jakov Djotlo
Associate customer care,  
at TalkTalk Switzerland for 7 years

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

After my traineeship, I got the opportunity to launch my professio-
nal career here. I would like to justify this trust. 

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

For me, mobilezone stands out as a telecommunications expert, 
which is continually developing. This can be seen in the fact that 
we are always on the lookout for new trends and improving our 
processes to ensure that we employees are always up-to-date to 
achieve the highest possible customer satisfaction. 

Sabina Sbarra
Manager customer care,  
at TalkTalk Switzerland for 18 years

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

I love working with people and the versatility of  
my profession, which I can experience every day. 

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

mobilezone gives me the opportunity to be who I am,  
do my dream job and to feel at home here. 
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Fabian Goldhausen
Sales Support Manager,  
working for half a year at mobilezone handel Deutschland

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

mobilezone appreciates me and trusts me. For example, I have the 
opportunity to contribute many ideas myself.  

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

I consider mobilezone to be an innovative company. Here I experi-
ence a varied work day apart from a good work-life balance. 

Christoph Achterholt
Head of Sales Support,  
working for 22.5 years at mobilezone handel Deutschland

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

I work for mobilezone handel, because I can work with an innovati-
ve team here every day in modern premises.  

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

The special feature of mobilezone is that employees are shown 
the appropriate appreciation. Flat hierarchies allow everyone to 
contribute their own ideas and opinions to advance the company. 
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Employees

We consider the competencies and motivation of our employees 
to be the key factor in mobilezone’s sustainable economic success. 
Flat hierarchies and a matrix organisation permit fast decisions and 
an open communication culture at every level creates the basis of 
trust needed.

The satisfaction of our employees is important to us. To achieve this, 
various aspects, such as promotion opportunities, equal opportu-
nities, the promotion of diversity and recognition of work done 
as well as the possibility for internal and external further training 
play an important role. Last year we tackled measures to be able to 
measure this satisfaction and other measures for improvement. In 
addition, we have observed our responsibility as training company 
and brought many young talents into the company. 

Open communication culture

mobilezone cultivates an open communication culture in which 
feedback is highly regarded. Honest, fair and constructive feedback 
across all hierarchical levels are part of our culture. For example, 
the subject plays an important role as part of the onboarding for 
new managers. This feedback culture is also manifested in the  
annually occurring employee discussions in which employees are 
evaluated by their line managers and the line managers in turn 
also by their employees. Direct personal exchange and feedback 
as equals offer the opportunity to achieve fast, unbureaucratic im-
provements. 

We also want it to be possible to address subjects that are suppo-
sedly unpleasant. Consequently, mobilezone created a facility in its 
headquarters in 2020 to provide anonymous feedback on everyday 
subjects and wishes. mobilezone wishes to ensure in this way that 
the needs of employees can be taken up quickly and unbureaucra-
tically and where possible solved. This is why it created the physical 
feedback letter box in the headquarters in Rotkreuz. A total of ele-
ven feedback reports were received on the subjects of remote work, 
time recording and employee benefits in the last fiscal year 2021. 
Seven of these could be satisfied last year. 

The greatest satisfaction possible of its employees is mobilezone's 
top objective. To enable us to measure this by means of key figu-
res, we introduced a standardised employee survey last year. Apart 
from this, measures arising from this survey are to be derived that 
improve employees' satisfaction. 

mobilezone defined the employee NPS* as key figure for employee 
satisfaction. The employees were asked the following question in 
the employee survey: "Would you recommend mobilezone or its 
subsidiaries as employer?" Since this is an initial survey, mobilezone  
decided not to publish the score yet. We want to achieve compara-
bility of the scores over at least two years and will therefore wait for 
the result of the employee survey 2022 in order to be able to draw 
further conclusions. In general, the employee survey produced po-
sitive results, especially in the fields of career readiness, motivation 
and team cooperation across the entire Group.

Targets

mobilezone is already in the process of implementation with re-
gard to the development of possible measures from the emplo-
yee survey. These are undergoing further development in the fiscal 
year 2022 and being prepared for implementation. The results on 
the measures will be further executed in the sustainability report 
2022. mobilezone has reached the target of introducing an eNPS. 
For 2022, we have set ourselves the target of understanding the 
eNPS value better and drawing the right conclusions regarding its 
improve ment in the next survey.

Training company

Trainees

mobilezone is already making provision for the specialists of to-
morrow today and has been training apprentices in Switzerland 
since 2001 in the fields of commerce, IT (system technology) and 
logistics. Apprentices in the retail trade have been trained in ad-
dition since 2008. Since the training year 2020, the training of 
specialists for customer dialogue and IT specialist focusing on 
application development have been added to the training pro-
gram on offer. 

In the reporting year, 51 apprentices began their training at  
mobilezone in Switzerland. Compared to 2020 with 62 apprenti-
ces, this figure is somewhat lower, but still in target range. In 2021,  
mobilezone employed a total of 132 apprentices in Switzerland. 
Of these, we could congratulate 43 apprentices on completing 
their training (2020: 30 trainees). mobilezone was in a position to  

* eNPS stands for Employee Net Promoter Score. The employees surveyed answered the question "Would you recommend mobilezone or its subsidiaries to a friend or family 
member?" by choosing a value between 0 and 10. 0 stands for "very unlikely" and 10 for "very likely". Based on the replies to the eNPS question, they are [assigned to] the 
categories promoters (replies with 9 or 10 and are loyal and enthusiastic and are very pleased to recommend their employee), passive (replies with 7 or 8 and are satisfied, 
but not very committed and speak neither positively nor negatively about their employer) and detractors (replies with 0 to 6 and are less satisfied. In the last category, there 
is a risk that they will speak negatively of their employer. The following formula is used to calculate the eNPS: eNPS = promoters (%) – detractors (%). The result is between 
–100 and 100.
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continue to employ 32 of the successful trainees inside the  
company.

In the last sustainability report, we defined the objective to the ef-
fect that we wanted to appoint between 40 and 50 new apprentices 
every year. In the fiscal year 2021, 51 new apprentices started their 
training at mobilezone in Switzerland. As a result, we even slightly 
exceeded our target. 

Another target from the previous year was to take on two-thirds of 
the apprentices who had successfully completed their training. In 
this regard, we enter into a dialogue with the corresponding peo-
ple during the year the apprenticeship is completed and look for a 
suitable follow-up solution. In the fiscal year 2021, we exceeded this 
target with an adoption ratio of 74 percent. 

Targets

For the fiscal year 2022, we have set ourselves the following targets 
regarding the apprentices in Switzerland:

We will appoint between 45 and 55 apprentices.

We will continue to employ two-thirds of the apprentices who suc-
cessfully complete their training in the company.

Trainees

At the beginning of 2020, mobilezone Switzerland created the trai-
nee program "mobilezone Pioneers". The goal of the trainee pro-
gram is to recruit capable young talents and integrate them in the 
company as well as to offer the candidates the opportunity for per-
sonal further development in a practical working environment. Of 
the six trainees who completed the program in the fiscal year 2020, 
five were taken on. Last year, six candidates once again began the 
six-month trainee program in the fields of marketing, digital and 
project management. 

mobilezone set itself the target in the fiscal year 2020 of continuing 
the trainee program. This target was reached; in summer 2021, we 
once again began with six new trainees in the company.

Another objective was to retain 60 percent of the trainees after ex-
piry the program in the company. This target was even exceeded. 
Five of the six trainees were given full-time appointments, corres-
ponding to an adoption ratio of 83.3 percent.

mobilezone is not only bringing knowledge and expertise into the 
company, but also new perspective and fresh ideas with the young, 
well-trained future specialists. The company has accordingly set  
itself the target of also continuing the program in the fiscal year 
2022.

We would also like to retain at least 60 percent of those completing 
the program in the company in the fiscal year 2022.
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Figure: Number of trainees in Switzerland who successfully 
completed their apprenticeship in the corresponding year 
(absolute) and the number of trainees (in %) who were 
taken on by the company.

Net turnover* (unplanned turnover, termination by employee) 
of the mobilezone Group

31 

35 

25 

10 
8 

5 

*  Net turnover or unplanned turnover means that the employees 
terminated their employment contract with mobilezone of their 
own accord. It is calculated based on the total of the number at 
the beginning of the year and at the end of the year, divided 
by two in relation to unplanned exits.  

**  The planned turnover covers all departures where the employ-
ment contract was terminated by mobilezone.

***  Natural turnover covers departures caused by retirements, 
death of the employee or the end of a temporary contract.

: Men  : Women

8.4 %
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Departures and turnover rate (unplanned) GRI 401-1

Country Age 2021 2020 2019
(in years) % % % % % %

Switzerland

 < 25 14 7.2 14 19.1 15 6.5 6 7.6 21 10.3 13 18.4

25 – 35 33 17.1 17 23.6 13 7.5 11 17.1 26 14.4 13 19.5

35 – 45 10 10.0 6 27.3 4 4.5 4 19.5 9 10.2 5 20.0

 > 45 4 11.4 2 16.0 3 10.3 1 11.1 3 10.0 0 0.0

Total 61 11.7 39 21.7 35 6.7 22 12.8 59 11.7 31 18.0

Germany

 < 25 3 35.3 1 8.3 7 25.0 5 20.8 10 30.3 6 25.5

25 – 35 16 18.5 5 7.6 6 6.7 8 11.9 8 9.9 8 12.4

35 – 45 8 10.3 1 2.2 0 0.0 1 3.2 1 1.7 2 6.7

 > 45 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 2.9 1 6.3 0 0.0 0 0.0

Total 27 12.1 7 4.9 14 6.2 15 10.8 19 9.1 16 11.6

mobilezone Group Total 88 11.8 46 14.2 49 6.7 37 11.9 78 10.9 47 15.2

Other departures (planned** and natural*** departures): 
2021 Switzerland: Men younger than 25 Y.: 54; 27.7% | 25 – 35 
Y.: 15; 7.8% | 35 – 45 Y.: 6; 6.0% | older than 45 Y.: 6; 17.1% | 
2020 Swiss men younger than 25 Y.: 34; 14.8% | 25 – 35 Y.: 
13; 7.5% | 35 – 45 Y.: 10; 11.2% | older than 45 Y.: 3; 10.4% | 
2019 Swiss men younger than 25 Y.: 35; 17.1% | 25 – 35 Y.: 19; 
10.5% | 35 – 45 Y.: 9; 10.2% | older than 45 Y.: 2; 6.7%

2021 Swiss women younger than 25 Y.: 16; 21.8% | 25 – 35 Y.: 
13; 18.1% | 35 – 45 Y.: 3; 13.6% | older than 45 Y.: 3; 24.0% | 
2020  Swiss women younger than 25 Y.: 12; 15.3% | 25 – 35 Y.: 
4; 6.2% | 35 – 45 Y.: 3; 14.6% | older than 45 Y.: 1; 11.1% | 
2019 Swiss women younger than 25 Y.: 17; 24.1% | 25 – 35 Y.: 
8; 12.0% | 35 – 45 Y.: 5; 20.0% | older than 45 Y.: 2; 20.0% | 

2021 Germany men younger than 25 Y.: 2; 23.5% | 25 – 35 Y.: 
14; 16.2% | 35 – 45 Y.: 6; 7.7% | older than 45 Y.: 5; 9.8% | 
2020 men younger than 25 Y.: 7; 25% | 25 – 35 Y.: 7; 7.8% | 
35 – 45 Y.: 6; 10.0% | older than 45 Y.: 4; 11.4% | 2019 Germa-
ny men younger than 25 Y.: 13; 39.4% | 25 – 35 Y.: 15; 18.6% | 
35 – 45 Y.: 1; 1.7% | older than 45 Y.: 7; 19.2% |

2021 Germany women younger than 25Y.: 3; 25.0% | 25 – 35: 
15; 22.9% | 35 – 45 Y.: 3; 6.6% | older than 45 Y.: 1; 4.9% | 
2020 women younger than 25Y.: 4; 16.7% | 25 – 35: 12; 17.8% 
| 35 – 45 Y.: 3; 9.5% | older than 45 Y.: 7; 43.8% | 2019 Ger-
many women younger than 25Y.: 7; 29.8% | 25 – 35 Y.: 5; 
7.8% | 35 – 45 Y.: 3; 10% | older than 45 Y.: 3; 15.4% New employees  GRI 401-1

Country Age 2021 2020 2019
(in years) % % % % % %

Switzerland

 < 25 74 37.9 31 42.2 85 36.9 38 48.4 79 37.3 33 46.8

25 – 35 40 20.7 24 33.3 23 13.3 15 23.3 34 19.5 14 19.5

35 – 45 8 8.0 7 31.8 10 11.2 5 24.4 13 14.3 6 24.0

 > 45 10 28.6 2 16.0 2 6.9 0 0.0 6 19.4 0 0.0

Total 132 25.2 64 35.6 120 23.0 58 33.6 132 26.0 53 30.2

Germany

 < 25 4 47.1 6 50.0 7 22.6 12 50.0 26 78.8 12 51.1

25 – 35 17 19.7 11 16.8 26 28.4 20 29.6 27 32.1 21 32.6

35 – 45 18 23.1 11 24.2 12 18.8 8 25.4 4 6.7 5 16.7

 > 45 11 21.6 0 0.0 6 15.8 3 18.8 4 11.1 3 15.4

Total 50 22.3 28 19.5 51 22.7 43 30.9 61 29.1 41 29.8

mobilezone Group Total 182 24.4 92 28.4 171 22.9 101 32.4 193 26.1 94 30.0

As a result of the sale of mobiletouch austria and  
einsAmobile, the employees of these two  
companies were not taken into account in the tables. The  
employee numbers of powwow were taken into account in 
all three years, although the acquisition took place in 2019, 
in order to ensure comparability of the numbers.

*Temporary contract types include apprentices.

Contract type  GRI 102-8

Country 2021 2020 2019
% % % % % %

Switzerland
temporary* 125 24.1 52 29.7 122 22.9 45 24.7 106 20.9 33 19.9

permanent 393 75.9 123 70.3 411 77.1 137 75.3 402 79.1 133 80.1

Total 518 100 175 100 533 100 182 100 508 100 166 100

Germany
temporary* 4 1.8 3 2.1 9 4.0 6 4.2 18 8.5 18 12.7

permanent 218 98.2 140 97.9 216 96.0 138 95.8 194 91.5 124 87.3

Total 222 100 143 100 225 100 144 100 212 100 142 100

mobilezone Group Total 1 058 employees 1 084 employees 1 028 employees

Country 2021 2020 2019

Switzerland
Total number parental leave claim 5 4 12 7

Total number parental leave taken 5 4 12 7

Return after parental leave to workplace 5 4 7 5

Germany
Total number parental leave claim 5 15 4 7 5 7

Total number parental leave taken 2 15 0 7 2 7
Return after parental leave to workplace 2 3 0 3 2 1

Parental leave GRI 401-3

Parental leave is regulated at the location of the mobilezone  
Group according to the local laws differently. In Switzerland, 
paternal leave has existed since January 2021.

: Men  : Women

% information shows the ratio of new employees during 
the reporting period, according to age group, gender 
and region.
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Code of conduct

Companies are not measured by their financial performance alone. 
They are also judged by how they achieve their results. mobilezone 
wishes its economic success to be in harmony with sustainable and 
responsible business practices. A common value foundation for all 
employees in Switzerland and Germany is essential to achieve this. 
Consequently, mobilezone introduced a new code of conduct bin-
ding for all companies, which is signed with the employment con-
tract. The contents of the code of conduct were repeatedly trained 
in the previous fiscal year in the various departments and business 
units. Furthermore, mobilezone introduced the so-called "ethics 
hotline" group-wide. The goal of this hotline is to be able now 
also to report breaches of the code of conduct anonymously. The  
e-learning announced for 2021 to test the code of conduct will be 
introduced in the fiscal year 2022.

Targets

Great store will be set on training of the code of conduct in  
fiscal year 2022. Every employee is obliged to read the code. In the  
sales organisation in Switzerland, the code of conduct is discussed 
regularly as part of the induction training to ensure that every sales 
employee receives corresponding training. The e-learning relating 
to the code of conduct will be introduced in the fiscal year 2022.

We set ourselves the target in the previous fiscal year 2021 of achie-
ving a value of 10 percent in net turnover in 2021. We did not achie-
ve this target. Since after 2020, the past fiscal year 2021 was also 
influenced by the Covid 19 pandemic, the turnover measured is not 
representative. Consequently, for the fiscal year 2022, we have set 
ourselves the goal of achieving a net turnover between 8 and 12.5 
percent.

We set great store on the balance between men and women in all 
areas of the company. Irrespective of gender, mobilezone appoints 
the best qualified person. We are committed to long-term emplo-
yee promotion and aspire to more balanced diversity at lower ma-
nagement levels. In the previous fiscal year, we recorded a female 
proportion in the lower management of 10.6 percent. We managed 
to increase this in fiscal year 2021. Today, the figure is 16.1 percent. 

We want to increase the number of women in low to 25 percent by 
2025.

Evaluation & outlook

Across the entire mobilezone Group, employee satisfaction is on 
a good level. In 2022, we will take the time to analyse the results 
more precisely and draw the corresponding conclusions. In addi-
tion, we want to collect as much information as possible regarding 
the well-being of our employees. According to the results, we will 
identify our improvement potential and take measures to boost sa-
tisfaction and commitment. 

In the fiscal year 2022, managers will for the first time get emplo-
yee and customer satisfaction targets in this connection, which will 
influence their performance-related remuneration.

Net turnover in the fiscal year 2021 was 12.5 percent and is at the 
same level as in the pre-pandemic year 2019 (12.2 percent). As ma-
kes sense, a reassessment will be made after the pandemic of the 
turnover mobilezone would like to achieve.

In the fiscal year 2021, people from 45 countries were employed at 
the mobilezone Group. This great diversity is what constitutes the 
DNA of mobilezone. Diversity does not just refer to origin, but is 
framed far more broadly. In the long term, we would like to impro-
ve with regard to gender diversity, for example. 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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Country Age 2021 2020 2019
(in years) % % % % % %

Switzerland

 < 25 198 38.2 74 42.3 248 46.5 89 48.9 212 41.7 69 41.6

25 – 35 189 36.5 69 39.4 171 32.1 65 35.7 174 34.3 65 39.2

35 – 45 96 18.5 21 12.0 87 16.3 20 11.0 91 17.9 22 13.3

 > 45 35 6.8 11 6.3 27 5.1 8 4.4 31 6.1 10 6.0

Total 518 100 175 100 533 100 182 100 508 100 166 100

Germany

 < 25 8 3.6 13 9.1 26 11.6 26 18.1 33 15.6 23 16.2

25 – 35 80 36.0 61 42.7 97 43.1 69 47.9 84 39.6 69 48.6

35 – 45 80 36.0 49 34.3 65 28.9 34 23.6 59 27.8 30 21.1

 > 45 54 24.3 20 14.0 37 16.4 15 10.4 36 17.0 20 14.1

Total 222 100 143 100 225 100 144 100 212 100 142 100

mobilezone Group Total 1 058 employees 1 084 employees 1 028 employees

Diversity  GRI 405-1

Part-time/full-time  GRI 102-8

Age structure  GRI 405-1

Position in the 
company

Age 2021 2020
(in years) % % % %

Senior manage-

ment

 < 25 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

25 – 35 0 0.0 0 0.0 2 6.3 1 3.1

35 – 45 6 37.5 0 0.0 16 50.0 1 3.1

 > 45 9 56.3 1 6.3 10 31.3 2 6.3

Total 15 93.7 1 6.3 28 87.5 4 12.5

Lower management

< 25 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

25 – 35 14 16.1 5 5.8 10 21.3 3 6.4

35 – 45 44 50.6 6 6.9 26 55.3 1 2.1

 > 45 15 17.2 3 3.5 6 12.8 1 2.1

Total 73 83.9 14 16.1 42 89.4 5 10.6

Employees

 < 25 105 13.3 44 5.6 176 20.3 81 9.4

25 – 35 243 30.7 118 14.9 251 29.0 128 14.8

35 – 45 126 15.9 64 8.1 110 12.7 52 6.0

 > 45 64 8.1 27 3.4 48 5.5 20 2.3

Total 538 68.0 253 32.0 585 67.6 281 32.4

Trainees/

apprentices

 < 25 101 61.6 43 26.2 98 70.5 34 24.5

25 – 35 12 7.3 7 4.3 5 3.6 2 1.4

35 – 45 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

 > 45 1 0.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

Total 114 69.5 50 30.5 103 74.1 36 25.9

mobilezone Group Total 740 69.9 318 30.1 758 69.9 326 30.1

Gender Workload 2021 2020 2019
Employees % Employees % Employees %

Part-time 29 3.9 41 5.4 57 7.9

Full-time 711 96.1 717 94.6 663 92.1

Total 740 100 758 100 720 100

Part-time 52 16.4 80 24.5 71 23.1

Full-time 266 83.6 246 75.5 237 76.9

Total 318 100 326 100 308 100

mobilezone Group Total 1 058 1 084 1 028

As a result of the sale of mobiletouch austria and  
einsAmobile, the employees of these two companies  
were not taken into account in the tables in order  
to ensure the comparability of the figures.

: Men  : Women

Country 2021 2020 2019

Switzerland
Number of sick days 4 656 4 252 3 581

Ø Number of employees 704 695 676

Sick days per employee 6.6 6.1 5.3

Germany
Number of sick days 3 392 3 287 2 868

Ø Number of employees 367 362 347
Sick days per employee 9.2 9.1 8.3

Sick days
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Customers

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Our actions are focused on our customers. Our activities are accor-
dingly directed to achieve high and sustainable customer satisfac-
tion to uphold customer satisfaction, we have developed measures 
across all touch points, which based on the key figures are intended 
to improve satisfaction and customer retention.

Customer benefit program  
"mobilezone Club"

To address the needs of our customers even better, mobilezone 
Switzerland created the mobilezone Club in 2020. Customers who 
are members of the customer benefit program can enjoy attractive 
price reductions, special offers and prioritisation in the sales start 
of mobile devices. Furthermore, they can collect points, which they 
can once again use for payment – in the shops of mobilezone in 
Switzerland and soon also online. 

In the fiscal year 2021, we set ourselves the target to acquire 
100,000 club customers. We did not achieve this target with about 
75,000 club customers. The second year has served to consolidate 
the existing benefits and other attractiveness enhancement of the 
club program – for example, award of club points has been made 
more transparent, there are now loyalty and birthday gifts for club 
members and special promotions. 

Targets

We believe in the success of the mobilezone Club – accordingly, we 
also believe that we can acquire many customers for this program. 
Therefore, we aspire to increase the customer numbers to 150,000 
active customers for the fiscal year 2022.

We have retained the objective for 2025; by then we want to have 
reached the target of having 40 percent of our customers as mem-
bers of the mobilezone Club.

Training of sales personnel of  
mobilezone Switzerland

Supporting the sales staff in the shops with training courses and 
equipping them as well as possible with knowledge is important 
to mobilezone to ensure customers are satisfied with the advice 
and services of mobilezone and are happy to return. mobilezone 
Switzerland accordingly invests a great deal in the training of its 
sales personnel and therefore introduced the role of trainer for sa-
les personnel "Head of Sales Education" and constantly expanded 
the training offered. Since then, a total of 370 of the sales staff have 
taken part in one of about 76 courses.

The main focus in the store manager courses is on the sales process, 
employee management, organisation and knowledge transfer. To 
ensure salespeople take an interest in the individual needs of cus-
tomers, find the best possible offer for them and as a result are 
able to offer them the best possible customer experience, they are 
constantly trained in various sales processes and the latest trends. 
An e-learning portal ensures that the salespeople are always fully 
informed about new products, services, and rate plans. New sales 
employees are trained with special onboarding courses in the fields 
behaviour/code of conduct, culture and processes. As part of the 
support of new recruits, leading sales employees are trained to re-
cognise and accordingly foster talents early on. 

Moreover, the new position Head of Sales was created in January 
2022. This covers the subjects of performance and talent manage-
ment in all sales regions in Switzerland. Its agenda also includes 
the further development of managers, apart from fostering young 
talents.

Targets

The target is to develop a training concept, which offers compre-
hensive, needs-appropriate training, adjusted to the current circum-
stances. Among other things, this provides for every store manager 
having to attend at least two courses every year.
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Consolidated index of all customer satisfaction surveys 
across the entire mobilezone Group (basis 2018: 100).

2019 2020 2021

Customer satisfaction

105.3103.6 
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Customer satisfaction survey 

mobilezone continually surveys customer satisfaction through polls 
and keeps an eye on area-specific key figures such as the net pro-
moter score (NPS) and customer satisfaction score (CSAT). 

We would like to learn from negative evaluations and therefore ask 
customers why they gave us a negative evaluation. In order to be 
able to offer them the best possible service and a positive customer 
experience, we created the position of associate customer satisfac-
tion in the fiscal year 2021 in Switzerland. This position follows up on 
negative evaluations and collects feedback, evaluates it and reports 
directly to the management. The reporting results in measures for 
improvement. In addition, coaching and training of customer ser-
vice employees were introduced together with call guidelines to 
improve customer service.

The German companies of mobilezone introduced numerous mea-
sures to improve customer service last year. For example, training 
courses for customer service employees were introduced by pro-
fessional trainers and courses for managers in customer service. 
Continuous quality monitoring ensures that customer feedback 
is monitored, evaluated and improvement potential identified to 
further improve customer service. Moreover, the introduction of a 
second level team ensures that more complex customer queries can 
be solved quickly and in a satisfactory manner. 

The subject of customer experience is of great strategic importance 
across mobilezone Group as a whole in order to reinforce trust in 
the company by keeping delivery promises and listening to custo-
mer feedback. 

To make customer feedback measurable, mobilezone has develo-
ped a customer feedback score across the entire Group. This index 
includes various net promoter scores (NPS), customer satisfaction 
scores (CSAT) an online reviews (Trust Pilot and Trusted Shops). The 
results of the different areas are weighed and accumulated based 
on strategic importance. The index began in 2018 with a value of 
100. It is calculated in a comparable manner over several years. 

Targets

The mobilezone Group set itself the target in the fiscal year to im-
prove the customer feedback score 2021 by one unit from 104.2 
to 105.2. mobilezone actually slightly exceeded this target with a 
score of 105.3.

For the fiscal year 2022, the mobilezone Group has set itself the 
goal of improving its customer feedback score to 106.0.

Evaluation & outlook

The index for measuring our customer satisfaction has continued 
to develop positively at a high level since 2018. Our approach of 
ensuring maximum customer satisfaction has proven its value. This 
occurs through continued professional training of our employees 
on the front line and in customer service, early detection and foste-
ring of talents and the further development of managers. The con-
stant optimisation of technical facilities to cater to customers where 
they need it is of great strategic importance. One example is the 
replacement of the telephone system of the customer service of the 
German subsidiary by a highly modern new system, the replace-
ment of the standard chat by a WhatsApp chat and supplementing 
with iMessage in order to encounter customers in their customary 
environment and offer them the opportunity to reply when they 
have time. Moreover, the pandemic and associated chip shortage 
confronted us with new challenges regarding availabilities. To be 
able to deal with these appropriately, heavy investment continues 
to be made in measures regarding availability.
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Smartphone cycle

*Repair ratio: Number of repairs concluded in relation to total repair orders received

Life cycle of a smartphone

Raw material 
extraction

Devices 
manufacture

Design and 
development

Sale in  
shops

Smartphone
use

Return to  
shops

Disassembly and  
recycling

Disposal

Repair  
(mobilezone workshop)

Used smartphones  
(jusit)

The path of a jusit 
smartphone

A smartphone contains 60 different materials, of which 30 are 
different, frequently very valuable metals. Obtaining these raw 
materials is energy-intensive as well as the manufacture and re-
cycling of the devices. In addition, the working conditions in raw 
material extraction and in manufacturing plants can be problema-
tic. Economic handling of resources and materials is correspon-
dingly important. The top priority of the sustainability strategy of 
mobilezone is to exercise influence where we can effect the most: 
in our core business. This includes offers in the field of second life, 
such as repairs and refurbishing smartphones. As a result, it ma-
kes an important contribution to reducing emissions and reducing 
the need for resources.

The return and resale segment of used smartphones refers prima-
rily to Switzerland. mobilezone also takes devices back in Germa-
ny, but on a small scale and with external partners. We will review 
further measures in future.

Sale of used devices 

jusit (get-jusit.ch) is mobilezone brand for used smartphones, laun-
ched in 2020. The devices repurchased on the market are exclu-
sively repaired by certified technicians with original parts, refur-
bished and sold. Since September 2020, jusit devices have been 
sold online at get-jusit.ch and in eleven selected mobilezone shops 
in every language region of Switzerland. We respond to the needs 

of those customers who pay attention to a sustainable life style 
with this product range. Last year, we set ourselves the target that  
1 percent of our smartphones sold are refurbished devices. We even 
slightly exceeded this target with 1.5 percent.

Targets

For the fiscal year 2022, we have set ourselves the target that 1.75 
percent of our smartphones sold are used devices.

By 2025, we want 5 percent of our smartphones sold in Switzer-
land to be refurbished devices. We will remain the number one 
for smartphone repairs in Switzerland, both in the overall market 
and also for every network operator. We aspire to a repair ratio* of  
90 percent in 2022. 

Decentral repair service 

Customers can have their defective smartphone repaired within a 
short period in nine mobilezone workshops in Switzerland We only use 
original parts for the repairs and in this way preserve the manufacturer 
guarantee. Last year, we repaired 9,000 devices in our workshops. Last 
year, we set ourselves the target of repairing 12,000 devices in the local 
workshops – in view of the changing repair market, we did not reach 
this target. We offer an alternative to buying a new device with the 
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GRI 301-3

Number of refurbished smartphones in 
relation to total new smartphones sold

GRI 306-2

Repurchased smartphones in relation 
to total new smartphones sold

GRI 306-1 

Number of successful repairs concluded 
in relation to total of all repair orders

repair facility close to our customers. This reduces the environmental 
burden that would be associated with the production of a new device.

Targets 

We aspire to 10,000 repairs in the mobilezone workshops in 2022.

Returning devices 

We offer our customers various options via our end customer chan-
nels to sell us smartphones they no longer need at trade-in value. 
This return program serves to take back, check, clean, repair and 
then return smartphones to the device cycle. We resell usable de-
vices while old ones or those that can no longer be repaired are 
recycled. We set ourselves the target in the fiscal year 2021 of taking 
back 5 percent of the smartphones we sell annually. In fact, we took 
back 6.4 percent and as a result reached the target. The successful 
returns are also attributable to the fact that mobilezone implemen-
ted various repurchase initiatives.

Targets 

We plan to take back 6.5 percent of the smartphones we sell per 
year in 2022.

Evaluation & outlook 

The materiality analysis developed by mobilezone in summer 2020 
to develop the sustainability strategy indicated that great poten-
tial exists in the field of refurbished smartphones. The past year 
confirmed this impression: the demand for jusit devices is growing 
and as a result the positive influence mobilezone can have on the 
environment. 

The positive development with jusit can serve as an indicator for the 
German market. However, our German companies do not have the 
same infrastructure as in Switzerland regarding shops for returns 
and workshops for refurbishing. 
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Environmental management
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We observe our ecological responsibility and pursue the most ef-
ficient use of resources and energy. We can reduce the associated 
greenhouse gas emissions in this way and protect the climate. The 
biggest ecological impacts are addressed by our offers extending 
the service life of smartphones. In future, we want to draw up a 
more precise evaluation of our resource consumption and reduce 
our ecological footprint. 

Energy management 

By moving from Regensdorf to Rotkreuz in 2018, we managed 
to reduce the electricity consumption of our headquarters by  
30 percent. On the Suurstoffi site in Rotkreuz, use of solar, several 
dynamic geothermal heat reservoirs and an anergy network form 
the basis for achieving the target of CO2 neutrality. The energy 
for heating and cooling is generated by geothermal heat reser-
voirs while the various solar installations provide electricity. The 
target is complete self-sufficiency with primary energy for heating 
and water treatment. 

The location in Urnäsch in Appenzell, which accommodates  
mobilezone business, has had a solar installation since 2017. It has 
40 modules with an output of 12 kWp (kilowatt peak) or 12,000 
watts. Each of the 40 modules can produce up to 300 watts of elec-
tricity. The modules come from Aleo and were made in Germany. 
The annual electricity production is up to 11 MWh.

The location in Bochum is also fitted with a solar system. The system 
was installed in 2014. It has over 180 modules of the CentroSolar  
brand, each with 250 watts output. The total output installed in  
45 kWp (kilowatt peak). The system on Porschestrasse 13 was ins-
talled in 2017 and has 171 Vissmann modules each with 265 watts 
output, corresponding to installed output of 45.3 kWp.

In the fiscal year 2021, the mobilezone Group used a total of 2,635 
MWh of electricity; of this, it was able to cover 85 MWh with its own 
solar installations. As a result, it managed to reduce its electricity 
procurement from other sources by about 3 percent (GRI 302-4).

mobilezone is decentral in organisation, with locations in Germany 
in Cologne, Bochum, Münster and Berlin and in Switzerland in Rot-
kreuz and Urnäsch as well as 124 shop locations in every language 
region of Switzerland. Surveying the electricity data of the shops 
was also regulated centrally in previous years. About 95 percent of 
the electricity consumption was recorded centrally by one external 
provider – in the coming years, all shops are to be recorded and 
evaluated by the same provider.

In this area, we will strive for new measures in the coming years 
in order to be able to define our targets regarding electricity con-
sumption. We managed to fulfil the objective of breaking down the 
electricity mix to the extent that we could identify solar electricity 
and other electricity. 

Targets 

Every PC, monitor and printer consumes 10 watts of electricity in 
standby mode alone annually. There is accordingly great potential 
to sensitising employees to switch off their devices after use at the 
end of the day. For 2022, our aim is for a sensitisation campaign 
regarding electricity consumption at our locations with the target of 
reducing electricity consumption.

Evaluation & outlook 

Due to the decentral structure of mobilezone with numerous loca-
tions in Germany and Switzerland and shops throughout Switzer-
land, an exact survey of the electricity mix is challenging. The goal 
is to achieve central administration of electricity consumption at one 
provider. In addition, we would like to sensitise employees at all lo-
cations to save electricity by switching off monitors, PCs or printers 
after work has finished.
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GRI contents index
 
This report is the third sustainability report of mobilezone holding ag. It is the second report drawn up in accordance with the GRI Stan-
dard: option "Core". This report covers all business segments of the mobilezone Group in Switzerland and Germany. 

The reporting period covers the period from 1 January to 31 December 2021. The environmental key figures refer to the period  
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021. The mobilezone Group informs its stakeholders annually about its activities and progress in the field 
of sustainability; the reporting occurs annually as part of the Annual Report. This report was drawn up in compliance with the GRI Stan-
dards: option "Core". The report is available in German and English  The sustainability report of the mobilezone Group is not subjected to 
any external assurance.

An overview of the standards selected and corresponding references can be found in the following GRI index. 

Contact for questions about the Sustainability Report: Markus Bernhard, CEO mobilezone Group, Martina Högger, Sustainability Manager 
at mobilezoneholding@mobilezone.ch.

GRI Standard Title Remarks & omissions Page
1 Organisational profile

GRI 102 General information 
102-1 Name of the organization 53
102-2 Activities, brands, products and services 21–28, 

27, 28
102-3 Location of headquarters 21
102-4 Location of operations 53
102-5 Ownership and legal form 53–55
102-6 Markets served 21–28
102-7 Scale of the organisation 21, 53 
102-8 Information on employees and other workers d.  The mobilezone Group does not employ any external temporary  

workers on a significant scale. 
e. The workforce is not subject to any significant seasonal turnover.

39

102-9 Supply chain 44
102-10 Significant changes in the organisation and its 

supply chain
mobilezone sold 75 percent of its shares in einsAmobile GmbH  
in the reporting year. 

53

102-11 Precautionary principle or approach / sustainabili-
ty approach

31–34

102-12 External initiatives None
102-13 Membership of associations and interest groups mobilezone is a member of SWICO, the business association of the ICT and 

online sector.

2. Strategy
102-14 Statement from senior decision maker 31

3 Ethics and integrity
102-16 Values, principles, standards and norms of 

behaviour
Code https://www.mobilezone.ch/assets/cms/persistent/3bfee6c7f0fdc6f65aa
b344c7232cf173b64ea65/Code%20of%20Conduct_2021_de.pdf

4. Company management
102-18 Governance structure 55–59

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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5. Integration of stakeholders
102-40 List of stakeholder groups 32, 34
102-41 Collective bargaining agreements mobilezone does not have any employees subject to a collective bargaining 

agreement.
102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders 32
102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 34
102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 32, 34

6 Procedure in reporting
102-45 Entities included in the consolidated financial 

statements
79

102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries 32, 34

102-47 List of material topics 32, 34

102-48 Restatements of information Recalculation of key figure "Customer satisfaction index": Calculation of the 
customer satisfaction index is based on various net promoter scores (NPS), 
customer satisfaction scores (CSAT) and online reviews (Trust Pilot and Trusted 
Shops). These key figures are weighed and accumulated based on strategic 
importance. The weighting was modified in the fiscal year 2021, because the 
strategic importance of our business units changed.

42, 43

Modification figures "Successful repairs" The figures were retrospectively 
corrected because the data base was modified. 

45

The survey of diversity figures in senior management was corrected: The Board of 
Directors was also included in the survey last year. This has now been eliminated, 
since the members of the Board of Directors do not count as employees, but are 
rather executive bodies of the company. The definition according to which 
employees belong to senior management was likewise modified, which is why 
there is a change among women from four to one person.

41

102-49 Changes in reporting Adoption of the voluntary GRI Standard 401-3 "Parental leave". 39
102-50 Reporting period 48
102-51 Date of most recent report 8. March 2021 48–50
102-52 Reporting cycle 48–50
102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report 31, 

48–50
102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance  

with GRI Standards
48–50

102-55 GRI content index 48–50
102-56 External assurance The sustainability report of the  

mobilezone Group is not subjected to any  
external assurance. 

48
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Employees

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its boundary 37–41
103-2 The management approach and its components 37–41
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 37–41
401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover 39
401-3 Parental leave 39
405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 41, 55, 

58

Customers
103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its boundary 42, 43
103-2 The management approach and its components 42, 43
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 42, 43

Own indicator: Customer satisfaction index Voluntary supplement to the GRI Standards 42, 43
 
Smartphone cycle

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its boundary 44, 45
103-2 The management approach and its components 44, 45
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 44, 45
301-3 Reclaimed products and their packaging materials After taking the size of the effects into account, we only report on repurchased, 

reprocessed and sold smartphones, but not on packaging.
44, 45

 
Environmental management

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its boundary 46, 47
103-2 The management approach and its components 46, 47
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 46, 47
302-4 Reduction of energy consumption 46

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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Nikolina Zunic
Sales consultant,  
has been with mobilezone Switzerland for 1 year

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

I work at mobilezone because of the many different opportunities 
we have here as employees. What I particularly like is the familial 
approach in the team. 

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

Our loyal customers are what distinguishes us. That's why  
I can identify with the company mobilezone without  
any reservations. 

Stephanie Hunziker
Regional sales manager,  
has been with mobilezone Switzerland for 12.5 years

Why do you work for mobilezone? 

The reason why I have been an employee for many years are  
what I see as the great development possibilities that I've always 
experienced within mobilezone.

What is special about mobilezone for you? 

Apart from a young and modern management structure with short 
decision-making processes, I consider mobilezone as a company 
to be very innovative. 
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Corporate Governance

The principles and provisions of the corporate governance are recorded in the statutes and organisational regulations of the mobilezone 
holding ag. The information published corresponds to the corporate governance guidelines of the SIX Swiss Exchange and valid disclo-
sure provisions of the Swiss Code of Obligations. The balance sheet date is December 31, 2021, unless otherwise indicated.

 
1 Group structure and shareholders

1.1 Group structure 
The mobilezone Group consists of two business areas Germany and Switzerland. The mobilezone holding ag, Suurstoffi 22, CH-6343 
Rotkreuz/Switzerland, the parent company of the Group, is a joint stock company under Swiss law. It is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, 
in the domestic segment (security: 27683769, ISIN: CH0276837694). The stock market capitalisation on 31 December 2021 was CHF 610 
million. The main consolidated companies of the Group are:

 
Company, registered office Country Currency Share capital  

(000)  
Group share

       2021        2020 

Segment

mobilezone ag, Rotkreuz CH CHF 2 850 100% 100% CH
mobilezone reload ag, Rotkreuz¹ CH CHF 100 100% 100% CH
TalkTalk AG, Rotkreuz CH CHF 100 100% 100% CH
IT Business Services GmbH, Rotkreuz CH CHF 40 100% 100% CH
mobilezone Deutschland GmbH, Cologne GER EUR 25 100% 100% GER
mobilezone handel GmbH, Bochum GER EUR 25 100% 100% GER
powwow GmbH, Cologne GER EUR 778 100% 100% GER
powwow Berlin GmbH, Bochum GER EUR 25 100% 100% GER
Bonamic GmbH, Bochum² GER EUR 250 32% 49% GER
einsAmobile GmbH, Obertshausen³ GER EUR 50 25% 100% GER
mobilit AG, Rotkreuz⁴ CH CHF 100 n.a. 100% CH
mobiletouch austria gmbH, Vienna⁵ AUT EUR 35 n.a. n.a. CH
sparstrom Energievertriebs GmbH, Cologne⁶ GER EUR 100 n.a. n.a. GER

¹  mobiletouch ag was renamed mobilezone reload ag on 15 February 2022.
² As a result of a capital increase, the share in Bonamic GmbH has fallen to 32.39 percent.
³  75 percent of the share in einsAmobile GmbH was sold in January 2021. 
⁴ mobilit ag merged in January 2021 with IT Business Services GmbH.
⁵ mobiletouch austria gmbH was sold in December 2020.
⁶   sparstrom Energievertriebs  GmbH was sold in December 2020.

1.2 Significant shareholders
The following significant shareholders and shareholder groups were listed with a share of more than three percent of the capital or voting 
rights in the share register on 31 December 2021:

2021 2020
Credit Suisse Funds AG, Zurich¹ 4.74% 7.11%
Haubrich GmbH, Dusseldorf ²,³ 5.00% 5.00%
UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG, Basel¹ 3.88% 3.88%
Wilke Stroman, Cologne ² n.a.% 4.99%

¹  The number of participation shares noted in the last disclosure notice have been converted based on the number of shares outstanding as of the balance sheet date of  
December 31.

²  Wilke Stroman and Haubrich GmbH own shares that are subject to a joint lock-up agreement until 17 June 2022. They form a shareholder group with 2,233,188 shares  
(4.99 percent).

³  Formerly Haubrich Zentrale GmbH & Co. KG
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The disclosures regarding shareholdings in mobilezone holding ag are published on the electronic platform of the SIX Swiss Exchange 
and can be retrieved via the Disclosure Office’s search screen at the following web link:  
https://www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifications-market-participants/significant-shareholders.html#/

To our knowledge there is no shareholder’s agreement between the significant shareholders.

1.3 Cross-shareholdings
To our knowledge, there are no cross-shareholdings.

 
2. Capital structure 

2.1 Capital
The share capital consists of 44,781,213 registered shares at a par value of CHF 0.01 each. All registered share are fully paid up and listed 
on the SIX Swiss Exchange.

2.2 Authorised and conditional capital 
At the annual General Meeting on 8 April 2020, the shareholders approved the creation of authorized capital in the maximum amount of 
CHF 40,000 by issuing up to 4,000,000 fully paid registered shares with a par value of 1 Rp. each by 7 April 2022, at the latest. 

There is no conditional share capital.

2.3 Capital changes
A share buyback program was launched on 18 November 2021, which was successfully concluded on 3 February 2022. 781,213 registered 
shares were bought back at an average price of CHF 13.70 per share for CHF 10.7 million in total, corresponding to 1.74 percent of the 
share capital listed in the commercial register at this time. The registered shares were repurchased on a separate trading line on the SIX 
Swiss Exchange for capital reduction. The General Meeting on 6 April 2022 will be asked to carry out a capital reduction to the amount of 
the repurchased shares and to destroy the shares.

The other capital changes made in 2020 and 2021 are listed in the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders' equity on page 75 
of this report, and those of 2019 listed on page 53 of the 2019 annual report.

2.4 Shares and participation certificates
As of 31 December 2021, there were 44,781,213 registered shares at a par value of CHF 0.01. Of these, 583,442 (previous year: 70,000) are 
treasury shares. Treasury shares do not have any dividend or voting rights. All other shares are entitled to dividends and voting. There are 
no participation certificates.

2.5 Profit-sharing certificates
There are no profit-sharing certificates.

2.6 Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations
The transferability of the registered shares is not limited.

Nominee shareholders are registered in the share register without voting rights. There are no agreements with nominee shareholders 
regarding registration requirements.
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2.7 Convertible bonds and options
As of the balance sheet date, there were no convertible bonds outstanding. 

On 29 December 2017, the Board of Directors adopted a long-term incentive program (LTI) for the management. The individual alloca-
tion by the Board of Directors was based on the option plan regulations of mobilezone holding ag. The first distribution in the amount 
of 380,000 options took place on 29 June 2018. The options have a term of seven years with a vesting period of three years; they were 
distributed at 10 percent above the average closing share price after dividend payment (10 April 2018) until 29 June 2018, with an exercise 
price of CHF 12.19 per share.

On 21 August 2019, the Board of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 85,000 options. The options have a term of seven years 
with a vesting period of three years; they were distributed at 10 percent above the average closing share price of the period 28 May to  
21 August 2019 with an exercise price of CHF 10.61 per share.

On 19 August 2020, the Board of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 220,000 options. The options have a term of seven years 
with a vesting period of three years and an exercise price of CHF 8.13. The exercise price is calculated from the higher price based on 
the average closing share price in the period from 26 May to 18 August 2020 at CHF 7.90 and a closing share price of 19 August 2020 of  
CHF 8.13. 

On 7 June 2021, the Board of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 354,000 options. The options have a term of seven years with 
a vesting period of three years and an exercise price of CHF 11.31. The exercise price is calculated from the higher price, based on the ave-
rage closing share price in the period from 10 March 2021 to 7 June 2021 of CHF 11.31 and a closing share price of 7 June 2021 of CHF 11.81. 

 
3 Board of Directors

3.1 Members of the Board of Directors
On December 31, 2021, the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag consisted of four non-executive members. It is composed of inde-
pendent members. No member of the Board of Directors has management tasks within the Group. mobilezone follows the definition of the 
independence criteria of the "Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance" of economiesuisse.

Name Function Nomination

Olaf Swantee Chairman, independent 2021

Gabriela Theus Member, independent 2018

Peter K. Neuenschwander Member, independent 2019

Michael Haubrich Member, independent 2020

Michael HaubrichGabriela TheusOlaf Swantee Peter K. Neuenschwander
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Olaf Swantee

Olaf Swantee (1966, Swiss/Dutch) has comprehensive international experience in the management and control of major companies: He is 
in particular distinguished by his consolidation and integration experience in the telecommunications and IT sector. As CEO of Sunrise 
Communications from 2016 to 2020, the company became more dynamic in Switzerland. During his period of office as CEO of EE, Olaf 
Swantee successfully merged Orange and T-Mobile in the United Kingdom. Between 2007 and 2011, he worked in senior positions at 
France Telecom (now Orange Group), among other things as head of the European mobile communications and fixed line business. Cur-
rently, he is exercising a mandate in the private equity company Warburg Pincus in the field of telecommunications. As part of this man-
date, he has been Chairman of the Board of Directors of Community Fibre in London. Olaf Swantee studied economics and obtained an 
MBA at the ESCP in Paris. 

Gabriela Theus

Gabriela Theus (1973, Swiss) joined mobilezone Group’s Board of Directors in April 2018. After obtaining a degree in Economics at Univer-
sity of St. Gallen, she worked from 1999 on as a consultant at Knorr Capital Partner and then at Ernst & Young and Sal. Oppenheim in the 
real estate sector, before moving to Zug Estates Holding AG as CFO. Since September 2017, she has been managing director of the Im-
mofonds Asset Management AG in Zurich.

Peter K. Neuenschwander

Dr iur Peter K. Neuenschwander (1956, Swiss) has been a member of the Board of Directors of mobilezone Group since 2019. After studying 
in Zurich and being admitted to the bar, he joined the legal department of a leading global IT company in 1986, where he worked for  
13 years as legal consultant. There he was finally responsible as Legal Counsel Europe for providing legal consultation for European sales. 
Since 1998, he has had his own law practice (Suffert Neuenschwander & Partner) specializing in information technology law, telecommu-
nications law, and distribution law. For several years, he was lecturer for intellectual property and information technology law at the HWZ 
Hochschule für Wirtschaft, Zurich. He is on the Board of Directors of various companies that are not listed on the stock exchange. 

Michael Haubrich

Michael Haubrich (1978, German) has been a member of the Board of Directors of mobilezone Group since 2020. After studying econo-
mics at WHU in Vallendar / Koblenz and at the London School of Economics, he worked as business consultant at McKinsey Budapest from 
2004 to 2009. From 2010 to 2019, he was CFO of the ElectronicPartner Group before switching there to the Board of Directors in 2019. In 
addition, he has been a member of the Supervisory Board of notebooksbilliger.de AG and Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO 
of Haubrich Holding SE.

 
3.2 Other activities and vested interests
Information about other activities and vested interests of the members of the Board of Directors can be viewed on the website at:  
www.mobilezoneholding.ch/en/about-us/organization/board-of-directors.html

3.3 Cross-involvement
There is no cross-involvement with the boards of other companies listed on the stock exchange.

3.4 Elections and terms of office
The Board of Directors is elected individually by the General Meeting for a one-year term. Re-election is possible.

3.5 Meetings of the Board of Directors
Olaf Swantee is Chairman of the Board of Directors, Gabriela Theus, Peter K. Neuenschwander and Michael Haubrich are members of the 
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors meets as often as required by business. Last year, a total of seven Board of Directors' meetings took 
place. Of these, one was held as a video conference. The meetings lasted between one and five hours. All members were present at all mee-
tings. Usually, the CEO and CFO attend these meetings in addition. Other members of the Group Management, members of the manage-
ment teams, employees, or third parties are brought in as needed.
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3.6 Audit Committee
Gabriela Theus chairs the committee, and Olaf Swantee  is a member of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee meets as often as busi-
ness requires. Three meetings and a video conference were carried out in the reporting year. Both members were present for the meetings 
and the telephone conference. The meetings lasted two to four hours each. Usually, the CEO and CFO attend these meetings and telephone 
conferences. Other members of the Group Management, members of the management teams, employees, the auditor or third parties are 
brought in as needed.

3.7 Nomination & Compensation Committee
Olaf Swantee is the Chairman, and Michael Haubrich and Peter K. Neuenschwander are members of the Nomination & Compensation Com-
mittee. The Nomination & Compensation Committee meets as often as business requires. In the reporting year, five meetings were held. All 
members were present at all meetings. The meetings lasted one to three hours.

3.8 Definition of areas of responsibility
To the extent allowed by law, the Board of Directors has delegated managerial functions to the Group Management. The breakdown of 
tasks and competencies is established in the organizational regulations. They can be viewed at any time on the website at:  
https://www.mobilezoneholding.ch/en/investors-1/downloads-for-investors.html

3.9 Information and control instruments vis-à-vis the Group management
Each member of the Board of Directors has the right to be informed about the course of business by the Group Management and about 
individual transactions. The information and control tools the Board of Directors uses vis-à-vis the Group Management include in particular 
the following:

• Consolidated budget (annual)  
• Quarterly reports with prior-year comparison  
• Profit and loss forecast (beginning in the 3rd quarter)  
• KPI reporting (monthly)  
• Financial projections (half-yearly)  
• Detailed monthly reports of the Group Management on the course of business

As the parent company of the mobilezone Group companies, mobilezone holding ag is fully involved in the risk assessment process across 
all Group companies. The risk assessment process is integrated into the Group’s annual strategy process. The aim is not to avoid all risk 
but rather to create options that are intended to help the Group companies to consistently take advantage of existing opportunities and to 
increase their business success. Risk management supports the companies in reaching their business goals by providing transparency 
regarding the risk situation (as a basis for strategic and operative decisions), by recognizing potential threats to the Group’s net assets, fi-
nancial position, and profit situation, and by taking measures to limit risks to an acceptable level. As part of this risk assessment process, 
the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag is kept informed about any observed risks and opportunities. 

 
3.10 Mandates outside of mobilezone Group
Members of the Board of Directors may hold no more than five additional directorships in other publicly listed companies and no more than 
ten additional directorships in other companies not listed on the stock exchange. 

3.11 Changes in the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors will propose Dr Lea Sonderegger (1981, Austria) for election to Board of Directors in addition to the General Meeting 
of 6 April 2022.
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4. Group Management

4.1 Members of the Group management
On 31 December 2021, mobilezone holding ag’s Group Management was made up of five members.

Name Function in the Group since in this function since

Markus Bernhard CEO 2007 2014

Andreas Fecker CFO 2007 2014

Roger Wassmer CEO Switzerland 2014 2020

Wilke Stroman CEO Germany 2019 2020

Jens Barth¹ CDO 2019 2021

¹ Jens Barth to 30 April 2022

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Andreas Fecker 
CFO

Markus Bernhard 
CEO

Roger Wassmer  
CEO Switzerland

Markus Bernhard

Markus Bernhard (1964, Swiss) has led mobilezone Group as its CEO since 2014. From 2007 to 2013 he was  
mobilezone Group’s CFO. Following his graduation from the University of St. Gallen (HSG St. Gallen) with a degree 
in economics, Markus Bernhard received his diploma as a certified public accountant. From 1991 to 1997, he worked 
as an auditor at Revisuisse Price Waterhouse AG in Zurich. He was CFO of Cope Inc. in Rotkreuz until 2000 and sub-
sequently was CFO of Mount10 Holding AG, also in Rotkreuz. In addition, since 2020 he has been member of the 
Board of Directors and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Valora Holding AG.

Andreas Fecker 

Andreas Fecker (1972, Swiss) has been a member of the management of the mobilezone Group as CFO since 2014. 
From 2008 to 2013, he was Head of Finance & Controlling of mobilezone Group. Prior to that he held the position 
of financial controller at Mount10 Holding AG from 2000 until 2005. Subsequently he served for several years as 
controller at Zeppelin International AG and Franke Management AG. After a Swiss Federal Diploma in Finance 
and Accounting, he obtained a Master’s degree in Advanced Studies in Controlling from the Lucerne University of 
Applied Sciences in 2013.

Roger Wassmer

Roger Wassmer (1973, Swiss) has been in charge of the Swiss business of the mobilezone Group since 2020. Before 
this, he was COO Switzerland and Austria from 2017 to 2019 and was in addition responsible for the service busi-
ness. Prior to that, starting in 2014, he headed mobiletouch Switzerland as managing director and from 2015 also  
mobiletouch austria. He previously worked at Publimedia and EurotaxGlass’s as Sales and Marketing Manager and 
was also CEO of OmniMedia AG and Managing Director of Car4you. From 2012 to 2014, Roger Wassmer was Coun-
try Manager for zanox Switzerland AG. After further education to earn federal qualification as marketing director, 
Roger Wassmer earned his Executive MBA degree. 
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Wilke Stroman

Wilke Stroman (1980, German) has been in charge of the German business of the mobilezone Group since January 
2020 as CEO Germany. In addition, he is Co-CEO of powwow. He established the online portal sparhandy.de in 
2000 as a sideline to his training as bank clerk in East Frisia. After successful completion of his training, he initially 
worked in the banking sector in London before relocating with his company to Cologne. 

Jens Barth

Jens Barth (1972, German) joined Sparhandy in 2015. From 2016, he was managing director of the  powwow pre-
decessor company “SH Telekommunikation Deutschland GmbH.” He has been managing director and co-CEO of 
powwow since the beginning of 2020. In his role as CDO, he will press ahead with the Group’s digital strategy. 
Jens Barth worked at different telecommunications companies before starting with mobilezone/powwow, including 
Carphone Warehouse, Telefónica and Vodafone.

Wilke Stroman 
 CEO Germany

Jens Barth  
CDO

4.2 Other activities and vested interests
Information about other activities and vested interests of the members of the Group Management can be viewed on the website at:  
https://www.mobilezoneholding.ch/en/about-us/organization/group-management.html.

4.3 Mandates outside of mobilezone Group
No member of the Executive Board may hold more than two mandates in listed companies and more than four mandates in non-listed 
companies. 

4.4 Management contracts
There are no management contracts regarding the transfer of managerial functions to third parties.

4.5 Changes in the Group Management
Jens Barth, CDO of the Group, leaves the Group Management on 30 April 2022.
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5. Shareholders’ participation rights

5.1 Restrictions on voting rights and representation
Each share entitles the holder to one vote at the General Meeting. Voting rights may only be exercised by shareholders registered with 
voting rights in the share register. There are no restrictions on voting rights, and the rules in the Articles of Association regarding partici-
pation at the General Meeting of Shareholders do not deviate from those mandated by law.

5.2 Statutory quorums
The General Meeting passes resolutions and conducts votes by an absolute majority of the shareholders' votes cast unless mandatory 
statutory regulations or the provisions of the Articles of Association dictate otherwise. Abstentions, blank votes, and invalid votes shall not 
be counted as votes cast.  

If none of the candidates standing for election is able to obtain an absolute majority of the votes in the first ballot, a second ballot shall be 
held. In the second ballot, the relative majority of votes is decisive.

Pursuant to Article 13 of the Articles of Association, the following decisions require at least two-thirds of the votes represented and the 
absolute majority of the nominal share value represented: 

• changing the purpose of the company;
• creating voting shares;
• restricting the transferability of registered shares;
• an authorised or conditional capital increase;
•  the capital increase from equity, against contribution in kind or for the purpose of acquisition of assets  

and the granting of special benefits;
• limiting or cancelling shareholders’ subscription rights;
• the transfer of the company's registered office;
•  the delisting of the Company's shares from the SIX Swiss Exchange or its  

successor organisation;
•  the dissolution of the company without liquidation.

There are no rules that deviate from those mandated by law.

5.3 Convocation of the General Meeting of Shareholders
The invitation to the annual General Meeting or extraordinary General Meeting is issued at least 20 days before the meeting through pu-
blication in the Schweizerische Handelsamtsblatt (SHAB – Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce). The registered shareholders listed in the 
share register may also be sent an invitation letter. The invitation shall announce that the annual report, the auditors' report, and the com-
pensation report will be available for inspection by the shareholders at the company's headquarters at least 20 days before the annual Ge-
neral Meeting and that upon request a copy of these documents will be sent to any shareholder. No resolutions can be passed on matters 
not announced in this way except by means of an application to convene an extraordinary General Meeting or to conduct a special audit.

5.4 Agenda
Shareholders representing shares of at least 2 percent of the share capital may request to have a subject for discussion placed on the 
agenda for the General Meeting. The relevant request for items to be placed on the agenda must be received by the Company in writing 
at least 45 days prior to the meeting, stating the items to be discussed and the motions.
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5.5 Registration in the share register
Voting rights may only be exercised by shareholders and beneficiaries who are registered in the mobilezone holding ag share register 
with voting rights. To be registered as a shareholder with voting right requires a declaration on the part of the shareholder that the mo-
bilezone holding ag shares were acquired in the shareholder’s own name and on the shareholder’s own account. The Board of Directors 
may refuse recognition and registration as shareholder with voting rights if said registration was based on false information provided by 
the share purchaser.

5.6 Proxy voting / electronic participation in the General Meeting
Each shareholder may be represented by a third party who is not required to be a shareholder and who is authorised in writing, or by the 
independent voting proxy. Shareholders may also authorise and instruct the independent voting proxy electronically, whereby the Board 
of Directors determine the modalities. The members of the Board of Directors present at the General Meeting shall decide whether to 
recognize or reject the proxy. Additional information on provisions regarding voting instructions to the Independent Proxy as well as on 
electronic participation in the General Meeting will be set forth in the invitation to the General Meeting.

 
6. Changes of control and defence measures

6.1 Duty to make an offer
There is no opting-out regulation.

6.2 Clauses regarding change of control
There are no change-of-control clauses.

 
7. Auditor

7.1 Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor
Since fiscal year 2021, BDO AG has been the auditor of mobilezone holding ag and all its Group companies to be audited. Prior to that 
year, PricewaterhouseCoopers AG served for seven years as the company’s auditor. The auditor is chosen annually by the General Mee-
ting. The lead auditor since fiscal year 2021 is Reto Frey. 

7.2 Audit fees
The auditing fees agreed on with the auditors for the fulfilment of their statutory mandate, including auditing the consolidated accounts, 
amount to a total of CHF 270,000.

7.3 Additional fees
In the reporting year BDO submitted invoices in the amount of CHF 33,000 for additional services beyond the scope of the auditors‘ 
statutory mandate. These fees were chiefly for services in connection with tax advice.

7.4 Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit
The auditors attend at last one meeting of the Audit Committee every year, usually they attend at least the final discussion of the audit. The 
auditors present the findings from their audit in an audit report to the Board of Directors.
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8. Blackout periods

Until the announcement of market-relevant information of or projects and up to their publication ("blackout periods"), the Board of Di-
rectors, Group Management and Executive Management as well as persons with direct access to insider information are prohibited from 
carrying out transactions with participation rights or other financial instruments of mobilezone holding ag. The regularly recurring blackout 
periods in connection with financial reporting are listed below:

•  Annual financial statements: first trading day after 31 December of every year until publication of the Annual Report
•  Half-year report: first trading day after 30 June of every year until publication of the half-year report

The CFO reminds the persons affected in each case in writing at the beginning and end of the normal blocking period.

9. Information policy

Pursuant to the rules of Swiss GAAP FER, mobilezone Group publishes each year in March and August an annual and a half-year report on 
business performance. All publications are made available in electronic form and are published on the Group’s website. Upon request, the 
annual report and the half-year report are made available in print. Additional information on important changes and essential business acti-
vities is published on an ad-hoc basis. All information, including publication dates and a list of contact addresses, is available on the website at  
www.mobilezoneholding.ch under "Investors". Anyone who wishes to receive all of mobilezone’s media information automatically can 
register at: www.mobilezoneholding.ch/en/investors-1/subscription-press-and-financial-releases.html

For 2022 the following important dates have been set: 

Publication of the 2021 annual report 11 March 2022
Video conference for investors, media and analysts 11 March 2022
General Meeting 2022 6 April 2022
Publication of the 2022 half-year report 19 August 2022
Video conference for investors, media and analysts 19 August 2022
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1.  Introduction

In compliance with the statutory provisions (Code of Obligations, Ordinance against Excessive Compensation of Listed Companies [Ver-
ordnung gegen übermässige Vergütungen bei börsenkotierten Aktiengesellschaften, VegüV], and the SIX Swiss Exchange listing rules) 
and the Articles of Association, the current compensation report sets forth the compensation policy for mobilezone Group’s Board of 
Directors and Group Management. In addition, the compensation of the reporting year and each member’s share and option portfolio 
are reported.

mobilezone pursues a profit- and performance-based and transparent compensation policy that is oriented toward the company’s long-
term growth and success. Accordingly, the members of the Group Management receive the part of their compensation that is dependent 
on the net profit/EBIT (previous year: EBIT) in shares of mobilezone holding ag that are subject to a blocking period of three years.

 
2.  Authority and determination of compensation

2.1 General
The articles of association stipulate that the Board of Directors will submit to the General Meeting for its approval the maximum total 
amount of compensation for the Board of Directors for the subsequent term of office. If unforeseeable events result in extraordinary de-
mands made on the members of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors may submit different or additional proposals regarding 
the same or other time periods to the General Meeting for its approval.

The members of the Group Management receive a fixed compensation in cash, one dependent on net profit/EBIT (previous year: EBIT)
in shares as well as a performance-based compensation in cash (STI). Long-term compensation (LTI) is paid in options and in cash. At its 
December meeting the Nomination & Compensation Committee discusses any adjustments of the Group Management‘s compensation 
for the following year and proposes them to the Board of Directors. The CEO participates as guest without voting rights in the discussions 
regarding the other members of the Group Management. The CEO is not present for the discussion of the CEO‘s own compensation. The 
Nomination & Compensation Committee evaluates whether the Group Management objectives were achieved and presents recommen-
dations to the Board of Directors. Based on the individual agreements on objectives of the other members of the Group Management, 
the CEO proposes to the Nomination & Compensation Committee that the objectives for the performance-based compensation in cash 
have been achieved as part of the STI. The CEO is not present when the CEO‘s own performance and performance-based compensation 
are evaluated. 

2.2 Board of Directors
The members of the Board of Directors receive a fixed compensation in cash that is not dependent on profit. The compensation amounts 
to CHF 130,000 (previous year: CHF 130,000) for the Chairman of the Board of Directors and CHF 75,000 (previous year: CHF 75,000) for 
the other members of the Board of Directors. The chair of a committee is compensated with CHF 20,000 (previous year: CHF 20,000) and 
membership with CHF 10,000 (previous year: CHF 10,000).

REMUNERATION REPORT

Remuneration report
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2.3 Group management
The compensation of the members of the Group Management consists of a fixed compensation in cash and a variable compensation. The 
variable compensation consists of a short-term incentive (STI) dependent on net profit/EBIT (previous year: EBIT) in cash and in shares 
of mobilezone holding ag with a blocking period of three years and a performance-related compensation in cash. The compensation as 
long term incentive (LTI) includes the assignment of options and compensation in cash. The other benefits include employer contributions 
to the pension fund, social security and personnel insurance as well as non-monetary benefits.

The compensation of the Group Management for fiscal year 2021 and 2020 is within the maximum permissible bounds approved by the 
General Meeting.
 

(CHF 000) Approved Achieved Utilization

Fiscal year 2021 4 300 3 743 87 %
Fiscal year 2020 4 800 3 242 68 %

The Board of Directors will ask the General Meeting 2022 to approve the maximum permissible total compensation of the Group Manage-
ment amounting to CHF 4.3 million (previous year: CHF 4.3 million) for fiscal year 2023.

2.3.1 Fixed compensation
The fixed compensation and the target annual salary of the members of the Group Management are proposed and reviewed by the Nomina-
tion & Compensation Committee to the Board of Directors in December and are reviewed with due consideration of the budget adopted and 
the experience and skills of the Group Management member concerned. The actual fixed compensation in the reporting year amounted to  
CHF 1,501,000 (previous year: CHF 2,018,000).

2.3.2 Short term incentive 

2.3.2.1 Net profit-/EBIT-dependent (previous year: EBIT) compensation in shares and cash
The budget 2021 passed in December 2020 by the Board of Directors was the foundation for 100 percent achievement of objectives. In the 
reporting year, the budget for 100 percent achievement of the objectives amounted to a net profit of CHF 38.5 million. The target range 
was defined by the lower limit of a net profit of CHF 31 million and the upper limit of CHF 46 million. By achieving CHF 50.7 million net 
profit and as a result the upper limit of CHF 46 million, the net profit-dependent compensation in blocked shares and in cash was doubled 
in the reporting year to 200 percent. This upper limit cannot be exceeded. In the event of a net profit below CHF 31 million, no variable 
compensation in shares or in cash would have been paid dependent on net profit.

Straight-line adjustment of net profit-dependent achievement of objectives: 

Target achievement Net profit (CHF 000) Remarks
0 percent up to 31 000 Entry barrier
50 percent 34 750
100 percent 38 500 Target goal
150 percent 42 250
200 percent from 46 000 Upper limit

Maximum 50 percent (previous year: 100 percent) of net profit-dependent compensation paid in shares.

The two CEOs Germany and Switzerland have an additional country-EBIT dependent compensation, which is paid in shares/cash.

The total number of shares allotted is calculated on the basis of the average mobilezone share closing price on the 20 trading days pre-
ceding the December budget meeting of the Board of Directors for the following fiscal year. For reporting year , the compensation was 
converted into shares at the calculated average share price of CHF 13.01. 
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2.3.2.2 Performance-based compensation in cash
The performance-based compensation in cash is dependent on whether the individual objectives of the members of the Group Manage-
ment have been achieved over the course of a one-year period. These objectives, their weighting, and the amount are proposed annually 
in December by the Nomination & Compensation Committee for the following year and are approved by the Board of Directors. The 
individual objectives can be achieved to a maximum of 100 percent. 

In the reporting year, the short term incentive compensation (dependent on net profit/EBIT and the achievement of individual targets) 
ranged between 70 and 124 percent (previous year: 0 and 81 percent) of fixed compensation in cash. In this regard, the share of net profit/
EBIT targets within the STI targets lay between 77 and 92 percent and the share for the performance objectives between 8 and 23 percent 
of the fixed compensation in cash. 

2.3.3 Long term incentive
On 29 December 2017, the Board of Directors adopted a long-term incentive program (LTI) for the management. The long-term incentive 
program involves equity instruments (equity-settled plan). 

The first distribution in the amount of 380,000 options took place on 29 June 2018. The options have a term of seven years with a vesting 
period of three years; they were distributed at 10 percent above the average closing share price after dividend payment (10 April 2018) 
until 29 June 2018, with an exercise price of CHF 12.19 per share.

On 21 August 2019, the Board of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 85,000 options. The options have a term of seven years 
with a vesting period of three years; they were distributed at 10 percent above the average closing share price of the period 28 May to 21 
August 2019 with an exercise price of CHF 10.61 per share.

On 19 August 2020, the Board of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 220,000 options. The options have a term of seven years 
with a vesting period of three years and an exercise price of CHF 8.13. The exercise price is calculated from the higher price based on the 
average closing share price in the period from 26 May to 18 August 2020 at CHF 7.90 and a closing share price of 19 August 2020 of CHF 
8.13. 

On 7 June 2021, the Board of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 354,000 options. The options have a term of seven years with 
a vesting period of three years and an exercise price of CHF 11.31. The exercise price is calculated from the higher price, based on the ave-
rage closing share price in the period from 10 March 2021 to 7 June 2021 of CHF 11.31 and a closing share price of 7 June 2021 of CHF 11.81.

On 20 January 2021, the Board of Directors approved an LTI program for the CEO for a term from 2021 to 2023 of CHF 270,000  
(100 percent achievement of objectives). The LTI program includes a personal and EBIT-based target, which extends over a term of 
three years. The accumulated three-year EBIT target has an entry barrier at 78 percent and an upper limit at 122 percent achievement of  
objectives. 
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3. Compensations, shareholdings, and loans to members of executive bodies

3.1 Members of the Board of Directors
The compensation paid to the Board of Directors in the reporting year in the total amount of CHF 456,000 is below the maximum permis-
sible compensation of CHF 470,000 that was approved by the shareholders at the General Meeting of 7 April 2021.

The detailed information on the compensation to all members of the Board of Directors is as follows:
 

(CHF 000) Year Fixed fee Committee Other compensation¹ Total

Olaf Swantee²
2021 130 30 10 170
2020 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.

Gabriela Theus
2021 75 20 6 101

2020 75 20 7 102

Peter K. 
Neuenschwander

2021 75 10  5 90

2020 75 10 6 91

Michael Haubrich
2021 75 10 10 95

2020 75 10 6 91

Urs T. Fischer³
2021 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.

2020 130 30 10 170

Total
2021 355 70 31 456

2020 355 70 29 454

¹ The other benefits include employer contributions to social security.
² At the General Meeting on 7 April 2021, Olaf Swantee was elected to the Board of Directors.
³ At the General Meeting on 7 April 2021, Urs T. Fischer did not stand for re-election.

In the reporting year, no loans or credits were granted to members of the Board of Directors. There are also no loan or credit balances 
outstanding.

3.2 Former members of the Board of Directors
In the financial year under review, no compensation, severance payments, loans or credits were granted to former members of the Board 
of Directors. There are also no loan or credit balances outstanding.

3.3 Shareholdings of the Board of Directors 
As of 31 December, the members of the Board of Directors held the following number of shares:

Name Function Number of shares
2021 2020

Olaf Swantee¹ Chairman, independent 34 900 n.a.
Gabriela Theus Member, independent 2 500 2 500
Peter K. Neuenschwander Member, independent 2 000 2 000
Michael Haubrich² Member, independent 0 0
Urs T. Fischer³ Chairman, independent n.a. 2 500

¹ At the General Meeting on 7 April 2021, Olaf Swantee was elected to the Board of Directors.
²  Michael Haubrich has a shareholding of 30 percent (previous year 36 percent) in Haubrich GmbH  (formerly: Haubrich Zentrale GmbH & Co. KG, Dusseldorf), which indi-

rectly holds 2,239,154 shares in mobilezone holding ag (previous year: 2,239,154 shares) in mobilezone holding ag
³ At the General Meeting on 7 April 2021, Urs T. Fischer did not stand for re-election.
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3.4 Members of the Group management
On 31 December 2021, mobilezone holding ag’s Group Management consisted unchanged of five members.

The compensation paid to the Group management in the reporting year in the total amount of CHF 3,743,000 is below the maximum 
permissible compensation of CHF 4,300,000 that was approved by the shareholders at the General Meeting of 8 April 2020.

The details of the compensation paid to members of the Group Management are as follows:
 

(CHF 000) Year Fixed  
compensation

Short term
incentive¹

Long term  
incentive²

Other  
compensation³

Total

in cash in shares in cash

Markus Bernhard
2021 500 240 380 173 196 1 489

2020 470 240 140 51 200 1 101

Other members 

 of the Group Management  
2021 1  001 170 709 128 246 2 254

2020 1 548 225 107 62 199 2 141

Total
2021 1 501 410 1 089 301 442 3 743

2020 2 018 465 247 113 399 3 242

¹  Drawing of the net profit-/EBIT-based compensation occurred in the reporting year to a maximum of 50 percent (previous year: 100 percent) in shares. The shares received 
are subject to a blocking period of three years. 

²  The long term incentive includes the LTI programs passed by the Board of Directors on 29 December 2017 and on 20 January 2021. The valuation of the options from the 
program of 29 December 2017 occurred according to the Black Scholes method.

³  The other benefits include employer contributions to the pension fund, social security and personnel insurance as well as non-monetary benefits. 

The compensation of the Group management increased in the reporting year by CHF 501,000 to CHF 3,743,000. For the most part, the 
increase is due to the greater degree of target achievement net profit/EBIT-based compensation.

In the reporting year, no loans or credits were granted to members of the Group Management. There are also no loan or credit balances 
outstanding.

The lump sum expenses approved by the tax office are not included in the compensation amounts reported because they are reim-
bursements of expenses. In the reporting year these expenses totalled between CHF 12,000 and CHF 18,000 (previous year: between  
CHF 12,000 and CHF 18,000) per member of the Group Management who is employed in Switzerland.

The employment contracts of members of the Group Management are open-ended and can be terminated with a maximum notice  
period of 12 months. No agreements regarding severance payments were made and accordingly no severance payments were made in 
the reporting year.

3.5 Former members of the Group management
In the reporting year, no compensation was paid and no loans or credits were granted to former members of the Group Management. 
There are also no loan or credit balances outstanding.

3.6 Related parties
In the reporting year, no non-market compliant compensation was paid and no loans or credits were granted to related parties of current 
or former members of the Board of Directors and the Group Management. There are also no loan or credit balances outstanding. Further 
information about compensation paid to related parties can be found on page 95 in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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3.7 Shareholdings and options held by the Group Management
As of 31 December, the members of the Group Management held the following number of shares and options:
 

Name Function
             Number of shares         Number of options

2021 2020 2021 2020

Markus Bernhard CEO 110 000 110 000 380 000 280 000

Andreas Fecker CFO 59 461 50 282 185 000 135 000

Roger Wassmer CEO Switzerland 21 063 19 424 150 000 110 000

Wilke Stroman CEO Germany 1 155 660 2 232 722 24 000 0

Jens Barth¹ CDO 302 415 n.a. 0 n.a.

Akin Erdem² CPO n.a. 75 687 n.a. 50 000

¹ Jens Barth to 30.04.2022
² Akin Erdem to 01.02.2021 
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  Tel +41 44 444 35 55 

Fax +41 44 444 35 35 
www.bdo.ch  

BDO Ltd 
Schiffbaustrasse 2 
8031 Zurich 
 

 

 BDO Ltd, a limited company under Swiss law, incorporated in Zurich, forms part of the international BDO Network of independent member firms. 
 

 

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR 
To the General Meeting of mobilezone holding ag, Rotkreuz 

We have audited the remuneration report of mobilezone holding ag for the year ended 31 December 
2021. The audit was limited to the information according to articles 14 –16 of the Ordinance against 
Excessive Compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Companies (Ordinance) on pages 67 to 69 of the 
remuneration report (chapter 3). 
 
Responsibility of the Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of the remu-
neration report in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in 
Stock Exchange Listed Companies (Ordinance). The Board of Directors is also responsible for design-
ing the remuneration system and defining individual remuneration packages. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying remuneration report. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the remuneration report complies with Swiss law and articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in the re-
muneration report with regard to compensation, loans and credits in accordance with articles 14 – 
16 of the Ordinance. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the as-
sessment of the risks of material misstatements in the remuneration report, whether due to fraud 
or error. This audit also includes evaluating the reasonableness of the methods applied to value 
components of remuneration, as well as assessing the overall presentation of the remuneration re-
port. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
 
Opinion 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of mobilezone holding ag for the year ended 31 December 
2021 complies with Swiss law and articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance. 

Zurich, 7 March 2022 

BDO Ltd 

Reto Frey 

Auditor in Charge 
Licensed Audit Expert 

Philipp Kegele 

 
Licensed Audit Expert 
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1 January to 31 December (CHF 000) Notes 2021 2020 

Net sales 1 981 537 1 237 662

Cost of goods and materials –781 880 –1 060 326
Gross profit 199 657 177 336

Other operating income 2, 14 692 1 852
Personnel costs 3 –74 740 –74 672
Other operating costs 4, 14, 20 –49 284 –50 740
Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 76 325 53 776

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 –4 011 –4 453
Amortization of intangible assets 13 –5 639 –5 365
Operating profit (EBIT) 66 675 43 958

Financial income 5 845 242
Financial expenses 6 –3 034 –3 195
Profit before taxes (EBT) 64 486 41 005

Income tax expenses 7 –13 823 –6 491
Net profit 50 663 34 514

CHF CHF
Earnings per share 21 1.13 0.77
Earnings per share – diluted 21 1.13 0.77

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated income statement 

FINANCIAL REPORT
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As of 31 December (CHF 000) Notes 2021 2020

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 57 660 63 420
Trade accounts receivable 8 123 075 121 089
Inventories 9 53 573 72 455
Other receivables 10 8 779 10 685
Accruals 11 35 673 41 070
Current assets 278 760 308 719

Property, plant and equipment 12 18 997 18 135
Intangible assets 13 23 235 21 792
Other receivables 15 3 507 947
Deferred income tax assets 7 2 301 4 196
Non-current assets 48 040 45 070

Total assets 326 800 353 789

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Financial liabilities 16 46 577 47 998
Trade accounts payable 17 74 041 73 201
Tax liabilities 14 156 15 800
Other liabilities 18 15 323 14 348
Accruals 19 43 535 41 295
Provisions 20 38 1 807
Current liabilities 193 670 194 449

Financial liabilities 16 86 975 135 000
Other liabilities 0 0
Deferred income tax liabilities 7 1 813 1 158
Non-current liabilities 88 788 136 158

Share capital 21 448 448 
Treasury shares 21 –7 377 –560
Capital reserves 75 877 88 103
Goodwill offset 22 –245 021 –246 662
Retained earnings 220 415 181 853
Shareholders’ equity 44 342 23 182

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 326 800 353 789

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated balance sheet
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1 January 1 to 31 December (CHF 000) Notes 2021 2020

Profit before taxes 64 486 41 005

 Financial result 2 188 2 953
 Depreciation and amortization 12, 13 9 650 9 818
 Changes of allowances (net) 890 –1 494
 Gains on divestment 14 6 016 –1 137
 Gains on disposal of non-current assets –81 33
 Expenditure for share-based compensation 93 30
Gross cash flow from operating activities 83 242 51 208

Working capital adjustments
 Trade accounts receivable –32 819 15 694
 Other receivables and accruals 30 282 16 621
 Inventories –8 345 6 649
 Trade accounts payable 10 836 –41 343
     Other liabilities, accruals
     and provisions 5 840 17 729

Income taxes paid –7 472 –6 808
Net cash flow from operating activities 81 564 59 750

Additions
 Property, plant and equipment 12 –5 626 –4 498
 Intangible assets 13 –8 312 –8 800
 Securities in fixed assets –5 –80
 Acquisition of subsidiaries less cash and cash equivalents –297 0
     Acquisition of subsidiary / Earn-out 14 0 –4 271
Disposals
 Property, plant and equipment 91 129 
     Intangible assets 0 26
 Securities in fixed assets 148 149
     Sale of subsidiary less cash and cash equivalents 14 5 457 –1 076
Interest received 171 242

Net cash flow from investing activities –8 373 –18 179

Proceeds of financial liabilities 59 857 91 571
Repayment of financial liabilities –104 678 –102 779
Repayment of other liabilities 0 –1 027
Interest paid –2 627 –3 153
Purchase of treasury shares –7 784 –900
Sale of treasury shares 1 173 844
Dividends paid –25 050 –26 864
Net cash flow from financing activities –79 109 –42 308

Effect of currency translation 158 –834
Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents –5 760 –1 571
Cash and cash equivalents on 1 January 63 420 64 991
Cash and cash equivalents on 31 December 57 660 63 420

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of cash flows

FINANCIAL REPORT
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Movement of shareholders’ equity
(CHF 000) Notes Share

capital
Treasury 

shares
Capital

reserves
Goodwill

offset
Retained 
earnings Total

01.01.2020 448 –579 101 580 –247 056 160 658 15 051
Net profit 34 514 34 514
Purchase of treasury shares –900 –900
Sale of treasury shares 844 844
Dividends paid –13 432 –13 432 –26 864
Profit of treasury shares 75 –75 0
Share-based compensation 30 30
Divestment 14 394 394
Currency translation adjustments 113 113
31.12.2020 448 –560 88 103 –246 662 181 853 23 182
Net profit 50 663 50 663
Purchase of treasury shares –7 784 –7 784
Sale of treasury shares 1 173 1 173
Dividends paid –12 525 –12 525 –25 050
Profit of treasury shares –206 206 0
Share-based compensation 93 93
Divestment 14 1 641 1 641
Currency translation adjustments 424 424
31.12.2021 448 –7 377 75 877 –245 021 220 415 44 342

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements. Other explanations on shareholders’ equity can be found in Notes 21.

Consolidated statement of changes 
in shareholders' equity
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The segment "Switzerland" is comprised of mobilezone ag, IT Business Services GmbH, TalkTalk AG and mobilezone reload ag.  
mobiletouch austria gmbH was deconsolidated in November 2020. The company contributed net sales of CHF 18.6 million in the previous 
year. The segment "Germany" comprises mobilezone Deutschland GmbH, mobilezone handel GmbH, powwow GmbH and powwow 
Berlin GmbH. einsAmobile GmbH was deconsolidated in January 2021. In the previous year, the company sold achieved sales of CHF 303 
million.

Segment information

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

FINANCIAL REPORT

Income statement (CHF 000) Total mobilezone Group             Switzerland Germany Unallocated / Elimination

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Net sales 981 537 1 237 662 322 654 326 166 659 227 916 324 –344 –4 828

Cost of goods and materials –781 880 –1 060 326 –211 629 –219 810 –572 321 –844 361 2 070 3 845
Gross profit 199 657 177 336 111 025 106 356 86 906 71 963 1 726 –983

Other operating income 692 1 852 424 1 715 900 627 –632 –490
Personnel costs –74 740 –74 672 –47 824 –49 130 –23 799 –23 153 –3 117 –2 389
Other operating costs –49 284 –50 740 –21 243 –20 681 –24 355 –34 765 –3 686 4 706

Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 76 325 53 776 42 382 38 260 39 652 14 672 –5 709 844

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment –4 011 –4 453 –3 264 –3 609 –685 –780 –62 –64
Amortization of intangible assets –5 639 –5 365 –2 830 –3 412 –2 809 –1 953 0 0

Operating profit (EBIT) 66 675 43 958 36 288 31 239 36 158 11 939 –5 771 780

Balance sheet (CHF 000)

Current assets 278 760 308 719 96 520 105 502 167 498 199 000 14 742 4 217
Non-current assets 45 070 24 474 23 563 22 555 20 186 1 011 1 321 48 040
Assets 326 800 353 789 120 994 129 065 190 053 219 186 15 753 5 538

Liabilities 282 458 330 607 108 214 119 101 291 187 341 167 –116 943 –129 661

Investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 13 938 13 298 6 958 5 729 6 980 7 452 0 117
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Income statement (CHF 000) Total mobilezone Group             Switzerland Germany Unallocated / Elimination

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Net sales 981 537 1 237 662 322 654 326 166 659 227 916 324 –344 –4 828

Cost of goods and materials –781 880 –1 060 326 –211 629 –219 810 –572 321 –844 361 2 070 3 845
Gross profit 199 657 177 336 111 025 106 356 86 906 71 963 1 726 –983

Other operating income 692 1 852 424 1 715 900 627 –632 –490
Personnel costs –74 740 –74 672 –47 824 –49 130 –23 799 –23 153 –3 117 –2 389
Other operating costs –49 284 –50 740 –21 243 –20 681 –24 355 –34 765 –3 686 4 706

Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 76 325 53 776 42 382 38 260 39 652 14 672 –5 709 844

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment –4 011 –4 453 –3 264 –3 609 –685 –780 –62 –64
Amortization of intangible assets –5 639 –5 365 –2 830 –3 412 –2 809 –1 953 0 0

Operating profit (EBIT) 66 675 43 958 36 288 31 239 36 158 11 939 –5 771 780

Balance sheet (CHF 000)

Current assets 278 760 308 719 96 520 105 502 167 498 199 000 14 742 4 217
Non-current assets 45 070 24 474 23 563 22 555 20 186 1 011 1 321 48 040
Assets 326 800 353 789 120 994 129 065 190 053 219 186 15 753 5 538

Liabilities 282 458 330 607 108 214 119 101 291 187 341 167 –116 943 –129 661

Investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 13 938 13 298 6 958 5 729 6 980 7 452 0 117

The Group Management of mobilezone Group is the chief operating decision maker. The mobilezone Group monitors performance on the 
basis of the segment operating profit before interest and taxes (EBIT). The total assets of each segment comprise all assets of the segment. 
Internal reporting of the mobilezone Group is based on Swiss GAAP FER.

The allocation of net sales to a country is based on the location of the registered office of the company that generated the sales. The  
"Unallocated / Elimination" category comprises transactions between countries/segments and the holding company. Intercompany  
assets and liabilities are eliminated.
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Corporate information
mobilezone’s business activities include marketing telecommunications service contracts (mobile and fixed-line telephony, Internet, and 
digital TV) of all major network operators in Switzerland (Swisscom, Sunrise UPC, Salt) and in Germany (Vodafone, Deutsche Telekom, 
Telefónica Deutschland) as well as selling (sales to business and private customers, supplying specialist retailers, wholesale) mobile com-
munications devices (mobile phones, tablets, wearables) and related accessories. 

In Switzerland, the company markets telecommunications service contracts and sells mobile telecommunication devices and the related 
accessories via its own network of shops and through its B2B organization. In addition, mobilezone offers consultation and outsourcing 
services for business customers in the area of mobile telecommunications and also offers repair services for mobile phones from many 
manufacturers. In Germany, marketing and sales are handled by the company’s own online portals, by online portals managed by third 
parties and partner-managed shops. With the brand "TalkTalk" in Switzerland and the brand "High" in Germany mobilezone competes in 
the market with its own mobile, fixed-line, and Internet offers as a Mobile Virtual Network Operator (MVNO). In Switzerland the offers are 
based on the network capacities of Sunrise and in Germany on those of Deutsche Telekom.

The parent company of mobilezone Group is mobilezone holding ag, Suurstoffi 22, 6343 Rotkreuz, Switzerland. It is listed on the SIX Swiss 
Exchange, Ticker MOZN / Swiss Security Number 276 837 69.

FINANCIAL REPORT

Principles of Group accounting
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1. Important principles of Group accounting

1.1 Principles of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of mobilezone Group have been prepared in accordance with all existing guidelines of Swiss GAAP 
FER (financial reporting and accounting standards). The consolidated financial statements of mobilezone provide a true and fair view of 
its asset, financial, and earnings situation (true and fair view) in accordance with the principles of Swiss GAAP FER and comply with Swiss 
law. The consolidated accounts have been prepared on the basis of the historical cost principle, except for derivative financial instruments 
and securities, which are listed at their fair market value. The Group’s consolidated accounts are based on the Group companies’ separate 
financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with uniform guidelines. The uniform balance sheet date is 31 December. The 
reporting currency is the Swiss franc (CHF). The consolidated financial statements are drawn up on the going concern principle.

1.2 Definitions of performance measures not defined by Swiss GAAP FER.
The Group uses particular key figures to measure performance that are not defined by Swiss GAAP FER. Since these performance mea-
sures are not defined by Swiss GAAP FER, their comparability with similar figure of other companies may be restricted. To better explain 
these performance measures, they are presented below.

"EBITDA" corresponds to the operating profit (EBIT) before depreciation of property, plant & equipment and amortization of intangible 
assets.

Gross profit corresponds to net sales after deduction of the cost of goods and materials. 

The sub-total "Gross cash flow from operating activities" in the cash flow statement is calculated from the profit before taxes after deduction 
of the financial result and non-cash transactions.

1.3 Principles of consolidation 

Scope of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of mobilezone include the financial statements of mobilezone holding ag and all the subsidiaries it 
controls directly or indirectly by majority of votes or other means. mobilezone holding ag currently holds shares in the following companies: 

 
Company, registered office Country Currency Share  

capital  
(000)  

Group share

       2021        2020 

Segment Consoli-
dation

mobilezone ag, Rotkreuz CH CHF 2 850 100% 100% CH V¹
mobilit AG, Rotkreuz³, CH CHF 100 n.a. 100% CH V¹
IT Business Services GmbH, Rotkreuz CH CHF 40 100% 100% CH V¹
mobilezone reload ag, Rotkreuz⁴ CH CHF 100 100% 100% CH V¹
TalkTalk AG, Rotkreuz CH CHF 100 100% 100% CH V¹
mobilezone Deutschland GmbH, Cologne GER EUR 25 100% 100% GER V¹
mobilezone handel GmbH, Bochum GER EUR 25 100% 100% GER V¹
powwow GmbH, Cologne GER EUR 778 100% 100% GER V¹
powwow Berlin GmbH, Bochum GER EUR 25 100% 100% GER V¹
sparstrom Energievertriebs GmbH, Cologne⁵  GER EUR 100 n.a. n.a. GER E²
Bonamic GmbH, Bochum⁶ GER EUR 250 32% 49% GER E²
einsAmobile GmbH, Obertshausen⁷ GER EUR 50 25% 100% GER E²
mobiletouch austria gmbH, Vienna⁸ AUT EUR 35 n.a. n.a. CH V¹

¹ V: Fully consolidated
² E: Equity accounting
³ mobilit ag merged in January 2021 with IT Business Services GmbH.
⁴ mobiletouch ag was renamed mobilezone reload ag on 15 February 2022.
⁵ sparstrom Energievertriebs  GmbH was sold in December 2020.
⁶ The shares in Bonamic GmbH were reduced as a result of a capital increase from 49 percent to 32 percent.
⁷ 75 percent of the share in einsAmobile GmbH was sold in January 2021. The company was fully consolidated in the previous year.
⁸ mobiletouch austria gmbH was deconsolidated in November 2020. 
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Assets and liabilities, as well as expenses and income of the consolidated companies are included at 100 percent. All intercompany tran-
sactions and relations between the consolidated companies are offset against each other and eliminated. Intercompany profits from such 
transactions are eliminated. The acquisition cost of subsidiaries is compared at the time of acquisition against the fair market value of the 
net assets acquired, liabilities, and contingent liabilities based on their new valuation, and the resulting goodwill is offset at the time of 
acquisition against shareholders’ equity (retained earnings).

Upon consolidation, all liabilities, all assets as well as transactions and unrealized resulting profits between the companies included in the 
consolidation are eliminated. Companies in which the Group holds at least 20 percent but not more than 50 percent of the voting rights 
are recognized based on the equity method. The investment is valued on a proportionate equity basis. 

Estimates and discretionary decisions
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER requires evaluations, assumptions, and estimates that in-
fluence the items in the financial statements as of the balance sheet date. These evaluations, assumptions, and estimates are based on 
historical values and other factors that are considered adequate under the given conditions. The actual results may deviate from these 
estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are subject to continuous assessment. Changes to estimates that affect the annual finan-
cial statements are included in the reporting period in which the estimate was revised as well as in future reporting periods if the latter 
are affected by the revised estimates.  

1.4 Principles of recognition and valuation

Conversion of foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Swiss francs. The functional currency of all Group companies is the Swiss franc or 
the euro. Every company within the Group determines its own functional currency. The items included in the financial statements of the 
respective companies are valued using this functional currency. Gains or losses arising from transactions and foreign currency transla-
tions of balance sheet items are included in the income statement. In the case of Group companies with another functional currency, the 
positions of the balance sheet are translated using the exchange rate in effect on the date of the balance sheet and the items of income 
statement and statement of cash flows at the average rates in Swiss francs. The resulting currency translation differences are recognized 
directly in shareholders' equity. Foreign currency differences on non-current Group loans with an equity nature are recognized directly in 
shareholders' equity. In the event of loss of control over a company, the corresponding accumulated translation differences are reclassified 
to the income statement. As of 31 December 2021, a euro exchange rate was used for converting the balance sheet of 1.0339 (previous year. 
1.0946) and for the income statement and statement of cash flows an average rate of 1.0810 (previous year: 1.0816).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, current credit bank balances, and current deposits with original maturity of less than  
three months. Cash and cash equivalents are valued at nominal value.

Securities
Securities are initially valued at historical cost plus transaction costs. Subsequently, securities are adjusted to market value and such effects 
are recognized in the income statement.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not listed on any stock exchange. 
They arise when mobilezone directly makes money, goods, or services available to a debtor and does not intend to trade with the re-
ceivable. Receivables from sales of services and products are valued at their nominal value, less the necessary value adjustments for 
receivables at risk. In addition to individual value adjustments for specific receivables known to be at risk, lump sum value adjustments are 
made for items that are overdue. The adjustment corresponds to the difference between the book value of the receivables and the current 
proceeds from the expected future cash flows. The changes in the value adjustment are recognized in the income statement. The nominal 
value corresponds roughly to the market value. With the exception of values maturing more than twelve months after the balance sheet 
date, they are included in the current assets. The latter are classified under "Other assets" in non-current assets.

FINANCIAL REPORT
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Inventories
Inventories are stated at cost or net realizable value, whichever is lower. The cost of inventories is calculated using the weighted average 
cost method. Goods lacking marketability or slow-moving items are subject to appropriate value adjustments. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less selling expenses. The price of a mobile phone is determined based on 
whether the product is sold on a stand-alone basis or in conjunction with a provider subscription. Net realizable value therefore takes into 
account both components. In addition, price protection arrangements with suppliers are also taken into account in determining the need 
for any value adjustments on inventories. Discount deductions are treated as reductions in the cost of goods.

Accruals
Significant amounts in the accruals are sales accruals for soliciting new customers and contract renewals. Sales accruals are calculated on 
the basis of sales and contracts not yet allocated. The effective allocation takes place in subsequent periods and can differ from the sales 
accruals. Differences in the allocations to sales accruals and revised assessments are recognized in the subsequent period in which the 
effective allocation or the revised assessment occurs.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment are stated at historical cost or manufacturing cost less accumulated depreciation Depreciation is char-
ged to the income statement on a straight-line basis on the basis of the following estimated useful lives of items of property, plant, and  
equipment: 
•  Office equipment and furniture, including EDP and vehicles, 2 to 10 years
•  Shop equipment 5 to 8 years

Intangible assets
Acquired rights, such as contracts with clients, lessors, and suppliers, and similar rights that generate financial earnings are capitalized 
and amortized on straight-line basis over the contractual or estimated useful life of usually 5 years. Customer acquisition costs for mobile, 
fixed-line and Internet customers are capitalized. Acquisition costs for mobile, fixed-line, and Internet customers are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over a maximum term of 24 months.

The item "Software" essentially includes the system and operating software. Software is valued at the acquisition cost minus operationally 
necessary amortizations and impairments. The amortizations are recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
useful life. The useful life amounts to 2 to 15 years.

Goodwill
Goodwill refers to the difference between purchase price and the actual value of the acquired net asset. It arises in the acquisition of 
subsidiaries. Goodwill is offset against shareholders’ equity at the time of acquisition. If parts of the purchase price depend on future 
events, these contingent considerations are estimated and recognized at the time of purchase. If divergences arise during the subsequent 
definitive purchase price settlement, the goodwill offset against shareholders' equity is adjusted accordingly. When a subsidiary is sold, 
acquired goodwill that had at an earlier time been offset against shareholders’ equity is taken into account at historical cost to determine 
the profit or loss affecting net income. The effect of a theoretical capitalization of goodwill with scheduled amortization, as well as possible 
value adjustments on the consolidated balance sheet and the income statement over a useful life of 5 years is shown in the Notes.

Impairment of assets
Assets are tested annually for impairment on the balance sheet date. The test is made on the basis events and indications that indicate 
an over-valuation of the book values. Losses due to an impairment are recognized in the income statement when an asset’s book value is 
higher than its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is defined as the higher of the net market value and value in use. If the fac-
tors on which the determination of the recoverable value was based have improved considerably, a value impairment stated in a previous 
reporting period will be reversed in the income statement, either in part or in full.

Current financial liabilities
Current financial liabilities include trade and other current liabilities and are valued at nominal value.
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Provisions
Provisions are built for current or future legal or de-facto obligations when, on the balance sheet date, as a result of past events, reasonable 
estimates regarding the future outflow of funds are possible and when such a transfer is likely. The provisions are determined based on 
the best possible estimate of the expected expenditures. 

Possible liabilities whose occurrence as at the balance sheet date can not be assessed, or liabilities for which the level can not be reliably 
estimated, are disclosed in the Notes as contingent liabilities.

Treasury shares
Treasury shares are recognized at historical cost in the shareholders’ equity as a separate minus position. Gains or losses from the sale of 
treasury shares are recognized within capital reserves.

Dividends
Dividends are recognized as a liability in the reporting period in which their distribution is decided.

Operative leasing and financial leasing
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. As of 
31 December 2021 and as of 31 December 2020, there were no financial leasing contracts.

Pension benefits
mobilezone Group has defined-contribution pension plans. Each of the Swiss subsidiaries is affiliated with a collective foundation, a multi-
employer plan, with full value insurance. mobilezone Group is not obligated to cover a possible plan deficit. These pension benefit plans 
are financed with contributions from employees and employer. There are no pension plans at the foreign subsidiaries. 

Net sales and revenue recognition
Net sales include all revenues from the sale of goods and services, less sale deductions in earnings, rebates, discounts, and VAT. Revenues 
from the sale of goods are included in the income statement when the significant risks and rights of ownership have been transferred 
to the buyer. One-time commissions from providers are recognized upon conclusion of the contract. Recurring "airtime" profit-sharing 
commissions from providers are based on the subscribers’ monthly payments of mobile telephone bills to the providers. These amounts 
are recognized in the income statement based on the providers’ settlement process on an accrual basis. Service revenues are recognized 
in the period in which the services were rendered. 

Income tax expense
Current income taxes are calculated based on the taxable income of the year and are recorded in the income statement. Deferred income 
taxes are calculated using the balance sheet liability method. Temporary differences arise from divergences between the book value of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the value used for tax purposes. Deferred tax is calculated using tax rates enacted 
or substantially enacted on the balance sheet date and will be offset in future tax periods. Deferred tax losses carried forward and deferred 
income tax assets are capitalized only to the extent that it is probable that they will be realized in the future.
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2.  Type and scope of financial risks

2.1 Financial risk management 
The financial instruments of mobilezone Group predominantly include cash and cash equivalents to provide sufficient funds for the busi-
ness activities of the Group companies. The Group has various other financial instruments, such as trade accounts payable and receivable 
resulting directly from business activities, at its disposal. The main risks arising from these financial instruments include liquidity risk and 
risk of loss of receivables. In terms of other financial assets, such as securities and other receivables, the maximum financial risk in the event 
of a failure of the counterparty corresponds to the book value of these instruments. 

2.2 Foreign currency risk
For the most part, sales and purchases are denominated in the companies’ local currencies (Swiss franc and euro). The currency volatilities 
of the euro do not significantly impact the operating profits of mobilezone. Given the short-term nature of payments in euro (5–30 days) 
and the high inventory turnover, as well as mobilezone’s currency congruent wholesale purchasing and selling of goods, the company 
generally does not hedge against currency risks on purchases. Any contracts open at the balance sheet date are valued at fair market 
value with any changes in fair market value fully recognized in the income statement. No forward exchange transactions were open as of 
December 31, 2021, or December 31, 2020.

2.3 Credit risk / Risk of loss of receivables
The Group is exposed to credit risks arising from its ordinary business activity. mobilezone’s credit risk arises primarily from trade accounts 
receivable and bank deposits. A considerable portion of net sales consists of cash transactions or is covered by insurance. Therefore, this 
business activity results in relatively few losses of accounts receivable compared to net sales. The company meets the risk of outstanding 
accounts receivable by negotiating short payment terms. To counteract the risk of loss of receivables, mobilezone Group employs pre-
determined hedging strategies, such as credit reports. Further minimization of risk is achieved by limiting and controlling the volume of 
outstanding receivables. Current bank credit balances and deposits are held at financial institutions. The risk of default is minimized by 
maintaining business relationships with several financial institutions and by continuously monitoring the credit risk.
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2.4 Interest rate risk
Changes in interest rates can have negative effects on the Group’s asset and income situation and can lead to changes in interest income 
and interest expenses. The risks regarding interest changes for the financial liabilities are limited, however, since the interest rates for most 
of the financial liabilities are fixed rates. 

2.5 Liquidity risk
Currently, mobilezone Group bears no foreseeable liquidity risk as its financial position features a sufficient amount of cash and its credit 
lines of CHF 224 million (previous year: CHF 227 million) are sufficient to cover peak demands on net current assets. As of 31 December 
2021, CHF 90 million (previous year: CHF 44 million) of the credit line amount remained unused.

2.6 Capital changes
The primary objective of mobilezone Group’s capital control is to ensure that the Group maintains a high credit rating and an advantage-
ous proportion of shareholders’ equity in order to support its business activities. Shareholders' equity includes the shareholder’s equity 
items share stock, treasury shares with the goodwill offset against equity and retained earnings. The Group may adjust dividend distri-
butions to shareholders, issue new shares, buy back shares, or borrow capital for adjusting or maintaining its capital structure. No such 
changes were made to the objectives and guidelines as of 31 December 2021, or 31 December 2020.
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Net sales (CHF 000) 2021 2020

Sales mobile communication products 326 560 630 843
One-time commissions and recurring "airtime" of  
mobile communications providers 616 029 544 525

Revenue from fixed-net subscriptions, repairs, services 38 948 62 294
Total net sales 981 537 1 237 662

Other operating income (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Gains on sales of current assets 82 46
Gains on divestment 0 1 137
Other operating income 610 669
Total other operating income 692 1 852

The gains on divestment in the previous year resulted from the deconsolidation of mobiletouch austria gmbH in 
November 2020 (cf. Note 14). 

Personnel costs (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Wages and salaries 65 248 64 636
Social security costs 7 702 8 479
Pension costs 1 459 1 422
Other personnel costs 331 135
Total personnel costs 74 740 74 672

Number of full-time equivalents as of 31 December 1 018 1 127

Compensations received in the form of short time compensation of CHF 0.7 million (previous year CHF 5.1 million)  
is shown net in the item wages and salaries.

Other operating costs (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Rent expenses 12 246 12 782 
Advertising 14 230 13 860
Repair & maintenance, office & administrative costs 16 792 19 255
Loss from divestment 6 016 0
Restructuring costs 0 4 843
Total other operating costs 49 284 50 740

Lease reductions granted by landlords during the Covid-19 2021 and 2020 lockdowns are shown net in rent expenses. 
Advertising expenditure in the reporting year includes cost contributions of third parties of CHF 6.2 million (previous 
year: CHF 5.2 million). In the previous year's consolidated financial statements, the expenditures associated with 
these cost contributions were stated under the item repair & maintenance, office & administrative costs. The 
information of the previous year has been correspondingly adjusted. The adjustments have no effect on the total 
other operating costs.

The loss from divestment results from the deconsolidation of einsAmobile GmbH in January 2021 (cf. Notes 14).

Financial income (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Interest income 56 239
Other financial income 789 3
Total financial income 845 242

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

Notes to the consolidated income statement
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Income tax (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Current income taxes 11 362 8 840
Deferred income taxes 2 461 –2 349
Total income tax expenses 13 823 6 491

Current income taxes are based solely on the profit in the reporting year. Deferred income taxes are based on chan-
ges in temporary differences. In the reporting year, deferred taxes on losses carried forward in the amount of  
CHF 1.5 million (previous year: CHF 0.3 million) were reversed.

Income tax reconciliation (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Profit before taxes 64 486 41 005
Average applicable tax rate 20.68% 18.37%
Expected tax expense 13 336 7 533
Effect from change in tax laws in Switzerland 0  –763
Reassessment of capitalized losses carried forward  808 0
Expenses not recognised for tax purposes/tax-exempted income 0 –483
Non-reclaimable foreign withholding tax 0 293
Tax expense/income from prior periods –321 –89
Effective income tax expenses 13 823 6 491

 
The average tax rate is the weighted average of the tax rates of the individual Group companies and may therefore 
vary annually. Various statutory amendments entered into force on 1 January 2020, which affect corporate taxation. 
This involved most of the cantons lowering their profit tax rates. In addition, transition arrangements were decided 
to cushion the financial effects of the abolition of the holding privilege. The tax rate cuts combined with the transi-
tion arrangements resulted in positive tax effects of CHF 0.8 million in 2020. On the one hand, the effects result 
from the re-evaluation of existing deferred income tax liabilities based on the income tax cuts and on the other 
hand, the transition arrangements resulted in the recognition of new deferred tax assets in the holding company. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Financial assets 9 207
Intangible assets 68 0
Provisions 0 180
Capitalized losses carried forward 1 548 3 037
Other 676 772
Total deferred income tax assets 2 301 4 196

Trade accounts receivable 489 423
Inventories 735857
Intangible assets 467 0
Total deferred income tax liabilities 1 813 1 158

Deferred income tax positions are calculated at the tax rates that are applicable to the respective companies. The-
se are between 12 and 33 percent (previous year: 12 and 33 percent). As in the previous year, no income tax was 
recognized directly within shareholders’ equity.

 7
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Financial expenses (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Interest expense 2 628 3 153
Equity accounting result 406 0
Other financial expenses 0 42
Total financial expenses 3 034 3 195

 6
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Trade accounts receivable (CHF 000) 2021 2020

Accounts receivable, gross 125 643 122 928
Value adjustments –2 568 –1 839
Total trade accounts receivable 123 075 121 089

Trade accounts receivable do not bear interest and are usually payable within no more than 30 days.

Inventories (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Inventories, gross 54 582 73 583
Value adjustments –1 009 –1 128
Total inventories 53 573 72 455

Other receivables (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Other receivables 3 411 5 025
Value added tax 151 39
Income tax 4 932 5 039
Accounts receivable due from associates 285 274
Advance payments 0 308
Total other accounts receivable 8 779 10 685

Accruals (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Unbilled receivables 31 829 38 346
Other accruals 3 844 2 724
Total accruals 35 673 41 070

Other accruals comprise primarily reductions in the cost of goods.

 8
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Notes to the consolidated balance sheet
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Property, plant and equipment (CHF 000)
Buildings, 

land 
Shop 

equipment 

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Total

Acquisition costs

As of 31.12.2019 6 013 20 352 10 665 37 030
 Additions 46 3 259 1 193 4 498
 Change in the scope of consolidation 0 0 –1 734 –1 734
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals 0 –89 –730 –819
 Foreign exchange impact –7 –1 –17 –25
As of 31.12.2020 6 052 23 521 9 377 38 950
 Additions 0 3 712 1 914 5 626
 Change in the scope of consolidation 0 28 –103 –75
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals 0 0 –298 –298
 Foreign exchange impact –336 0 –144 –480
As of 31.12.2021 5 716 27 261 10 746 43 723

Accumulated depreciation
As of 31.12.2019 0 13 189 5 222 18 411
 Additions 189 2 534 1 719  4 442
 Change in the scope of consolidation 0 –1 3800 –1 380
 Reclassification 111 0 –111 0
 Disposals 0 –77 –568 – 645
 Foreign exchange impact 2 –1 –14 –13
As of 31.12.2020 302 15 645 4 868 20 815
 Additions 190 2 572 1 249 4 011
 Change in the scope of consolidation 0 21628 244
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals 0 0 –288 –288
 Foreign exchange impact –25 0 –31 –56
As of 31.12.2021 467 18 245 6 014 24 726

Book value
on 31.12.2020 5 750 7 876 4 509 18 135
on 31.12.2021 5 249 9 016 4 732 18 997

 12
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Intangible assets (CHF 000)
Software Customer 

acquisition 
costs

Acquired shop 
location Total

Acquisition costs

As of 31.12.2019 21 180 8 885 2 640 32 705
 Additions 5 993 2 807 0 8 800
 Change in the scope of consolidation –1 111 0 0 –1 111
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals –557 –2 077 0 –2 634
 Foreign exchange impact 23 33 0 56
As of 31.12.2020 25 528 9 648 2 640 37 816
 Additions 5 225 3 087 0 8 312
 Change in the scope of consolidation –269 0 0 –269
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals 0 –3 215 0 –3 215
 Foreign exchange impact –594 –309 0 –903
As of 31.12.2021 29 890 9 211 2 640 41 741

Accumulated amortization
As of 31.12.2019 4 518 7 366 2 172 14 056
 Additions 3 270 1 924 122 5 316
 Change in the scope of consolidation –735 0 0 –735
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals –542 –2 078 0 –2 620
 Foreign exchange impact –6 13 0 7
As of 31.12.2020 6 505 7 225 2 294 16 024
 Additions 2 849 2 683 107 5 639
 Change in the scope of consolidation 376 0 0 376
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals 0 –3 215 0 –3 215
 Foreign exchange impact –135 –183 0 –318
As of 31.12.2021 9 595 6 510 2 401 18 506

Book value
on 31.12.2020 19 023 2 423 346 21 792
on 31.12.2021 20 295 2 701 239 23 235

 13
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Divestments

einsAmobile GmbH
mobilezone sold 75 percent of its shares in einsAmobile GmbH during the year under review. mobilezone withdrew 
from the wholesale business segment with this transaction. In the financial year 2020, the company sold achieved 
sales of CHF 303 million. The company was deconsolidated in January and will be stated in the year under review 
using the equity method. The loss from the divestment amounted to CHF 6 million and was recognized in other 
operating costs. The following table presents the balance sheet items sold per date of sale and the result arising 
from the transaction.

(CHF 000) Balance sheet value on 1.1.2021
Cash and cash equivalents –4 103    
Trade accounts receivable –23 233
Inventories –25 356
Other assets –3 747
Current liabilities 43 303
Net assets sold –13 136
Realisation of accumulated currency translation adjustments upon sale –553
Recycling of goodwill to profit or loss upon sale –1 641
Subtotal –15 330 
Sale price less transaction costs 6 222
Equity investments 3 092
Loss from divestment –6 016

mobiletouch austria gmbH
mobilezone sold 100 percent of its shares in mobiletouch austria gmbH in the previous year, which achieved net 
sales proceeds of CHF 18.6 million in the previous year. Gains on the divestment amounted to CHF 1,137,000 and 
were recognized in other operating income. Due to the disposal, all assets and liabilities were deconsolidated on 
30 November 2020. As a result of the sale, goodwill amounting to CHF 394,000 and accumulated currency trans-
lation differences of CHF 102,000 were recycled from shareholders' equity to the consolidated income statement. 
The cash inflow from the sale occurred in January 2021.

Other receivables (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Deposits, other receivables and assets 587 809 
Equity investments 2 920 138
Total other receivables 3 507 947

The item "Other receivables" includes deposits, other receivables, and investments in other companies, which 
are recognized at acquisition value minus any value adjustments.

 14
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Current financial liabilities (CHF 000) Currency 2021 Interest rate 2020 Interest rate
 Real estate loans EUR 458 2.08–2.40 485 2.08–2.40
 Bank loans EUR 5 170 1.10 38 313 1.50
 Promissory note loans EUR 28 949 0.85 0
 Other loans EUR 0 1 040 2.00
 Bank loans CHF 0 8 160 1.50–1.85
 Promissory note loans CHF 12 000 0.85 0

Total current financial liabilities 46 577 47 998

Non-current financial  
liabilities (CHF 000) Currency 2021 Interest rate 2020 Interest rate

    Real estate loans EUR 1 000 2.08–2.40 1 544 2.08–2.40
    Bank loans EUR 44 458 1.10 49 259 1.50
    Promissory note loans   EUR 517 1.15 31 197 0.85–1.15
    Promissory note loans CHF 41 000 1.05–1.20 53 000 0.85–1.20

Total non-current financial liabilities 86 975 135 000

Financial liabilities (CHF 000) Currency 2021 Interest rate 2020 Interest rate
 Real estate loans EUR 1 458 2.08–2.40 2 029 2.08–2.40
 Bank loans EUR 49 628 1.10 87 572 1.50
     Promissory note loans EUR 29 466 0.85–1.15 31 197 0.85–1.15
     Other loans EUR 0 1 040 2.00
 Bank loans CHF 0 8 160 1.50–1.85
     Promissory note loans CHF 53 000 0.85–1.20 53 000 0.85–1.20
Total financial liabilities 133 552 182 998

Remaining time to maturity (CHF 000) 2021 2020
 Up to 1 Year 46 577 47 998
 Between 1 and 5 years 86 975 134 864
 More than 5 years 0 136
Total financial liabilities 133 552 182 998

The CHF/EUR bank loans are part of a syndicated loan of CHF 140 million credit line (previous year: CHF 140 
million). It has a time to maturity to 31 December 2025. The syndicated loan has an interest rate of between  
1 percent and 2.1 percent, based on LIBOR plus a margin that depends on the net debt to EBITDA ratio. In the 
reporting year, the interest rate ranged between 1.1 and 1.5 percent (previous year: 1.5 percent). All bank loans 
and the promissory note loans are subject to the customary market conditions and covenants, which are being 
complied with.

 16
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Trade accounts payable (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Trade accounts payable 72 858 73 082

Trade accounts payable  
due to non-consolidated affiliates

1 183 119

Total trade accounts payable 74 041 73 201

Other current liabilities (CHF 000) 2021 2020
 Value added tax 11 387 9 187
 Withholding tax 700 0
 Social security costs 564 886
 Other 2 672 4 275
Total other current liabilities 15 323 14 348

Accruals (CHF 000) 2021 2020
 Net sales 4 328 4 668
 Cost of goods and materials 33 075 25 031
 Personnel costs 5 104 4 103
 Other 1 028 7 493
Total accruals 43 535 41 295

In the previous year, in connection with the merger of the distribution activities in the trading business in Germany, 
a restructuring provision of CHF 5.4 million was formed, of which CHF 3 million had already been used as of  
31 December 2020 and CHF 0.6 million dissolved. In the reporting year, CHF 1.8 million were used. The restructu-
ring costs are included in other operating costs. All provisions are recognized as short term. 
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Share capital and reserves 

The share capital consists of 44,781,213 registered shares (previous year: 44,781,213) with a nominal value of  
of CHF 0.01 each.

Change in number of  
treasury shares

Number of  
shares

Highest
price CHF

Average price 
 CHF

Lowest
price CHF

Total  
(CHF 000)

As of 1 January 2020 63 624 579
Purchases at cost prices 111 162 8.29 8.09 7.80 900
Disposals at sales prices –104 786 8.92 8.05 7.25 –844
Gains/losses –75
As of December 31, 2020 70 000 560

Purchases at cost prices 619 570 13.86 12.56 10.48 7 784
Disposals at sales prices –106 128 13.74 11.06 8.13 –1 173
Gains/losses 206
As of 31 December 2021 583 442 7 377
 
444,570 shares worth CHF 5.8 million were purchased of the shares existing on 31 December 2021 as part of the 
share buyback program, which was successfully concluded on 3 February 2022. More information on the share buy-
back program can be found in the Corporate Governance report on page 54. Transactions with treasury shares re-
sulted in a profit of CHF 206,000 (previous year: loss CHF 75,000).

At the annual General Meeting on 8 April 2020, the shareholders approved the creation of authorised capital at a 
maximum amount of CHF 40,000 through the issuance of a maximum of 4,000,000 fully paid registered shares with 
a nominal value of 1 Rp. each by 7 April 2022 at the latest. 

As of 31 December 2021, the line item "Retained earnings" includes legally required reserves in the amount of 
CHF 1,685,000 (previous year:  CHF 1,685,000); it is required that they not be distributed. These reserves were es-
tablished based on the legal requirements of the Swiss Code of Obligations. 

On 29 December 2017, the Board of Directors adopted a long-term incentive program (LTI) for the management. 
The long-term incentive program involves equity instruments (equity-settled plan). The options have a term of  
7 years with a vesting period of 3 years. The first distribution in the amount of 380,000 options took place on  
29 June 2018, at 10 percent above the average closing share price after dividend payment (10 April 2018, until  
29 June 2018) and with an exercise price of CHF 12.19 per share. On 21 August 2019, the Board of Directors made 
a second distribution in the amount of 85,000 options at 10 percent above the average closing share price in the 
period from 28 May 2019, to 21 August 2019, and with an exercise price of CHF 10.61 per share. On 19 August 
2020, the Board of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 220,000 options. The options have a term of 
seven years with a vesting period of three years and an exercise price of CHF 8.13. The exercise price is calculated 
from the higher price based on the average closing share price in the period from 26 May to 18 August 2020 at  
CHF 7.90 and a closing share price of 19 August 2020 of CHF 8.13.  On 7 June 2021, the Board of Directors made a 
distribution in the amount of 354,000 options. The options have a term of seven years with a vesting period of three 
years and an exercise price of CHF 11.31. The exercise price is calculated from the higher price, based on the ave-
rage closing share price in the period from 10 March 2021 to 7 June 2021 of CHF 11.31 and a closing share price of 
7 June 2021 of CHF 11.18. 

Calculation of earnings per share 2021 2020
Net profit CHF 50 663 000 34 514 000
Number of shares outstanding Number 44 781 213 44 781 213
Weighted average number of shares outstanding Number 44 639 429 44 709 172
Earnings per share CHF 1.13 0.77
Earnings per share-diluted CHF 1.13 0.77

In April 2021, a dividend of CHF 0.56 per share (2020: CHF 0.60) was paid to the shareholders. In both, current 
and prior year, no significant dilution of the earnings per share occurred.
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Operating Leasing
On 31 December 2021, the mobilezone Group operated in 124 shops (previous year: 123) throughout Switzerland, 
which were all rented. Most of the leases have a fixed term of three to five years and an option to renew for seve-
ral years.

As of the balance sheet date, future payments for shops, storage and office rooms and other non-current contracts 
with fixed term are coming due as follows:

2021 (CHF 000) Premises Other Total
Less than 1 year 10 294 892 11 186
Between 1 and 5 years 23 926 1 485 25 411
More than 5 years 2 170 0 2 170
Total 36 390 2 377 38 767

2020 (CHF 000) Premises Other Total
Less than 1 year 10 334 764 11 098
Between 1 and 5 years 21 449 206 21 655
More than 5 years 2 787 0 2 787
Total 34 570 970 35 540

In the reporting year 2021, the amount of CHF 12.2 million (previous year: CHF 12.8 million) was recognized as 
rent expenses in the consolidated income statement.

 23

Goodwill

Goodwill has been offset against retained earnings at the time of acquisition. The resulting effects on shareholders’ 
equity and on profit or loss are documented below based on the assumption of a useful life of goodwill of 5 years.

Effect of a theoretical capitalization of goodwill on the consolidated balance sheet and income statement:

Balance sheet (CHF 000) 2021 2020

Stated shareholders’ equity 44 342 23 182
Equity ratio 13.6% 6.6%

Acquisition value goodwill
At the beginning of the fiscal year 246 662 247 056
 Additions 0 0
 Disposals –1 641 –394
At the end of the fiscal year 245 021 246 662

Accumulated amortization
At the beginning of the fiscal year 167 558 129 577
 Amortization current year 27 962 38 375
 Disposals –1 641 –394
At the end of the fiscal year 193 879 167 558

Theoretical net book value goodwill 51 142 79 104

Theoretical shareholders’ equity without offsetting of goodwill 95 484 102 286
Theoretical equity ratio 25.3% 23.6%

Effect of a theoretical amortization of goodwill on results:

Income statement (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Stated net profit 50 663 34 514
Theoretical amortization of goodwill –27 962 –38 375
Net profit after amortization of goodwill 22 701 –3 861

 22
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Relationship with related parties and companies

Related parties and companies are organizations in which mobilezone participates significantly as well as  
members of the Group Management, the Board of Directors and their close relatives, and key shareholders and 
companies controlled by them. All transactions with related parties and companies are conducted at market 
values. 

Transactions and balances with related  
parties and companies (CHF 000) 2021 2020

Net sales 13 990 141
Cost of goods and materials –8 612 –11 844
Cost of services –2 301 –9
Financial income 7 14
Receivables 275 315
Payables 992 119

Significant shareholders
The shares of mobilezone holding ag are broadly distributed. Significant shareholders are listed in the annual fi-
nancial statements on page 106.

Compensation to Members of the Board of Directors and the Group Management

Further details of the compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors and to the Group Management can 
be found on pages 63 to 69 of the remuneration report.

 25
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Contingent liabilities and future commitments, capital commitments, and restrictions of ownership
As of 31 December 2021, land and buildings in the amount of CHF 5.2 million (previous year: CHF 5.7 million) and 
cash and cash equivalents worth CHF 2.6 million were pledged for credit lines at banks (previous year: CHF 2.4 
million). 

There are no further items requiring disclosure.

 24
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Legal risks

Because of the ordinary course of their business, some group companies are involved in legal disputes. Manage-
ment has estimated the outcome of these legal cases based on the information currently available and has not 
recognized any provisions in the reporting year. However, there are inherent risks in connection with legal claims, 
depending on the conduct and perspective of the responsible court and the counterparty, that can result in a sig-
nificant outflow of economic resources.

Significant events after the balance sheet date

No significant events have occurred after the balance sheet date. 

On 7 March 2022, the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag authorized these financial statements for 
issuance. The Board of Directors proposes the General Meeting on 6 April 2022 that these consolidated finan-
cial statements be approved.

 28
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  Phone +41 44 444 35 55 

Fax +41 44 444 35 35 
www.bdo.ch  

BDO Ltd 
Schiffbaustrasse 2 
8031 Zurich 
 

 

BDO Ltd, a limited company under Swiss law, incorporated in Zurich, forms part of the international BDO Network of independent member firms. 
 

 

STATUTORY AUDITOR'S REPORT 
To the General Meeting of mobilezone holding ag, Rotkreuz 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of mobilezone holding ag and its subsidiaries 
(the Group), which comprise the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 
2021, the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, consolidated statement of cash flows 
and the consolidated statement of changes in shareholder's equity for the year then ended, and the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting poli-
cies. 

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements (pages 72 to 96) give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Swiss GAAP 
FER and comply with Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibili-
ties under those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the require-
ments of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accord-
ance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Report on key audit matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were ad-
dressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in form-
ing our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Accruals from unbilled receivables 

mobilezone generates some of its sales income from 
agreements with mobile network providers and other 
partners, which compensate mobilezone for the 
costs of acquiring new customers and extending con-
tracts. The commissions are determined on the basis 
of sales and agreed contracts and are settled and 
paid with a time lag to the actual conclusion of the 
transaction. mobilezone's Management accrues esti-
mated unbilled commission income as of the balance 
sheet date on its own sales records and its own ex-
perience. Final agreement with the mobile network 
providers and the other partners is in some cases 
still pending. The calculation of the commissions has 
a direct impact on the sales income and the profit 
reported in the consolidated financial statements 
and involves significant estimation uncertainties and 
scope for judgment. We therefore consider this item 
to be a significant audit matter in relation to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

The assessment of accruals from unbilled sales in-
come in the amount of CHF 31.8 million (or 9.7% of 
the Group's total assets) was a key audit matter in 
our audit of the 2021 consolidated financial state-
ments for the reasons stated above. 

Please refer to note 1.4 Principles of recognition and 
valuation in combination with note 11 Accruals. 

  

 

We checked the reconciliation process as defined in the 
internal control system and the compliance with the re-
lated internal controls that relate to the commission in-
come from the largest mobile network providers and 
other partners.  

In addition, we performed the following audit proce-
dures in particular:  

We tested Management's calculation and the accuracy of 
its estimates by examining, on a sample basis, the ac-
tual final billings received in fiscal year 2021 in relation 
to prior year's estimate as at 31 December 2020.  

For those accruals for which the provisional billings 
were already available and the payments received, we 
performed a reconciliation on a sample basis to the esti-
mate made as of the balance sheet date 31 December 
2021.  

We compared significant accruals for special commis-
sions in respect of target achievements with correspond-
ence between mobilezone and the mobile network pro-
viders and had these balances confirmed.  

For accruals as of 31 December 2021, that had not been 
definitively confirmed by invoices or other evidence 
prior to the completion of our audit, we tested internal 
calculations. In addition, we critically assessed Manage-
ment's statements and assumptions by considering the 
past recoverability of accruals. We obtained correspond-
ing audit evidence on a sample basis. 

We also verified the mathematical accuracy of the in-
ternal calculations.  

Our audit results support the judgments and estimates 
made by Management for the accrual of unbilled sales 
income as of 31 December 2021.  
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Changes in the scope of consolidation 

mobilezone sold 75 percent of its shares in einsAmo-
bile GmbH in the reporting year. As a result of the 
loss of control, the company was deconsolidated in 
January 2021 and is recognized in the year under re-
view using the equity method.   

With this transaction, mobilezone withdrew from the 
wholesale business segment. The goodwill that has 
been paid at the purchase of einsAmobile GmbH and 
has been offset with equity is allocated to the re-
gional markets and the strategic business areas of 
online, retail and wholesale. In future, mobilezone 
intends to focus on the two business areas of online 
and retail. Therefore, at the time of the disposal, the 
proportional goodwill relating to the wholesale busi-
ness is to be repatriated from equity and charged to 
profit or loss for the period.  

The loss from the divestment amounted to CHF 6.0 
million and was recognized in other operating costs. 
This includes the repatriation of the proportional 
goodwill wholesale, which is charged with CHF 1.6 
million to profit or loss.   

We have considered the assessment of the accounting 
and reporting of this transaction as a key audit mat-
ter for the following reasons: 

The allocation of the goodwill, offset against equity 
at the time of acquisition, to the regional markets 
and the strategic business areas involves a significant 
portion of estimation uncertainty and judgment. Fur-
thermore, the transaction has an impact on the 
presentation and disclosure in the consolidated in-
come statement, the cosolidated statement of cash 
flows and the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for the year under review. 

The transaction is explained in Note 14 divestments. 

 

 

We have obtained the basis of accounting for the effects 
on profit or loss of the sale of 75 percent of the shares of 
einsAmobile GmbH. 

By interviewing Management, we obtained an under-
standing of the method used to determine the proportion 
of goodwill to be repatriated to profit or loss upon loss of 
control.  

We compared the historical acquisition costs of goodwill 
and the breakdown used for their allocation with infor-
mation from the published annual reports 2015 and 2017, 
the consolidation documents used for their preperation, 
from the sale and purchase agreement and from a due 
diligence report on the acquisition of einsAmobile GmbH. 

We tested the goodwill allocation methods used for the 
sale of the shares in einsAmobile GmbH for consistency 
with the sales transaction of the previous period. 

We verified the mathematical accuracy of the calcula-
tions.  

We discussed the key assumptions for the allocation of 
goodwill to the regional markets and the strategic busi-
ness areas with Management and assessed their appropri-
ateness.  

Furthermore, we evaluated the impact of selected as-
sumptions on the goodwill allocation using sensitivity 
analyses. 

We compared the sales price, including subsequent sales 
price adjustments, to the sale and purchase agreement 
and other appropriate evidence. We also examined the 
deconsolidation journal entries and the impact of the 
transaction on the statement of cash flows and the ap-
propriateness of the disclosures in the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements. 
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Other matter 
The consolidated financial statements of mobilezone holding ag for the year ended 31 December 
2020, were audited by another auditor, who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements 
on 8 March 2021. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the provisions of Swiss law, 
and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the prepa-
ration of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for as-
sessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors ei-
ther intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Stand-
ards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated fi-
nancial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is 
located at the website of EXPERTsuisse: http://expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-compa-
nies. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm 
that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

Zurich, 7 March 2022  

BDO Ltd 

    

Reto Frey 

Auditor in Charge 
Licensed Audit Expert 

 

Philipp Kegele 

 
Licensed Audit Expert 
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1 January to 31 December (CHF 000) 2021 2020

Dividend income 27 500 22 500
Other financial income 7 327 6 391
Other operating income 7 143 6 656
Total income 41 970 35 547

Financial expenses –8 847 –2 689
Personnel costs –3 023 –2 289
Other operating costs –661 –631
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment –61 –62
Income tax expense 230 –972
Total expenses –12 362 –6 643

Net profit 29 608 28 904

Income statement
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As of 31 December (CHF 000) Notes 2021 2020

Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 16 082 7 046
Other current receivables 6 70 618 117 554 
Accruals 7 658 571
Total current assets 87 358 125 171

Non-current assets
Financial assets 8 184 444 197 606
Investments 9 39 817 39 817
Property, plant and equipment 77 138
Total non-current assets 224 338 237 561

Total assets 311 696 362 732

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Current liabilities
Current interest-bearing liabilities 10 48 268 49 364 
Other current liabilities 11 1 565 1 686
Accruals 12 1 227 1 307
Total current liabilities 51 060 52 357

Non-current liabilities
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 13 85 975 133 455
Total non-current liabilities 85 975 133 455

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 14 448 448
Capital reserve
– Reserve from capital contributions 66 651 79 176
– Other capital reserve 131 131
Voluntary profit reserve 6 098 6 098
Treasury shares 15 –7 377 –560
Available earnings 108 710 91 627
Total shareholders’ equity 174 661 176 920

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 311 696 362 732

Balance sheet
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Notes to the financial statements

Principles
General

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Swiss accounting legis-
lation (Title 32 of the Swiss Code of Obligations). A description of the essential valuation principles that were 
applied but are not prescribed by law follows below. 

Financial assets

The financial assets include long-term loans. Loans granted in foreign currencies are valued at the current 
closing rate, taking into account the imparity principle.

Investments

Investments are capitalized at cost minus any necessary value adjustments. Investments that are significant 
are valued individually, but those that are similar in nature are usually valued together as a group.

Treasury shares

Treasury shares are recognized at acquisition costs as a debit item in shareholders’ equity at the time of ac-
quisition. Upon resale, the gain or loss will be recognized in the income statement as financial income or 
expense.

Dispensing with cash flow statement, management report and additional information in the Notes

Since mobilezone holding ag prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with a recognised 
accounting standard (Swiss GAAP FER), the company has decided, in accordance with the pertinent legal 
provisions, to dispense in these financial statements with the information in the Notes regarding interest-
bearing liabilities and auditing fees as well as with a cash flow statement and a management report. 

 1
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Details regarding the financial statements
Other current receivables (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Group companies 70 400 117 358
Third parties 218 196
Total 70 618 117 554

Accruals (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Group companies 0 328
Third parties 658 243
Total 658 571

Property, plant and equipment (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Group companies 184 186 197 196
Third parties 258 410
Total 184 444 197 606

Direct and indirect investments
Company Headquarters Currency Share  

capital  
(000)

Capital/ 
voting share 

31.12.21

Capital/ 
voting share 

31.12.20
mobilezone ag CH-Rotkreuz CHF 2 850 100% 100%
mobilit AG¹ CH-Rotkreuz CHF 100 n.a. 100%
IT Business Services GmbH CH-Rotkreuz CHF 40 100% 100%
mobilezone reload ag² CH-Rotkreuz CHF 100 100% 100%
TalkTalk AG CH-Rotkreuz CHF 100 100% 100%
mobilezone Deutschland GmbH GER-Cologne EUR 25 100% 100%
mobilezone handel GmbH GER-Bochum EUR 25 100% 100%
powwow GmbH GER-Cologne EUR 778 100% 100%
powwow Berlin GmbH GER-Bochum EUR 25 100% 100%
sparstrom Energievertriebs GmbH³ GER-Cologne EUR 100 n.a. n.a.
Bonamic GmbH⁴ GER-Bochum EUR 250 32% 49%
einsAmobile GmbH⁵ GER-Obertshausen EUR 50 25% 100%
mobiletouch austria gmbH⁶ AUT-Vienna EUR 35 n.a. n.a.

¹  mobilit ag merged in January 2021 with IT Business Services GmbH.
² mobiletouch ag was renamed mobilezone reload ag on 15 February 2022.
³  sparstrom Energievertriebs GmbH was sold in December 2020.
⁴ The shares in Bonamic GmbH were reduced as a result of a capital increase from 49 percent to 32 percent.
⁵  75 percent of the share in einsAmobile GmbH was sold in January 2021. 
⁶  mobiletouch austria gmbH was sold in December 2020.

Current interest-bearing liabilities (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Group companies 2 149 2 892
Banks 46 119 46 472
Total 48 268 49 364

The current interest-bearing liabilities to Group companies include current accounts.

Other current liabilities (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Group companies 1 376
Third parties 1 564 1 310
Total 1 565 1 686
 

Accruals (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Executive bodies 440 440
Third parties 787 867
Total 1 227 1 307
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Non-current interest-bearing liabilities
The non-current interest-bearing liabilities are bank loans and promissory notes.

Share capital and authorized capital

The share capital consists of 44,781,213 registered shares (previous year: 44,781,213 registered shares) at a par 
value of CHF 0.01 each. At the annual General Meeting on 8 April 2020, the shareholders approved the creation of 
authorized capital in the maximum amount of CHF 40,000 by issuing up to 4,000,000 fully paid registered shares 
with a par value of 1 Rp. each by 7 April 2022, at the latest. As of the balance sheet date, there was no conditional 
share capital. 

Treasury shares

Change in number of  
treasury shares

Number of  
shares

Highest
price CHF

Average 
price CHF

Lowest
price CHF

Total  
(CHF 000)

As of 1 January 2020 63 624 579
Purchases at cost prices 111 162 8.29 8.09 7.80 900
Disposals at sales prices –104 786 8.92 8.05 7.25 –844
Gains/losses –75
As of December 31, 2020 70 000 560

Purchases at cost prices 619 570 13.86 12.56 10.48 7 784
Disposals at sales prices –106 128 13.74 11.06 8.13 –1 173
Gains/losses 206
As of 31 December 2021 583 442 7 377
 
444,570 shares worth CHF 5.8 million were purchased of the shares existing on 31 December 2021 as part of the 
share buyback program, which was successfully concluded on 3 February 2022. More information on the share buy-
back program can be found in the Corporate Governance report on page 54. Transactions with treasury shares re-
sulted in a profit of CHF 206,000 (previous year: loss CHF 75,000).

Significant shareholders

The following significant shareholders and shareholder groups were listed with a share of more than three 
percent of the capital or voting rights in the share register:

Company 2021 2020
Credit Suisse Funds AG, Zurich¹ 4.74% 7.11%
Haubrich GmbH, Dusseldorf ²,³ 5.00% 5.00%
UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG, Basel¹ 3.88% 3.88%
Wilke Stroman, Cologne ² n.a.% 4.99%

¹  The number of participation shares noted in the last disclosure notice have been converted based on the number of shares outstanding as of 
the balance sheet date of December 31.

²  Wilke Stroman and Haubrich GmbH own shares that are subject to a joint lock-up agreement until 17 June 2022. They form a shareholder 
group with 2,233,188 shares (4.99 percent).

3  Formerly Haubrich Zentrale GmbH & Co. KG

 
The disclosures regarding shareholdings in mobilezone holding ag are published on the electronic platform 
of the SIX Swiss Exchange and can be retrieved via the Disclosure Office’s search screen at the following 
web link: www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifications-market-participants/significant-shareholders.html#/

To our knowledge there is no shareholder’s agreement between the significant shareholders.
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Additional information
Number of full-time employees

In the reporting year, the average number of full-time employees was 3 (previous year: 3).

Contingent liabilities (CHF 000) 2021 2020
Joint and several liability from VAT – Group taxation p.m. p.m.
Guarantee for a subsidiary 3 300 000 3 300 000

Shareholdings of members of the Board of Directors and the Group Management

Name Function Number of shares Share value (CHF 000)
2021 2020 2021 2020

Olaf Swantee¹ Chairman 34 900 n.a. 475 n.a.
Gabriela Theus Member 2 500 2 500 34 25
Peter K. Neuenschwander Member 2 000 2 000 27 20
Michael Haubrich Member 0² 0² 0 0
Urs T. Fischer³ Chairman n.a. 2 500 n.a. 25
Markus Bernhard CEO 110 000 110 000 1 498 1 109
Andreas Fecker CFO 59 461 50 282 810 507
Roger Wassmer CEO Switzerland 21 063 19 424 287 196
Wilke Stroman CEO Germany 1 155 660 2 232 722 15 740 22 466
Jens Barth⁴ CDO 302 415 n.a. 4 119 n.a.
Akin Erdem⁵ CPO n.a. 75 687 n.a. 763

¹ At the General Meeting on 7 April 2021, Olaf Swantee was elected to the Board of Directors. 
²  Michael Haubrich has a shareholding of 30 percent (previous year 36 percent) in Haubrich GmbH  (formerly: Haubrich Zentrale GmbH & Co. 

KG, Dusseldorf), which indirectly holds 2,239,154 shares in mobilezone holding ag (previous year: 2,239,154 shares).
³ At the General Meeting on 7 April 2021, Urs T. Fischer did not stand for re-election.
⁴ Jens Barth to 30 April 2022
⁵ Akin Erdem to 1 February 2021

 
Additional information is provided in the remuneration report on page 67 to 69.

Significant events after the balance sheet date

No significant events have occurred after the balance sheet date.
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The proposal of the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag to the General Meeting on 6 April 2022, is to dispose of the 2021 availa-
ble earnings and reserves from capital contributions as follows:

Appropriation of available earnings (CHF 000) 2021 2020

Balance carried forward from previous year 79 102 62 723
Net profit 29 608 28 904
Available earnings at the disposal of the General Meeting 108 710 91 627

Distribution of a dividend of CHF 0.42 
 per dividend registered share CHF 0.28) –18 808 –12 539

Undistributed dividends on treasury shares 
held by the Group 14

Available earnings carried forward to new account 89 902 79 102

Appropriation of reserves from capital contributions

Reserves from capital contributions – carried forward from previous year 66 651 79 176

Distribution of a dividend free of withholding tax 
in the amount of CHF 0.42 per dividend registered share (previous year: CHF 0.28) –18 808 –12 539

Undistributed dividends on treasury shares 
held by the Group 14

Reserves from capital contributions carried forward to new account 47 843 66 651

If the proposal is accepted, the dividend of CHF 0.42 per share free of withholding tax out of the reserves from capital contributions and 
the dividend, which is subject to withholding tax, of CHF 0.42 per share will be paid on 19 April 2022. The last trading day with entitlement 
to receive the dividend is 12 April 2022. The share will be traded ex-dividend from 13 April 2022.

Proposal of the Board of Directors

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS MOBILEZONE HOLDING AG
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STATUTORY AUDITOR'S REPORT 
To the General Meeting of mobilezone holding ag, Rotkreuz 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of mobilezone holding ag (the company), which comprise 
the income statement for the year ended 31 December 2021, the balance sheet as at 31 December 
2021 and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting poli-
cies. 

In our opinion the financial statements (pages 102 to 108) as at 31 December 2021 comply with 
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibili-
ties under those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the company in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the require-
ments of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accord-
ance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Impairment testing of investments in Group com-
panies and loans to and current receivables from 
Group companies 

The assessment of the recoverability of investments 
in Group companies and loans to and current receiv-
ables from subsidiaries is a key audit matter for the 
following reasons:  

The balance sheet items investments in Group com-
panies (CHF 39.8 million), loans to Group companies 
(CHF 184.2 million) and current receivables from 
Group companies (CHF 70.4 million) represent a to-
tal of CHF 294.4 million, or approximately 94.5% of 
total assets of CHF 311.7 million, and thus, repre-
sent a significant portion of the assets. 

As mobilezone holding ag secures financing in the 
Group by means of loans, their recoverability is 
linked to the valuation and the medium-term target 
achievement of the business results of the Group 
companies.  

Testing these investments, loans and current recei-
vables for impairment involves scope for judgment 
(future cash flows, discount rate and growth rate) in 
assessing whether indications of impairment exist 
and in deriving the relevant values in use for the im-
pairment tests.  

As part of the annual impairment review, mo-
bilezone's Management compares the carrying 
amount of the investments recorded in the balance 
sheet of the Company's statutory financial state-
ments perpared in accordance with the Swiss Code 
of Obligations with the net assets of the correspond-
ing companies as recorded in their financial state-
ments and performs a value-in-use analysis. 

In the year under review, no impairment losses were 
recognized by mobilezone holding ag. 

 
 

 
In addition to the comparison of the carrying amounts of 
the investments in and loans/current receivables due 
from Group companies with the respective net assets of 
the corresponding Group company concerned at their 
carrying amounts, we performed the following audit 
procedures in the event of a material shortfall in the 
net assets:  

We examined the value-in-use analysis and reviewed the 
nature of the calculation method for its appropriate-
ness.  

We analyzed and assessed the basic paper prepared by 
Management.  

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation 
in the valuation models that were used. 

We critically examined the assumptions regarding the 
future cash flows and growth rates and compared them 
with the outcomes in the year under review and the 
budget.  

We reviewed the derivation of the discount rate and 
compared the significant parameters used with appro-
priate market data.  

We assessed the sensitivity of the estimated values with 
regard to the remaining headroom.  

We also compared the growth rates used with past de-
velopments and tested their plausibility.  

We compared the total of the carrying amount of the in-
vestments with the stock market capitalisation of mo-
bilezone holding ag.  

We consider the principles and assumptions applied by 
Management to test the investments in Group compa-
nies and loans and current receivables due from Group 
companies for impairment to be appropriate. 
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Other matter 
The financial statements of mobilezone holding ag for the year ended 31 December 2020 were au-
dited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those statements on  
8 March 2021. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the provisions of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal 
control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liqui-
date the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at 
the website of EXPERTsuisse: http://expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-companies. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm 
that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial 
statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings and the distribution of 
capital reserves complies with Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. We recom-
mend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

Zurich, 7 March 2022 

BDO Ltd 

 

Reto Frey 
 
Auditor in Charge 
Licensed Audit Expert  

 

Philipp Kegele 
 
 
Licensed Audit Expert 
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